
     
 

VILLAGE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

REGULAR MEETING NOTICE/AGENDA 

TUESDAY, JANUARY 24, 2023 - 7:00 PM 

 
RICHARD T. FLICKINGER MUNICIPAL CENTER, COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

6101 CAPULINA AVENUE, MORTON GROVE, IL 60053 
 

In accordance with the Illinois Open Meetings Act, all Village Board and Commission meetings are open to the 

public. This meeting can be viewed remotely via the live stream link found at: www.mortongroveil.org/stream. (If 

an Executive Session is placed on the agenda, the meeting shall commence at 6:00 pm and the time between 6:00 

pm and 7:00 pm shall be used for the Executive Session per 1-5-7A of the Village of Morton Grove Municipal 

Code. If the Agenda does not include an Executive Session, the meeting will begin at 7:00 pm.) 

 

1. Call to Order 

 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 

 

3. Roll Call  

 

4. Approval of Minutes – Regular Meeting – January 10, 2023 

 

5.  Special Reports: - None 

 

6. Public Hearings - None 

 

7. Plan Commission Reports - None 

 

8. Residents’ Comments (agenda items only) 

 

9. President’s Report – Administration, Council of Mayors, Northwest Municipal Conference, 

Strategic Plan Committee  

 

10. Clerk’s Report – Family & Senior Services, Advisory Commission on Aging, Condominium 

Association 

 

11. Staff Report 

 

a. Village Administrator  

 

1) Ordinance 23-01: (Introduced January 10, 2023, Second Reading) Authorizing a 

Developer Note to 100 West Golf, LLLC and Castle Motor Sales, Inc. dba Napleton 

Honda of Morton Grove regarding the Redevelopment of 8833 Waukegan Road, 6900 

Dempster Street, and 8888 North New England Avenue in Morton Grove, Illinois 

http://www.mortongroveil.org/stream


 2 

 

b. Corporation Counsel 

 

12. Reports by Trustees 

 

a. Trustee Khan – Finance Department, Appearance Commission, Capital Projects, French 

Market, Lehigh/Ferris TIF (Trustee Travis)   

 

1) Resolution 23-05: Authorizing the Execution of a Contract with Foster & Foster for 

Actuarial Services for the Village of Morton Grove Police, Fire, and Municipal 

Retirement Funds and Other Post-Employment Benefits.  

 

b. Trustee Minx – Fire Department, Fire Pension Board, Fire & Police Commission, 

Special Events Commission, RED Center, NIPSTA (Trustee Thill)  

 

c. Trustee Shiba – Building Department, Environment & Natural Resources Commission, 

Legal Department, IT Department (Trustee Witko) 

 

d. Trustee Thill – Public Works Department, SWANCC (Solid Waste Agency of Northern 

Cook County), MG-Niles Water Commission, Traffic Safety Commission (Trustee Minx)  

 

1) Resolution 23-06: Authorizing the Execution of a Service Contract with   G&M 

Trucking, Inc. for the 2023 Material Hauling Program  
 
2) Resolution 23-07: Authorizing the Acceptance of a Material Proposal from Arrow 

Road Construction Company for the 2023 Material Purchasing Program 

 

e. Trustee Travis – Police Department, Police Pension Board, Fire & Police Commission, 

Community Relations Commission, (Trustee Khan)   

 

f. Trustee Witko – Community & Economic Development Department, Economic 

Development Commission, Plan Commission/ Zoning Board (Trustee Shiba) 

 

1) Ordinance 23-02: (Introduced January 10, 2023, Second Reading) Approving a 

Preliminary Plat of Subdivision and a Planned Unit Development Special Use Permit 

for a Six-Unit Detached Single-Family Residential Development on Property 

Commonly Known as 9312 Shermer Road in Morton Grove, Illinois 

 

13. Other Business 

 

14. Presentation of Warrants - $1,549,865.66 

 

15. Residents’ Comments 

 

16. Adjournment 



   

MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE PRESIDENT 
AND THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF MORTON GROVE 

RICHARD T. FLICKINGER MUNICIPAL CENTER COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
JANUARY 10, 2023 

 
 
 

CALL TO ORDER 
  

 I.  
& II. 

Village President Dan DiMaria convened the Regular Meeting of the Village Board at 7:00 p.m.  
in the Council Chambers of Village Hall.   
 
 

III. Village Clerk Eileen Harford called the roll. Present were Trustees Saba Khan, Rita Minx,  
Ashur Shiba, John Thill, Connie Travis, and Janine Witko.  
 
 

IV. 
 
 
 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
Trustee Minx moved to approve the Minutes of the December 12, 2022 Village Board Meeting as 
presented. Trustee Thill seconded the motion.  Motion passed unanimously via voice vote. 
 

 
V. 

 
 

 

SPECIAL REPORTS 
 

NONE 
 

 
VI. 

 
 

 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 

NONE 
 

 
VII. 

 
1. 

 
 

a. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

b. 
 
 

PLAN COMMISSION REPORTS 
 

Mayor DiMaria noted that tonight’s report would be presented by Community Development 
Administrator Zoe Heidorn. 
 
Ms. Heidorn said it was her pleasure to introduce Plan Commission Case PC 22-13, which will be 
on tonight’s agenda for a first reading as Ordinance 23-02 under Trustee Witko’s report.  
This is a request for approval of a preliminary plat of subdivision and planned unit development to 
authorize the construction of six (6) detached single-family dwellings with accessory accessways, 
parking, and landscaped areas at 9312 Shermer Road, which is a 1.6 acre property that is currently 
vacant. 
 
On October 3, 2022, the Appearance Commission recommended approval of the Application  
with conditions, and on October 6, the Traffic Safety Commission recommended approval with 
comments. 



Minutes of January 10, 2023 Board Meeting 

 2

VII. 
 

c. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

d. 
 
 

e. 
 
 
 
 

f. 
 

PLAN COMMISSION REPORTS (continued) 
 
However, due to concerns with the density, housing uniformity, parking, and storm water 
management, the Plan Commission unanimously recommended to deny the Application at its 
meeting on October 17. The developer modified the site plan and responded to comments issued 
by the Commissions, and on November 14, the Village Board voted to remand this case back to the 
Plan Commission for reconsideration. On December 19, the Applicant reappeared before the  
Plan Commission to present revised plans reducing unit count to six units and providing more  
developed storm water detention plans. Based on the revised plans, the Plan Commission voted 
unanimously to recommend approval of the project. 
 
Ms. Heidorn said the developer is in attendance this evening, as is the architect, to answer any 
questions of the Board, adding that she, too, would be happy to address any questions. 
 
There were no questions from the Board, but Trustee Thill said he’d like to extend his thanks to 
the Plan Commission for a really outstanding meeting; they did the right thing by bringing down 
the unit count from eight to six. He felt the plans looked much nicer and that sales would be  
faster with six units rather than eight. 
 
Mayor DiMaria thanked the developer, saying “We appreciate the modification,” and thanked  
Ms. Heidorn for her presentation. 
 
 

VIII. 
 
 

RESIDENTS’ COMMENTS (Agenda Items Only) 
 

NONE 
 
 

IX. 
 

1. 
 
 
 

2. 
 
 
 
 

3. 

PRESIDENT’S REPORT 
 
Mayor DiMaria asked that everyone continue to remember the Ukrainian people, and to keep 
them in our thoughts and prayers.  
 
 
Mayor DiMaria wished everyone a happy, healthy holiday season, from his family to everyone’s. 
He said Morton Grove had a great 2022 and many other good things are coming to fruition in 
2023. 
 
 
Mayor DiMaria reminded everyone that the Village is offering holiday lights recycling through 
February 1, 2023. A holiday lights recycle bin is located in the lobby of Village Hall (6101 Capulina) 
and all holiday string lighting is accepted through this free program. Discarded lights will be 
recycled through the Solid Waste Agency of Northern Cook County (SWANCC) and Elgin Recycling. 
He pointed out that garlands, live greens, wreaths, and other decorations attached to lights will 
NOT be accepted. If anyone has questions, they should call Elgin Recycling at 847-448-4311. 
 

  



Minutes of January 10, 2023 Board Meeting 

 3

X. 
 
 

CLERK’S REPORT 
 

Clerk Harford had no formal report this evening. 
 

 
XI. 

 
A. 

 
1. 

 
 
 
 

a. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

b. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

c. 

 
 

2. 
 
 
 
 

a. 
 
 

b. 
 
 
 

STAFF REPORTS 
 
Village Administrator: 
 
Village Administrator Czerwinski said, under his report this evening, he has both a Resolution and 
an Ordinance. He first presented Resolution 23-01, Approving an Economic Incentive and Sales 
Tax Sharing Agreement by and among the Village of Morton Grove, 100 West Golf LLC, and  
Castle Motor Sales, Inc. d/b/a Napleton Honda of Morton Grove.  
 
Mr. Czerwinski said the purpose of this Resolution is to approve an economic incentive and tax 
increment allocation financing development and sales tax sharing agreement between the Village 
and Castle Motor Sales, Inc. He said the financial impact of this Resolution is that, over the next  
ten (10) years, Napleton will receive up to $500,000 in sales taxes generated from the business, 
over and above the $510,000 in annual sales taxes currently paid to the Village, adjusted for  
inflation. It will also receive up to $3.8M plus interest at 6% payable from new property taxes  
paid to the Village from the Napleton site. 
 
Mr. Czerwinski said, “It’s important to realize that no taxpayer dollars support this redevelopment 
agreement. All funds generated will be within the site of the Napleton development.” He asked 
the Board for their support of this Resolution. Mayor DiMaria asked for a motion regarding the 
Resolution. Trustee Minx moved to approve Resolution 23-01, seconded by Trustee Thill. 
 

Motion passed: 6 ayes, 0 nays. 
 

Tr. Khan           aye                               Tr. Minx           aye                Tr. Shiba            aye                          
Tr. Thill            aye                                Tr. Travis         aye                Tr. Witko           aye 
 
Mr. Czerwinski thanked the Board, noting that he appreciates the Board’s support and staff will too, as it 
took a bit of hard work to get this development going, and it will be beneficial to the Village. 
 

 
Next, Mr. Czerwinski presented for a first reading Ordinance 23-01, Authorizing a Developer Note 
to 100 West Golf, LLC and Castle Motor Sales, Inc. Regarding the Redevelopment of  
8833 Waukegan Road, 6900 Dempster, and 8888 North New England Avenue in Morton Grove, 
Illinois. 
 
Mr. Czerwinski noted that, initially, this Agenda item had indicated that no second reading would 
be necessary. That is not correct, the second reading of this Ordinance will occur on January 24. 
 
Mr. Czerwinski said this Ordinance is an accompaniment to Resolution 23-01, which the Board just 
approved. It authorizes a Developer Note payable to the Steve Napleton Automotive Group, 
pursuant to the economic incentive and tax increment allocation financing development and sales 
tax sharing agreement approved by Resolution 23-01. 



Minutes of January 10, 2023 Board Meeting 

 4

XI. 
 

A. 
 

c. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

3. 
 
 

 

STAFF REPORTS (continued) 
 
Village Administrator: (continued) 
 
Mr. Czerwinski noted that, over the next 20 years, Napleton will receive up to $3.8M plus interest at 6% 
payable from new property taxes paid to the Village from the Napelton site. No Village taxpayer dollars are 
associated with this; it all comes from within the site itself. Mr. Czerwinski said the Village will continue to 
receive and retain its current level of property taxes generated by the car dealership site. Payment of  
principal and interest on the Developer Note will only be paid from property taxes paid to the Village over 
and above these current levels. 
 
As this is the first reading of this Ordinance, no action will be taken this evening. 
 

 
Mr. Czerwinski wished everyone a happy New Year. He thanked the Board for their support in 
2022, and said he looked forward to a prosperous 2023 for everyone. 
 
 

 
B. 

 

 
Corporation Counsel: 
 
Corporation Counsel Liston had no formal report this evening. 
 
 

XII. 
 

A. 
 
 

TRUSTEES’ REPORTS 
 

Trustee Khan: 
 
Trustee Khan had no formal report this evening. 
 
 

 
B. 

 
1. 

 
 

a. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Trustee Minx: 
 
Trustee Minx presented Resolution 23-02, Authorizing an Intergovernmental Agreement for  
Participation in the Mutual Aid Box Alarm System. 
 
She explained that the Mutual Aid Box Alarm System (MABAS) was organized in 1968 in the  
northwest and western suburbs of Chicago and has grown into a multi-state organization of 
2,200 members to coordinate response to fires, emergency medical calls, hazardous material, 
technical rescue and other emergencies and disasters through prearranged mutual aid and  
dispatch agreements. The system is designed to facilitate all levels of mutual aid from day-to-day 
automatic aid responses to major incidents and disasters requiring significant deployment of 
resources. MABAS member units include everything from all-volunteer fire departments to those 
in major cities like Chicago, Milwaukee, and St. Louis. All government units who participate in 
MABAS must sign the same MABAS Master Agreement. The current Master Agreement was 
drafted in 1988 and has been updated to address modern conditions, opportunities, and  
challenges of MABAS and its members. 



Minutes of January 10, 2023 Board Meeting 

 5

XII. 
 

B. 
 

b. 
 
 
 

TRUSTEES’ REPORTS (continued) 
 
Trustee Minx: (continued) 
 
Trustee Minx said this Resolution will adopt and authorize the Village President to execute the 
updated Mutual Aid Box Alarm System Master Agreement as approved by the MABAS Executive 
Board on October 19, 2022. 
 
Trustee Minx moved, seconded by Trustee Travis, to approve Resolution 23-02. 
 
Motion passed: 6 ayes, 0 nays. 
 

Tr. Khan           aye                               Tr. Minx           aye                Tr. Shiba            aye                          
Tr. Thill            aye                                Tr. Travis         aye                Tr. Witko           aye 
 

 
 

C. 
 
 

 
Trustee Shiba: 
 
Trustee Shiba had no formal report this evening. 
 
 

 

D. 
 

1. 
 
 

a. 
 
 
 
 
 

b. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Trustee Thill: 
 

Trustee Thill presented Resolution 23-03, Authorizing a Contract Extension with Mid-American 
Water of Wauconda, Illinois For the 2023 Fire Hydrant Replacement Program. 
 
He explained that the Village is responsible for maintaining its water distribution systems, 
including 1,170 fire hydrants running at peak performance for optimal fire protection throughout 
the Village. Over the last eight years, availability and cost of parts has made it harder to repair 
older hydrants, some dating back as far as 1928. As such, the Village has implemented an annual 
fire hydrant replacement program. 
 
In 2021, the Board entered into a contract with Mid-American Water of Wauconda, IL to purchase 
50 fire hydrants at $2,668 per hydrant, totaling $133,400. This contract also gave the Village the 
right to renew the contract for up to two additional fiscal years, at the same pricing and with the 
same terms and conditions. Mid-American has agreed to extend the existing pricing and terms for 
2023 for the purchase of 30 new fire hydrants totaling $80,040. This Resolution will authorize this 
purchase. 
 
Trustee Thill then moved to approve Resolution 23-03, seconded by Trustee Minx. 
 
Motion passed: 6 ayes, 0 nays. 
 

Tr. Khan           aye                               Tr. Minx           aye                Tr. Shiba            aye                          
Tr. Thill            aye                                Tr. Travis         aye                Tr. Witko           aye 
 



Minutes of January 10, 2023 Board Meeting 

 6

XII. 
 

D. 
 

c. 
 
 
 
 

2. 
 
 
 

a. 
 

TRUSTEES’ REPORTS (continued) 
 
Trustee Thill: (continued) 
 
Trustee Thill commented that quite often, people don’t realize that money the Village receives for 
various sources goes into our infrastructure. People who question this don’t realize how critical it 
is to maintain and/or improve the town’s infrastructure.   
 
 
Trustee Thill then presented Resolution 23-04, Authorizing Participation in the Northern 
Illinois Municipal Electric Collaborative (NIMEC) and Authorizing the Village Administrator to 
Approve a Contract for Electricity for Village-Owned Buildings, Facilities, and Infrastructure.  
 
This will authorize the Village to participate in the Northern Illinois Municipal Electric Collaborative 
(NIMEC) as the Village’s non-exclusive energy broker to search the open market and find  
electricity at a lower rate than the Commonwealth Edison rate for Village-owned buildings, water 
pumping stations, and parking lot lighting.  
 
Trustee Thill moved to approve Resolution 23-04, seconded by Trustee Minx. 
 
Motion passed: 6 ayes, 0 nays. 
 

Tr. Khan           aye                               Tr. Minx           aye                Tr. Shiba            aye                          
Tr. Thill            aye                                Tr. Travis         aye                Tr. Witko           aye 
 

 
 

E. 
 
 
 
 

 
Trustee Travis: 
 
Trustee Travis had no formal report this evening. 
 
 

 
F. 

 
1. 

 
 
 
 

a. 
 
 
 

 
Trustee Witko: 
 
Trustee Witko presented for a first reading Ordinance 23-02, Approving a Preliminary Plat of 
Subdivision and a Planned Unit Development Special Use Permit for a Six-Unit Detached Single 
Family Residential Development on Property Commonly Known as 9312 Shermer Road in  
Morton Grove, Illinois. 
 
She explained that this Ordinance is pursuant to Plan Commission Case PC 22-13, which was  
reported out earlier this evening by Community Development Administrator Zoe Heidorn. 
 
As this is a first reading of Ordinance 23-02, no action will be taken this evening. 
 
 
 



Minutes of January 10, 2023 Board Meeting 

 7

XIII. 
 
 

OTHER BUSINESS 
 

NONE 
 

 
XIV. 

 
1. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
2. 

 

WARRANTS 
 
Trustee Khan presented the Warrant Register for December 26, 2022 in the amount of  
$706,946.74. She moved to approve the Warrant Register as presented, seconded by  
Trustee Minx. 
 
Motion passed: 6 ayes, 0 nays. 
 

Tr. Khan           aye                               Tr. Minx           aye                Tr. Shiba            aye                          
Tr. Thill            aye                                Tr. Travis         aye                Tr. Witko           aye 
 
 

Next, Trustee Khan presented the Warrant Register for January 10, 2023. She moved to approve 
this evening’s Warrant Register as presented, seconded by Trustee Witko.  
 

Motion passed: 6 ayes, 0 nays. 
 

Tr. Khan           aye                               Tr. Minx           aye                Tr. Shiba            aye                          
Tr. Thill            aye                                Tr. Travis         aye                Tr. Witko           aye 
 

 
XV. 

 

1. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

2. 
 
 
 

 
a. 

 
 
 
 

RESIDENTS’ COMMENTS 
 

David King, a 35-year resident, said he was quite concerned about the recreational cannabis store 
being built at Sawmill Station. He said he has sent the members of the Board articles from the CDC 
and Harvard focusing on the dangers of cannabis. In last week’s Champion, Mr. King saw a quote 
from Mr. Czerwinski saying “The process is straightforward. That’s the way the world is right now.” 
Mr. King said that, as a resident, he is strongly opposed to this recreational—not medicinal— 
cannabis store. He noted Glenview hasn’t yet agreed to having such a store, and said he doesn’t 
care what Skokie and Niles do; he only cares about what Morton Grove does. He said, “We need to 
be attuned to the dangers of cannabis—impaired driving, lung health, neurological issues. We 
should just say ‘That’s the way the world is.’ Our priority should be to say NO to cannabis 
stores.” 
 
 

Bill Page said he has asked questions of Mr. Czerwinski, Mr. Friel, and Ms. Heidorn, and all three 
have graciously provided information and answers. He had several more questions this evening, 
including “What is a Developer Note?” and “Do the numbers mean a tax break for the business, 
which Village taxpayers will then have to cover?”  
 

Mr. Czerwinski said, “but for” Village support, this program and the attendant economic growth 
won’t happen. He said the only monies that will go back to the developer are monies over and 
above the current property taxes they pay. If they are not successful, they won’t get this money. 
The only revenue sharing will be the new dollars coming into the Village and the obligation of the 
developer to make it work. 



Minutes of January 10, 2023 Board Meeting 

 8

XV. 
 

b. 
 
 
 
 
 

3. 
 

RESIDENTS’ COMMENTS (continued) 
 
Mr. Page asked if other businesses in Morton Grove are eligible for a program like this.  
Mr. Czerwinski said if they propose something to the Village that looks like it will be beneficial in 
the long-term, we’ll talk about it. We require that the developer pays for the analyses; they pay 
that money upfront. This process has been in place and in negotiations for over six months. 
 
 
Rudy Vilk wished everyone a happy new year. He complained that the mayor “scolds him” every 
time he speaks. Mr. Vilk expressed concern about Mr. Czerwinski’s and Ms. Liston’s offices having 
blinds that they shut. These are public rooms. He commented that every time he sees Ms. Liston, 
she refuses to acknowledge him. He said he just wants her to do her job. He said he met with 
Hanna Sullivan and Mr. Czerwinski regarding his water bill and the water system, commenting that 
Mr. Czerwinski has said a number of times that the savings the Village realizes from getting its  
water from the City of Evanston rather than the City of Chicago are going back into the system to 
keep it maintained. He asked why the system was never “maintained” before. He protested again 
paying for 3,000 gallons when he only uses 1,000 gallons. 
 
 

XVI. 
 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 

Trustee Minx moved to adjourn the meeting, seconded by Trustee Witko. Motion passed  
unanimously via voice vote. 
 
The meeting adjourned at 7:30 p.m. 
 
 

 
  



Minutes of January 10, 2023 Board Meeting 

 9

 
 
 
 
PASSED this 24thth day of January, 2023. 
 
 

Trustee Khan        

Trustee Minx     __________  

Trustee Shiba        

Trustee Thill     __________  

Trustee Travis     __________  

Trustee Witko     __________  
 
 
 
 
 

APPROVED by me this 24th day of January, 2023. 
 
 
 
 
  
 
Daniel P. DiMaria, Village President 
Board of Trustees, Morton Grove, Illinois 
 
 
 
 
APPROVED and FILED in my office this 25th day of January, 2023. 
 
 
 
 
______________________________________ 
 
Eileen Harford, Village Clerk 
Village of Morton Grove, Cook County, Illinois 

 
 
 
  Minutes by Teresa Cousar 



Submitted by - Ralph Czerwinski, Village Administrator     

Prepared by - Teresa Hoffman Liston, Corporation Counsel 

Reviewed by - Zoe Heidorn, Community Development Administrator and Hanna Sullivan, Director of Finance 

Legislative Summary 

Ordinance 23-01 

AUTHORIZING A DEVELOPER NOTE TO 100 WEST GOLF, LLC AND CASTLE MOTOR SALES, 

INC. REGARDING THE REDEVELOPMENT OF 8833 WAUKEGAN ROAD,  

6900 DEMPSTER STREET, AND 8888 NORTH NEW ENGLAND AVENUE  

IN MORTON GROVE, ILLINOIS 
Introduced: 

Purpose: 

Background: 

Dept. Affected 

Fiscal Impact: 

Source of 

Funds: 

Workload 

Impact: 

Admin. Rec 

2nd Reading: 

Special 

Considerations: 

January 10, 2023 

To authorize a Developer Note payable to the Steve Napleton Automotive Group. Pursuant to the 

economic incentive and tax increment allocation financing development and sales tax sharing agreement 

approved pursuant to Resolution 23-01  

In October 2021, 100 West Golf, LLC (Napleton”) purchased the business known as Castle Honda and 

its 4.5-acre site located in the Sawmill Station TIF District near the northeast corner of Dempster Street 

and Waukegan Road. Napleton has proposed to build an approximately forty thousand (40,000) square 

foot (40,000-square-foot) new Honda vehicle dealership including sales and service facilities, 

approximately four hundred (400) accessory parking spaces, stormwater detention facilities, accessways, 

and landscape areas (the “Project"). The Project is expected to create approximately sixty (60) temporary 

full-time equivalent construction jobs, and once opened, the Project is expected to retain or create 

approximately twenty (20) permanent full-time and part-time jobs and will also generate new property 

and sales taxes and promote the continued revitalization of the Sawmill Station TIF District and the 

surrounding areas. redevelopment of the adjacent area. The Project is expected to cost eighteen million 

eight hundred thousand dollars ($18,800,000.00) and is not economically feasible without Village 

assistance. Napleton and Village staff have negotiated an Economic Development Agreement which will 

provide up to Four Million, Three Hundred Thousand Dollars ($4,300,000.00) in reimbursement to 

Napleton in return for the construction and continued operation of the Project (the “RDA”). Under the 

terms of the RDA, the Village will rebate Napleton for up to Five Hundred Thousand Dollars 

($500,000.00) in new sales tax revenue generated by the business over the next 10 years and shall issue 

a Developer’s Note to Napleton in the amount of Three Million Eight Hundred Thousand Dollars 

($3,800,000.00) to be repaid over the next 20 years solely from increased property taxes generated by 

the Property. Resolution 23-01 will approve the RDA. This Ordinance will approve and authorize the 

Developer Note. 

Administration, Legal, Finance, and Community Development 

Over the next 20 years, Napleton will receive up to $3,800,000.00 plus interest at 6% payable from new 

property taxes paid to the Village from the Napleton site. 

The Village will continue to receive and retain its current level of property taxes generated by the car 

dealership site. Payment of principal and interest on the Developer Note will only be paid from    property 

taxes paid to the Village over and above these current levels. 

Village staff, with the assistance of its TIF consultants will implement and manage the payments due 

from the Developer note. 

Approval as presented 

January 24, 2023 

None 



 1 

ORDINANCE 23-01 
 

AUTHORIZING A DEVELOPER NOTE TO 100 WEST GOLF, LLC AND CASTLE MOTOR 

SALES, INC. DBA NAPLETON HONDA OF MORTON GROVE REGARDING THE 

REDEVELOPMENT OF 8833 WAUKEGAN ROAD, 6900 DEMPSTER STREET, AND 8888 

NORTH NEW ENGLAND AVENUE IN MORTON GROVE, ILLINOIS 
 

WHEREAS, the Village of Morton Grove (“Village”), located in Cook County, Illinois, is 

a home rule unit of government under the provisions of Article 7 of the 1970 Constitution of the 

State of Illinois, can exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government 

affairs, including but not limited to the power to tax and incur debt; and 

 WHEREAS, the Village has the authority pursuant to the laws of the State of Illinois to 

promote the health, safety, and welfare of the Village and its residents, to prevent the spread of 

blight, to encourage private development in order to enhance the local tax base, to increase 

employment, and to enter into contractual agreements with developers and redevelopers for the 

purpose of achieving such objectives; and 

 WHEREAS, the Village is authorized under the provisions of Article VII, Section 10 of 

the State of Illinois Constitution, 1970, to contract and otherwise associate with individuals, 

associations, and corporations in any manner not prohibited by law; and 

WHEREAS, the Village is authorized under the provisions of Article VIII of the State of 

Illinois Constitution, 1970, to use public funds for public purposes; and 

 WHEREAS, The Village is authorized under Section 8-1-2.5 of the Illinois Municipal 

Code (65 ILCS 5/8-1-2.5) to appropriate and expend funds for economic development purposes, 

including, without limitation, the making of grants to any commercial enterprise, that are deemed 

necessary or desirable for the promotion of economic development within the Village; and  

WHEREAS, the Village is authorized under the provisions of the Tax Increment Allocation 

Redevelopment Act, as amended, 65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-1 et seq. (“TIF Act”), to finance 

redevelopment projects in accordance with and pursuant to the Act; and 

WHEREAS, on July 8, 2019, the Village, pursuant to and in accordance with the TIF Act, 

adopted (i) Ordinance 19-06 Approving the  Redevelopment Plan and Project for the Sawmill 

Station TIF, (ii) Ordinance 19-07 Designating the Sawmill Station Project Area,  and  (iii) 

Ordinance 19-08 Adopting Tax Increment Allocation Financing for the Sawmill Station 



 2 

Redevelopment Project Area (collectively, “TIF Ordinances”), which established the Sawmill 

Station  Tax Increment Finance Redevelopment Project Area (“TIF District”); and 

WHEREAS, 100 West Golf LLC, an Illinois limited liability company (“Property Owner”) 

is a limited liability company organized pursuant to the laws of Illinois and is the legal title 

owner of a 4.5-acre parcel of improved property commonly known as 8833 Waukegan Road, 

6900 Dempster Street, and 8888 North New England Avenue in Morton Grove, Illinois, 

located near the northeast corner of Dempster Street and Waukegan Road,  (PIN 10-18-321-

023-035, -036, -047 to -052) (the “Property”); and  

WHEREAS, Castle Motor Sales, Inc. dba Napleton Honda of Morton Grove, is an Illinois 

corporation located at located at 100 West Golf Road, Schaumburg, Illinois 60195 (“Car 

Dealer”) owns and operates a Honda car dealership on the Property. The Property Owner and 

Car Dealer are sometimes referred to as “Napleton”; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Resolution 23-01, the corporate authorities of the Village of 

Morton Grove approved an Economic Incentive and Tax Increment Allocation Financing 

Development and Sales Tax Sharing Agreement between Napleton and the Village (the 

“RDA”); and 

WHEREAS, under the terms of the RDA, Napleton has agreed to build an approximately 

forty-thousand-square-foot (40,000-square-foot) new Honda vehicle dealership including 

sales and service facilities, approximately four hundred (400) accessory parking spaces, 

stormwater detention facilities, accessways, and landscape areas (the “Project") which is 

expected to retain or create approximately twenty (20) permanent full-time and part-time jobs, 

generate new real property and sales taxes, and further the redevelopment of the Sawmill 

Station TIF and the surrounding area; and 

WHEREAS, under the terms of the RDA, the Village will reimburse Napleton for up to 

four million three hundred thousand dollars ($4,300,000.00) in eligible expenses by rebating 

up to five hundred thousand dollars ($500,000.00) in sales taxes generated by the Project and 

providing a Developer Note in the principal amount of three million eight hundred thousand 

dollars ($3,800,000.00) with interest at the rate of six percent (6%) per annum. Payments for 

the Developer Note shall be made only from the incremental property taxes paid to the Village 

for the Project property, and not from the Village’s general funds or other revenue; and 



 3 

WHEREAS, as required by the RDA, the Village of Morton Grove Board of Trustees 

desires to authorize the Developer Note and to pledge tax revenues to the repayment of the 

Developer Note. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 

TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF MORTON GROVE, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, AS 

FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1: The statements set forth in the preambles of this Ordinance are found to be true 

and correct and are incorporated by reference into Section 1 of this Ordinance. 

SECTION 2: This Ordinance is adopted in connection with implementing the TIF Plan for the 

Redevelopment Project Area located in the Sawmill Station TIF District in accordance with the 

TIF Act and allows for TIF-eligible redevelopment project costs to be incurred and subsequently 

paid or reimbursed using TIF District funds. 

SECTION 3: The Developer Note from the Village of Morton Grove to 100 West Golf LLC, 

an Illinois limited liability company LLC and Castle Motor Sales, Inc. dba Napleton Honda of 

Morton Grove, an Illinois corporation, in substantial conformity with Exhibit “A,” is hereby 

authorized and approved. As set forth in the Developer Note and the RDA between the parties, the 

Village hereby pledges incremental property tax revenue from the Property to the repayment of 

the Developer Note. The Mayor and Village Clerk are authorized and directed to execute the 

Developer Note on behalf of the Village. 

SECTION 4: All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with the provisions of this 

ordinance are hereby repealed to the extent of the conflict. 

SECTION 5: This ordinance shall be in full force and effect after its passage, approval and 

publication as provided by law 

SECTION 6: Public Inspection. This Ordinance shall be immediately available for inspection 

by the public at the office of the Village Clerk. 

SECTION 7: Severability. Each section, paragraph, clause and provision of this Ordinance is 

separable, and if any provision is held unconstitutional or invalid for any reason, such decision 

shall not affect the remainder of this Ordinance, nor any part thereof, other than that part affected 

by such decision. 



 4 

SECTION 8: Ratification. All actions of the President and Board of Trustees, agents and 

employees of the Village that are in conformity with the purpose and intent of this Ordinance, 

whether taken before or after the adoption of this Ordinance, are ratified, confirmed and approved. 

SECTION 9: Effective Date. This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its 

adoption, approval, and publication in pamphlet form as required by law. 

 

 

 

 

Passed this 24th day of January 2023 

Trustee Khan  __________ 

Trustee Minx  __________ 

Trustee Shiba  __________ 

Trustee Thill  __________ 

Trustee Travis  __________ 

Trustee Witko  __________ 

 

Approved this 24th day of January 2023 

 

 

___________________________________ 

       Daniel P. DiMaria, Village President 

       Village of Morton Grove 

       Cook County, Illinois 

 

 

Attested and Filed in my office 

this 25th day of January 2023 

 

 

___________________________ 

Eileen Scanlon Harford, Village Clerk 

Village of Morton Grove 

Cook County, Illinois 

 

 

 

 

 



 5 

Exhibit A 

DEVELOPER NOTE  

 
INVESTMENT IN THIS NOTE INVOLVES A HIGH DEGREE OF RISK.  IT IS SUITABLE ONLY 
FOR INVESTORS WHO ARE ABLE TO BEAR THE ECONOMIC RISKS OF THIS 
INVESTMENT, INCLUDING TOTAL LOSS.  NO ASSURANCE CAN BE PROVIDED THAT THE 
HOLDER OF THIS NOTE WILL NOT LOSE ITS ENTIRE INVESTMENT IN THIS NOTE.  
 
THIS NOTE IS SUITABLE ONLY FOR INVESTORS WHO HAVE NO NEED FOR LIQUIDITY. 
THIS NOTE MAY ONLY BE TRANSFERRED IN THE MANNER AND SUBJECT TO THE 
LIMITATIONS PROVIDED IN THE REDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT.  
 
THE VILLAGE DOES NOT ENDORSE PROJECTIONS OF ANY KIND FROM ANY SOURCE 
AS TO THE SUFFICIENCY OF ALLOCATED INCREMENTAL PROPERTY TAXES TO PAY 
PRINCIPAL OF AND INTEREST ON THIS NOTE.  INVESTORS WHO RELY ON SUCH 
PROJECTIONS DO SO AT THEIR OWN RISK. 
 
PRINCIPAL OF AND INTEREST ON THIS NOTE ARE PAYABLE SOLELY FROM 
ALLOCATED INCREMENTAL PROPERTY TAXES AND AS DEFINED IN THE HEREINAFTER 
DEFINED REDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT.  THE HOLDER OF THIS NOTE ACCEPTS THE 
RISK THAT THE AMOUNT OF AVAILABLE ALLOCATED INCREMENTAL TAXES MAY NOT 
BE SUFFICIENT TO PAY THE PRINCIPAL OF OR INTEREST ON THIS NOTE. 

 

SOLE NOTE: MAXIMUM AMOUNT: 
REGISTERED $3,800,000 
No. ONE  

 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

STATE OF ILLINOIS 
COUNTY OF COOK 

VILLAGE OF MORTON GROVE 
TAX INCREMENT ALLOCATION REVENUE NOTE  

(NAPLETON HONDA REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT), TAXABLE SERIES 2023 
 
Registered Owner: 100 WEST GOLF LLC and Castle Motor Sales, Inc.  an Illinois corporation 

dba Napleton Honda of Morton Grove,  
 
Interest Rate:  Six percent (6%) per annum 
 
Maturity Date: The earlier of twenty years from issuance date but no later than December 

31, 2043 
 

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that the VILLAGE OF MORTON 

GROVE, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS (the “Village”), hereby acknowledges itself to owe and for 

value received promises to pay to the Registered Owner identified above, or registered assigns 

as hereinafter provided, on or before the Maturity Date identified above, but solely from the 

sources hereinafter identified, in accordance with the Ordinance hereinafter referred to up to the 



 6 

principal amount of Three Million, Eight Hundred Thousand Dollars ($3,800,000.00) and to pay 

the Registered Owner interest on that amount at the Interest Rate per year specified above from 

the date of the advance.  Interest shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-

day months.   

Principal of and interest on this Note, payable solely from the Incremental Property Taxes 

(as defined in the Redevelopment Agreement), is due December 1 of each year until the earlier 

of the Maturity Date or until this Note is paid in full.  Payments shall first be applied to interest. 

The principal of and interest on this Note are payable in lawful money of the United States of 

America, and shall be made to the Registered Owner hereof as shown on the registration books 

of the Village maintained by the Finance Director/Treasurer of the Village, as registrar and paying 

agent (the “Registrar”), at the close of business on the fifteenth (15th) day of the month 

immediately prior to the applicable payment, maturity or redemption date, and shall be paid by 

check or draft of the Registrar, payable in lawful money of the United States of America, mailed 

to the address of such Registered Owner as it appears on such registration books or at such other 

address furnished in writing by such Registered Owner to the Registrar; provided, that the final 

installment of principal and accrued but unpaid interest will be payable solely upon presentation 

of this Note at the principal office of the Registrar in Morton Grove, Illinois or as otherwise directed 

by the Village. The Registered Owner of this Note shall note on the Payment Record attached 

hereto the amount and the date of any payment of the principal of this Note promptly upon receipt 

of such payment. 

This Note is issued by the Village in the principal amount of up to Three Million, Eight 

Hundred Thousand Dollars ($3,800,000.00) as further defined by the Redevelopment Agreement 

by and among 100 West Golf, LLC, Steve Napleton Automotive Group, and the Village of Morton 

Grove approved by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village (“Corporate Authorities”) 

pursuant to Resolution 23-01 (the “RDA”) for the purpose of reimbursing the Registered Owner 

for certain eligible redevelopment project costs incurred by and related directly to the development 

of an approximately 40,000-square-foot Honda sales and service facility with accessory parking 

and stormwater detention facilities (the “Project”) in the Sawmill Station TIF Redevelopment 

Project Area (the “Project Area”) in the Village, all in accordance with the Constitution and the 

laws of the State of Illinois, and particularly the Tax Increment Allocation Redevelopment Act (65 

ILCS 5/11-74.4-1 et seq.) (the “TIF Act”) , the Local Government Debt Reform Act (30 ILCS 350/1 

et seq.), the RDA, Ordinance 23-01 adopted by the Corporate Authorities (the “Ordinance”), in all 

respects as by law required. 



 7 

The Village has assigned and pledged certain rights, title, and interest of the Village in and 

to certain incremental ad valorem tax revenues generated by the Project which the Village is 

entitled to receive pursuant to the TIF Act, the RDA, and the Ordinance in order to pay the principal 

and interest of this Note. Reference is hereby made to the aforesaid Ordinance and the RDA for 

a description, among others, with respect to the determination, custody, and application of said 

revenues, the nature and extent of such security with respect to this Note and the terms and 

conditions under which this Note is issued and secured.  THIS NOTE IS A SPECIAL LIMITED 

OBLIGATION OF THE VILLAGE, AND PRINCIPAL OF AND INTEREST ON THIS NOTE ARE 

PAYABLE SOLELY FROM ALLOCATED INCREMENTAL PROPERTY TAXES GENERATED BY 

THE PROJECT AND ON DEPOSIT IN THE NAPLETON SPECIAL TAX INCREMENT 

ALLOCATION FUND ACCOUNT OF THE TIF FUND (AS DEFINED IN THE RDA) AFTER 

PAYMENT OF ALL OBLIGATIONS HAVING A PRIORITY OVER THIS NOTE, IF ANY.  THE 

HOLDER OF THIS NOTE ACCEPTS THE RISK THAT THE AMOUNT OF ALLOCATED 

INCREMENTAL PROPERTY TAXES GENERATED BY THE PROJECT MAY NOT BE 

SUFFICIENT TO PAY THE PRINCIPAL OF OR INTEREST ON THIS NOTE. THIS NOTE SHALL 

NOT BE DEEMED TO CONSTITUTE AN INDEBTEDNESS OR A LOAN AGAINST THE 

GENERAL TAXING POWERS OR CREDIT OF THE VILLAGE WITHIN THE MEANING OF ANY 

CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY PROVISION.  THE REGISTERED OWNER OF THIS 

NOTE SHALL NOT HAVE THE RIGHT TO COMPEL ANY EXERCISE OF THE TAXING POWER 

OF THE VILLAGE, THE STATE OF ILLINOIS OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF 

TO PAY THE PRINCIPAL OF OR INTEREST ON THIS NOTE.  

The principal of this Note is subject to redemption on any date, as a whole or in part, at a 

redemption price of 100% of the principal amount thereof being redeemed. There shall be no 

prepayment penalty.  Notice of any such redemption shall be sent by registered or certified mail 

not less than five (5) days nor more than sixty (60) days prior to the date fixed for redemption to 

the registered owner of this Note at the address shown on the registration books of the Village 

maintained by the Registrar or at such other address as is furnished in writing by such Registered 

Owner to the Registrar. 

This Note is issued in fully registered form in the denomination of its outstanding principal 

amount.  This Note may not be exchanged for a like aggregate principal amount of notes or other 

denominations.   

Upon surrender hereof at the principal office maintained for that purpose by the Registrar, 

accompanied by a written instrument or instruments of transfer in form satisfactory to the Registrar 

and duly executed by the Registered Owner or an attorney for such owner duly authorized in 



 8 

writing, the Registrar shall register this Note in the name of the new Registered Owner on the 

registration grid provided herein, and shall also enter the name and address of the new registered 

owner in the Note Register. 

The person in whose name this Note is registered on the Note Register shall be deemed 

and regarded as the absolute owner hereof for all purposes, and payment of the principal of or 

interest hereon shall be made only to or upon the order of the Registered Owner hereof or the 

owner’s legal representative. All such payments shall be valid and effectual to satisfy and 

discharge the liability upon this Note to the extent of the sum or sums so paid. 

This Note hereby authorized shall be executed and delivered as the Ordinance and the 

RDA provide.  

Pursuant to Section 5 of the RDA, the Village has reserved the right to terminate payments 

of principal of and interest on this Note upon the occurrence of certain conditions, and the Village 

has reserved the right to offset liquidated damage amounts owed to the Village against the 

principal amount outstanding under this Note.  The Village shall not be obligated to make 

payments under this Note if an Event of Default (as defined in the RDA), or condition or event that 

with notice or the passage of time or both would constitute an Event of Default, has occurred.  

Such rights shall survive any transfer of this Note.    

The Village and the Registrar may deem and treat the Registered Owner hereof as the 

absolute owner hereof for the purpose of receiving payment of or on account of principal hereof 

and for all other purposes and neither the Village nor the Registrar shall be affected by any notice 

to the contrary, unless transferred in accordance with the provisions hereof.  

This Note may be transferred only in the manner and subject to the limitations provided in 

Section 3.I. of the RDA. 

 It is hereby certified and recited that all conditions, acts and things required by law to 

exist, to happen, or to be done or performed precedent to and in the issuance of this Note did 

exist, have happened, have been done and have been performed in regular and due form and 

time as required by law; that the issuance of this Note, together with all other obligations of the 

Village, does not exceed or violate any constitutional or statutory limitation applicable to the 

Village. 

This Note shall not be valid or become obligatory for any purpose until the certificate of 

authentication hereon shall have been signed by the Registrar. 

 

[THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 



 9 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Village has caused this Note to be signed by the manual 

or duly authorized facsimile signatures of its President and by its Village Clerk and its 

corporate seal or a facsimile thereof to be hereunto affixed, all as of the date of delivery 

hereof, to wit, the 

_____  day of ______, 2023. 

 

VILLAGE OF MORTON GROVE,  

COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

 
 

By_____________________ 
President, Daniel P. DiMaria  
Village of Morton Grove, 

Cook County, Illinois 

[SEAL] 
 
Attest: 
 

 

Village Clerk, Eileen Scanlon Harford 

Village of Morton Grove, Cook County, 

Illinois 

 
Date of Authentication:  __________, 2023 

 

This Note is described in the within mentioned 
Ordinance and is the Tax Increment Allocation 
Revenue Note (Napleton Honda Redevelopment  
Project), Taxable Series 2023, of the Village of 
Morton Grove, Cook County, Illinois. 
 
 
 

Registrar 
 
Date: _____________________________ 

 
  



 10 

PRINCIPAL PAYMENT RECORD 
 
DATE OF PAYMENT PRINCIPAL PAYMENT    PRINCIPAL BALANCE DUE 
 
 
 



 11 

 STATE OF ILLINOIS COUNTY OF COOK 

VILLAGE OF MORTON GROVE 

TAX INCREMENT REVENUE NOTE, SERIES 2023  

(NAPLETON HONDA REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT) 

SOLE NOTE: MAXIMUM AMOUNT: 
REGISTERED $3,800,000 
No. ONE  
 

REGISTERED OWNER NOTATION 

 
This Note shall be registered on the Note Register of the Village kept for the purpose 

by the Village Finance Director/Treasurer, as Registrar. The principal and interest on this Note 

shall be payable only to or upon the order of the Registered Owner or such owner’s legal 

representative. No registration hereof shall be valid unless signed by the Registrar 

DATE OF REGISTRATION NAME OF REGISTERED 
OWNER 

SIGNATURE OF VILLAGE 
FINANCE 

DIRECTOR/TREASURER 
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

 

 



   

 

Submitted by:  Ralph E. Czerwinski, Village Administrator 

Reviewed by:  Teresa Hoffman Liston, Corporation Counsel               

Prepared by:    Hanna Sullivan, Finance Director/Treasurer 

Legislative Summary  
 

Resolution 23-05 

 

AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A CONTRACT WITH FOSTER & FOSTER FOR 

ACTUARIAL SERVICES FOR THE VILLAGE OF MORTON GROVE POLICE, FIRE, AND 

MUNICIPAL RETIREMENT FUNDS AND OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS. 

 

 
Introduced: January 24, 2023 

  

Purpose: State law and governmental accounting standards require the Village to contract for 

actuarial services for its police, fire, and municipal retirement funds and other post- 

employment benefits.  This allows the Village to assess the assets, liabilities, and 

annual funding requirements of each plan.  This resolution will authorize the Village 

Administrator to execute said contract for actuarial services. 

  

Background: Asset values, liability projections, funding requirements for tax levy purposes, and 

other information useful in properly managing and reporting each pension fund’s 

financial performance are included in this contract.  The actuarial services are for a 

period of three years starting with the fiscal year ending December 31, 2022, fiscal year 

ending December 31, 2023, and fiscal year ending December 31, 2024.  

  

Programs, Departments 

 or Groups Affected 

Legal, Administration, and Finance Departments 

  

Fiscal Impact: Foster & Foster’s fees will be $25,500 for the year ending December 31, 2022, 

$20,315 for 2023 and $26,355 for 2024. 
  

Source of Funds: General Fund - Enterprise Fund 

  

Workload Impact: The Finance Department as part of their normal work activities will oversee the 

implementation of the contract and agreement. 

  

Administrator 

Recommendation: 

Approval as presented. 

  

Second Reading: Not required. 

  

Special Considerations or 

Requirements: 

None 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 



RESOLUTION 23-05 
 

AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A CONTRACT 

WITH FOSTER & FOSTER FOR ACTUARIAL SERVICES FOR THE VILLAGE OF 

MORTON GROVE POLICE, FIRE, AND MUNICIPAL RETIREMENT FUNDS AND OTHER 

POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS. 

 

 WHEREAS, the Village of Morton Grove (Village), located in Cook County, Illinois, is a home 

rule government under the provision of Article 7 of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois, can 

exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government affairs, including but not 

limited to the power to tax and incur debt; and 

 WHEREAS, the Village is required by accounting standards to have conducted an actuarial 

report of the Morton Grove Police, Fire, and Municipal Employees Retirement Funds, and Other Post-

Employment Benefits; and  

 WHEREAS, on October 18, 2022, the Village solicited proposals from various actuarial firms 

for services; and 

 WHEREAS, on November 18, 2022, staff evaluated two proposals and found while the pricing 

of the proposal from Foster & Foster was not the lowest, staff has concerns with the other firm’s ability 

to perform the services; and 

WHEREAS, staff believes the proposal from Foster & Foster to be the most beneficial; and 

 WHEREAS, a contract outlining the actuarial services at cost of $25,500 for the year ending 

December 31, 2022, $20,315 for 2023 and $26,355.00 for 2024. A copy of the contract and proposal 

are attached hereto; and 

WHEREAS, the Village President and Board of Trustees deems it to be in the best interest of 

the Village to obtain actuarial services from Foster & Foster for a three-year period beginning with the 

fiscal year ending December 31, 2022. 

 NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 

TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF MORTON GROVE, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS AS 

FOLLOWS: 

 SECTION 1: The Corporate Authorities do hereby incorporate the foregoing whereas clauses 

into this Resolution as though fully set forth therein thereby making the findings as hereinabove set 

forth. 

 SECTION 2:  The Village Administrator and/or his designee is hereby authorized to execute a 

contractual agreement with Foster & Foster for actuarial services pursuant to terms and conditions 

consistent with their proposal dated November 14, 2022 (Exhibit “A”). 



 SECTION 3: The Village Administrator and/or his designee are hereby authorized to take all 

steps necessary to implement such a contract. 

SECTION 4: This resolution shall be in full force and effect upon its passage and approval.   

 

Passed this 24th day of January 2023 

Trustee Khan    

Trustee Minx    

Trustee Shiba    

Trustee Travis    

Trustee Thill    

Trustee Witko    

 

Approved by me this 24th day of January 2023 

 

____________________________________ 

Daniel P. DiMaria, Village President 

Village of Morton Grove 

Cook County, Illinois 

 

Approved and Filed in my office this 

25th day of January 2023 

 

 

       

Eileen Scanlon Harford, Village Clerk 

Village of Morton Grove 

Cook County, Illinois 

 



































































 
 1 

ACTUARIAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 

 

THIS AGREEMENT is entered into the _______ day of ________________, 2023, between the 

VILLAGE OF MORTON GROVE (herein referred to as the "Village") and FOSTER & FOSTER, 

INC (herein referred to as the "Actuary"). 

 

W I T N E S S E T H 

WHEREAS, the Actuary has demonstrated the expertise and experience to perform the actuarial 

services outlined in said proposal. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of services to be performed and payments to be made 

together with mutual covenants and conditions hereinafter set forth, the parties agree as follows: 

 

1. The Actuary shall, within sixty (60) days of receipt of all required employee and financial data, 

complete and return to the Village the following, beginning with the January 1, 2023, valuation: 

A. An annual actuarial valuation and report. In the course of the valuation, Actuary will 

determine the funding requirements and generally review the experience of the Fund. 

B. Completion of required accounting GASB disclosures. 

C. Respond to auditor’s questions. 

D. Following submission of all the actuarial information and material, the Actuary shall attend 

(virtually or in-person) one meeting to discuss in detail the results with the Village. 

2. In addition to the work necessary to complete the services outlined in (1) above, the Actuary shall 

also perform such non-regular actuarial services as may be requested by the Village including, but 

not limited to:  

A. Develop a pension modeler to provide the Village with the sensitivity of various 

assumptions and funding methods on the contribution requirements and funded ratio. 

B. Perform an experience study to provide the Village with historical data to use when 

selecting actuarial assumptions. 

C. Calculate standard prior service and military buy back contribution requirements. The fee 

for these calculations is $350 each.   



 
 2 

D. Calculate pension transfers. 

E. Determine refunds of employee contributions. 

F. Conduct meetings with employee groups to explain plan provisions and answer questions 

G. Analyze funding trends to predict future contribution requirements 

H. Prepare accounting expense estimates for future years 

I. Perform other general or specific consulting services via telephone, email, or other 

correspondence. 

3. Charges for work not explicitly outlined in paragraph (1) above will be based upon the amount of 

time required to complete each task.  A firm fee quotation prior to commencing any work may be 

provided upon request. 

A. The hourly charges shall be: 

a. Senior Actuarial Consultant  $375 

b. Actuarial Consultant   $325 

c. Actuarial Analyst   $290 

d. Administrative/Clerical  $175 

 

4. In consideration of the satisfactory performance of services and delivery of work products as 

provided in paragraph (1) of this Agreement, the Village agrees to pay the Actuary the following 

base actuarial fees for the January 1, 2023, funding valuations and the GASB disclosure 

information: 

 Fire Pension Valuation    $6,500  

 Police Pension Valuation    $6,500 

 Municipal Employees’ Pension Valuation  $5,000 

 Retiree Health Insurance Valuation   $7,500 

The Village will be invoiced for these services upon delivery of the reports. The fees in future 

years are outlined in Foster & Foster’s November 14, 2022, proposal. 

5. The Actuary’s proposal dated November 14, 2022, and this Agreement embodies the entire 

agreement of the parties hereto and no modification thereof shall be made except by written 



 
 3 

amendment agreed to and executed by both parties. In the event of a conflict between the Proposal 

and this Agreement, the Proposal shall be controlling.  

6. The Village shall deliver to the Actuary all employee and financial data and any such further infor-

mation as the Actuary shall deem necessary from time to time in order to complete the job. 

7. The Village may terminate this Agreement, with or without cause, at any time upon sixty (60) days 

written notice to the Actuary.  In the event that the Village decides to terminate this Agreement 

with or without cause, or in the event that the Village fails to perform any of its duties hereunder 

for a period of more than ninety (90) days after written notice by the Actuary of such failure, the 

Actuary may terminate this agreement and be entitled to compensation to the date of such 

termination, based on the actual work performed. 

8. The term of this Agreement shall be for three (3) years from the effective date, unless sooner 

terminated pursuant to paragraph 7, and may be renewed for subsequent periods of one (1) year 

each upon the mutual agreement of the parties hereto.  There shall be no change in any terms unless 

mutually agreed to by the parties hereto. 

9. Neither party hereto may assign, convey, or otherwise transfer any of its rights, obligations, or 

interest herein without the prior express written consent of the other party. 

10. This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Illinois to the extent 

not pre-empted by federal law and the provisions hereof shall be governed by such law.  All prior 

agreements between the parties are hereby terminated and superseded by this Agreement. 

11. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an 

original. 

12. Any action arising under this Agreement shall be brought exclusively in Cook County, Illinois. 

 

  



 
 4 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the VILLAGE has signed duplicates hereof, and FOSTER & 

FOSTER, INC has caused its corporate name to be signed to said duplicates by its proper officers 

thereunto duly authorized on the day and in the year first above written. 

 

 

FOSTER & FOSTER, INC VILLAGE OF MORTON GROVE  
 
 
 
 
By:                 ___                                   By:                 ___                                : 
____________________________ 

As Authorized Officer     As Authorized Officer 
 
 
 
 
 
 
       By:        _________________         ___  

                                                                                                
As Authorized Officer                               



   

 

Submitted by: Ralph E. Czerwinski, Village Administrator 

Reviewed by: Teresa Hoffman Liston, Corporation Counsel  

Prepared by: Chris Tomich, Village Engineer  

   

Legislative Summary  
 

Resolution 23-06 

 

AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A SERVICE CONTRACT WITH   

G&M TRUCKING, INC. FOR THE 2023 MATERIAL HAULING PROGRAM 

Introduced: January 24, 2023 

  

Purpose: To authorize the Village Administrator to execute a contract with G&M Trucking, Inc. 

for the 2023 Material Hauling Program.   

  

Background: An annual material hauling program is necessary to haul and dispose of construction and 

demolition debris, street sweepings, tree stump grindings and to transport and furnish 

granular material for the Village. This contract was bid through a public process in 

accordance with the Village Code. Two bids were received. The bid tabulation is attached 

as Exhibit “A”. G & M Trucking, Inc. was the lowest qualified bidder with a bid amount 

of $358,527.50, which was $13,477.50 more than the Engineer’s Estimate of Cost. 

However, the bid amount is based upon unit pricing and the final price of the contract 

will be based upon the number of units the Village determines. The contract grants the 

Village the right to extend the contract for two additional years. This Resolution will 

authorize a contract with G & M Trucking, Inc., for the 2023 Material Hauling Program 

in an amount not to exceed $335,000.00 and if circumstances warrant, will authorize the 

Village Administrator to extend this contract for the 2024 and/or 2025 Material Hauling 

Programs.   

  

Departments 

Affected 

Public Works Department 

  

Fiscal Impact: $335,000 

  

Source of Funds: 2023 Adopted Budget General Fund Account Number 02-50-17-55-2260 and Enterprise 

Fund Account Numbers 40-50-33-55-2260, 40-50-33-56-2110; 40-50-34-55-2260; and 

40-50-34-56-3110 in the cumulative amount of $335,000. 

  

Workload 

Impact: 

The Public Works Department as part of their normal work activities will perform the 

management and implementation of the project. 

  

Administrator 

Recommendation: 

Approval as presented. 

  

Second Reading: Not Required 

  

Special 

Considerations or 

Requirements: 

None 

 

 



   

 

   

 

RESOLUTION 23-06 

 
AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A SERVICE CONTRACT WITH   

G&M TRUCKING, INC. FOR THE 2023 MATERIAL HAULING PROGRAM 

  

 WHEREAS, the Village of Morton Grove (Village), located in Cook County, Illinois, is a home 

rule unit of government under the provisions of Article 7 of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois, 

can exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government affairs, including but not 

limited to the power to tax, purchase, and incur debt; and 

 WHEREAS, an annual material hauling program is necessary to haul and dispose of construction 

and demolition debris, street sweepings, tree stump grindings and to transport and furnish granular 

material for the Village; and 

WHEREAS, the Public Works Department advertised on the Village’s website beginning 

December 15, 2022, inviting bids on the “2023 Material Hauling Program”; and 

 WHEREAS, twelve entities, contractors or suppliers obtained the bidding materials; and 

WHEREAS, two bids were received, publicly opened and read at the Public Works Facility at 

10:00 a.m. on January 10, 2023, with the bid tabulation included in Exhibit “A”; and 

WHEREAS, G&M Trucking, Inc. was the lowest qualified bidder with a bid amount of 

$358,527.50; and 

WHEREAS, the low bid of G&M Trucking, Inc. is $13,477.50 more than the Engineer’s Estimate 

of Cost; and  

WHEREAS, the bid amount is based upon unit pricing proposed by the contractor for the number 

of units estimated by the Village, and the final price of the contract will be based upon the number of 

units the Village determines to be in the best interest of the Village; and    

WHEREAS, the contract reserves the right for the Village to renew the contract for two, one-year 

terms; and   

WHEREAS, the qualifications and availability of the low bidder has been verified; and 

WHEREAS, this contract must conform to the requirements of the Prevailing Wage Act; and 

WHEREAS, funding for the above work in the cumulative amount of $335,000.00 is 

available in the 2023 Adopted Budget General Fund Account Number 02-50-17-55-2260 and Enterprise 

Fund Account Numbers 40-50-33-55-2260, 40-50-33-56-2110; 40-50-34-55-2260; and 40-50-34-56-

3110.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

OF THE VILLAGE OF MORTON GROVE, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS AS FOLLOWS: 

  



   

 

   

 

SECTION 1: The Corporate Authorities do hereby incorporate the foregoing WHEREAS clauses 

into this Resolution as though fully set forth therein thereby making the findings as hereinabove set forth. 

 SECTION 2: The Corporate Authorities accept the bid of G&M Trucking, Inc. of Des Plaines, 

Illinois in the amount of $358,527.50.  

SECTION 3: The Village Administrator is hereby authorized to execute a contract with G&M 

Trucking, Inc. for the 2023 Material Hauling Program in an amount not to exceed $335,000.00.  

SECTION 4: The Village Administrator is further authorized to extend this contract for the 2024 

and/or 2025 Material Hauling Programs if, in the opinion of the Village Administrator, then existing 

circumstances warrant.   

SECTION 5: The Village Administrator and Director of Public Works or their designees are 

authorized to take all steps necessary to implement the contract with G&M Trucking, Inc.  

 SECTION 5: This Resolution shall be in full force and effect upon its passage and approval. 

 

Passed this 24th day of January 2023 

Trustee Khan    

Trustee Minx    

Trustee Shiba    

Trustee Travis    

Trustee Thill    

Trustee Witko    

 

Approved by me this 24th day of January 2023 

 

 

____________________________________ 

Daniel P. DiMaria, Village President 

Village of Morton Grove 

Cook County, Illinois 

 

Approved and filed in my office this 

25th day of January 2023 

 

 

       

Eileen Scanlon Harford, Village Clerk 

Village of Morton Grove 

Cook County, Illinois 

 



V
il

la
g
e 

o
f 

M
o
rt

o
n

 G
ro

v
e,

  
C

o
o
k

 C
o
u

n
ty

, 
Il

in
o
is

2
0
2
3
 M

A
T

E
R

IA
L

 H
A

U
L

IN
G

 P
R

O
G

R
A

M

B
id

 T
a
b

u
la

ti
o
n

B
id

 O
p
en

in
g:

 J
A

N
U

A
R

Y
 1

0
, 
2
0
2
3
, 
1
0
:0

0
 A

.M
.

P
A

Y
 

IT
E

M
P

A
Y

 I
T

E
M

 D
E

S
C

R
IP

T
IO

N
U

N
IT

Q
U

A
N

T
IT

Y
U

N
IT

 C
O

S
T

IT
E

M
 C

O
S

T
U

N
IT

 C
O

S
T

IT
E

M
 C

O
S

T
U

N
IT

 C
O

S
T

IT
E

M
 C

O
S

T

1
T

ra
n
sp

o
rt

 &
 F

u
rn

is
h
 C

A
 6

 M
at

er
ia

l
T

o
n

1
7
5
0

$
2
1
.0

0
$
3
6
,7

5
0
.0

0
$
2
5
.5

5
$
4
4
,7

1
2
.5

0
$
2
0
.0

5
$
3
5
,0

8
7
.5

0

2
T

ra
n
sp

o
rt

 &
 F

u
rn

is
h
 C

A
 7

 M
at

er
ia

l
T

o
n

2
3
5
0

$
2
8
.0

0
$
6
5
,8

0
0
.0

0
$
3
3
.0

0
$
7
7
,5

5
0
.0

0
$
2
7
.5

5
$
6
4
,7

4
2
.5

0

3
T

ra
n
sp

o
rt

 &
 F

u
rn

is
h
 F

A
 2

 M
at

er
ia

l
T

o
n

1
5
5
0

$
2
0
.0

0
$
3
1
,0

0
0
.0

0
$
1
9
.2

5
$
2
9
,8

3
7
.5

0
$
2
5
.2

5
$
3
9
,1

3
7
.5

0

4
H

au
li

n
g 

&
 D

is
p
o
si

n
g 

o
f 

E
x
ca

va
te

d
 M

at
er

ia
l

E
ac

h
 L

o
ad

2
0
0

$
3
2
5
.0

0
$
6
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
$
3
7
5
.0

0
$
7
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
$
3
2
8
.0

0
$
6
5
,6

0
0
.0

0

5
H

au
li

n
g 

&
 D

is
p
o
si

n
g 

o
f 

E
x
ca

va
te

d
 M

at
er

ia
l 

/R
o
u
n
d
 R

o
bi

n
E

ac
h
 L

o
ad

5
0
0

$
2
6
3
.0

0
$
1
3
1
,5

0
0
.0

0
$
3
2
5
.0

0
$
1
6
2
,5

0
0
.0

0
$
2
7
8
.0

0
$
1
3
9
,0

0
0
.0

0

6
H

au
li

n
g 

&
 D

is
p
o
si

n
g 

o
f 

S
tu

m
p
 G

ri
n
d
in

gs
E

ac
h
 L

o
ad

4
0

$
3
7
5
.0

0
$
1
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
$
3
0
0
.0

0
$
1
2
,0

0
0
.0

0
$
3
7
4
.0

0
$
1
4
,9

6
0
.0

0

A
p

p
a
re

n
t 

L
o

w
 B

id
d

e
r:

  
G

&
M

 T
ru

c
k

in
g

, 
In

c
.

A
p

p
a
re

n
t 

L
o

w
 B

id
 A

m
o

u
n

t:
  

E
n

g
in

e
e

r'
s

 E
s

ti
m

a
te

 o
f 

C
o

s
t

D
if

fe
re

n
c
e

$
3

4
5

,0
5

0
.0

0
$

1
3
,4

7
7

.5
0

G
&

M
 T

ru
ck

in
g,

 I
n
c. $

3
5
8
,5

2
7
.5

0

$
3
5
8
,5

2
7
.5

0

S
ko

ki
e,

 I
ll

in
o
is

 6
0
0
7
6

C
O

R
R

E
C

T
E

D
 T

O
T

A
L

 P
R

O
P

O
S

A
L

 A
M

O
U

N
T

$
3
4
5
,0

5
0
.0

0
$
4
0
1
,6

0
0
.0

0

E
n
gi

n
ee

r'
s 

E
st

im
at

e
G

&
L

 C
o
n
tr

ac
to

rs
, 
In

c.

7
9
0
1
 S

t.
 L

o
u
is

 A
ve

n
u
e

D
es

 P
la

in
es

, 
Il

li
n
o
is

 6
0
0
1
6

$
3

5
8

,5
2

7
.5

0

A
S

-R
E

A
D

 P
R

O
P

O
S

A
L

 A
M

O
U

N
T

$
4
0
1
,6

0
0
.0

0

8
8
1
1
 K

at
h
y 

L
an

e

E
X

H
IB

IT
 "

A
"



Submitted by: Ralph E. Czerwinski, Village Administrator 

Reviewed by: Teresa Hoffman Liston, Corporation Counsel  

Prepared by:   Chris Tomich, Village Engineer 

   

Legislative Summary  
 

Resolution 23-07 

 

AUTHORIZING THE ACCEPTANCE OF A MATERIAL PROPOSAL FROM ARROW ROAD 

CONSTRUCTION COMPANY FOR THE 2023 MATERIAL PURCHASING PROGRAM 

Introduced: January 24, 2023 
  
Purpose: To authorize the Village Administrator to accept a material proposal from Arrow Road 

Construction Company to recycle removed asphalt and to furnish asphalt for the 2023 Material 

Purchasing Program   
  
Background: The Village has an annual program to purchase asphalt to maintain Village rights-of-way and 

properties. Asphalt removed during Public Works Department maintenance efforts is recycled by 

the asphalt producer. The purchase and recycling of construction materials is paid for using 

General Funds and Motor Fuel Tax Funds. The use of Motor Fuel Tax Funds is administratively 

controlled by the State of Illinois. It requires bidding procedures and contract documents for these 

amounts conforming to State requirements. This contract was bid through a public process in 

accordance with the Municipal Code and Illinois Department of Transportation requirements. The 

contract was advertised, and sealed bids were received. The lowest bid was from Arrow Road 

Construction Company with a bid amount of $103,050, including a mileage factor calculation of 

$34,500. This bid has been determined to be the lowest responsive and responsible bid. The bid 

includes the calculated mileage factor for the Public Works Department to drive to and from the 

asphalt plant in Elk Grove Village. The remaining amount of the bid is $68,550 and is for recycling 

excavated asphalt and purchasing asphalt.  The bid amount is based upon unit pricing proposed by 

the contractor for the number of units estimated by the Village, and the final price of the contract 

will be based upon the number of units the Village determines to be in the best interest of the 

Village.  This Resolution will approve a contract with Arrow Road Construction Company for the 

2023 Material Purchasing Program in an amount not to exceed $80,000.00 
  
Departments 

Affected 
Public Works Department 

  
Fiscal Impact: $80,000.00 
  
Source of Funds: 2023Adopted Budget General Fund Account 02-50-17-56-3110 & Motor Fuel Tax Fund 03-50-

60-56-3110 in the cumulative amount of $80,000. 
  
Workload 

Impact: 
The Public Works Department as part of their normal work activities will perform the 

management and implementation of the project. 
  
Administrator 

Recommendation: 
Approval as presented. 

  
Second Reading: Not Required 
  
Special 

Considerations or 

Requirements: 

None 
 

 



RESOLUTION 23-07 

 
AUTHORIZING ACCEPTANCE OF A MATERIAL PROPOSAL FROM ARROW ROAD 

CONSTRUCTION COMPANY FOR THE 2023 MATERIAL PURCHASING PROGRAM 

 

 WHEREAS, the Village of Morton Grove (Village), located in Cook County, Illinois, is a home 

rule unit of government under the provisions of Article 7 of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois, 

can exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government affairs, including but not 

limited to the power to tax, purchase, and incur debt; and 

 WHEREAS, an annual material purchasing program is necessary to dispose of recyclable asphalt 

and to purchase asphalt for use by the Public Works Department to maintain the Village’s rights-of-way 

and properties; and 

WHEREAS, the Public Works Department uses Village trucks to deliver recyclable asphalt, 

collect the asphalt from a producer, and deliver the asphalt to the work site; and  

WHEREAS, there is a travel cost to the Village for driving a dump truck to and from an asphalt 

plant; and  

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest for the Village to quantify the theoretical travel cost for each 

asphalt plant and consider the theoretical travel cost when comparing competitively bid prices from 

asphalt suppliers as a mileage factor; and  

WHEREAS, the delivery of recyclable asphalt and the purchase of asphalt are paid for using 

funding from General Fund and Motor Fuel Tax Fund; and  

WHEREAS, use of Motor Fuel Tax funding is administratively controlled by the State of Illinois, 

which requires bidding procedures and contract documents for these amounts conforming to State 

requirements; and  

WHEREAS, this contract was bid through a public process in accordance with the Municipal 

Code and Illinois Department of Transportation requirements; and  

WHEREAS, the Public Works Department advertised in the Illinois Department of Transportation 

Bureau of Local Roads and Streets “Notice to Contractors Bulletin” Bulletin Nos. 22-51, 22-52 and 23-1 

and the Village’s website inviting bids on the “2023 Material Purchasing Program MFT Section 23-

00000-01-GM”; and  

WHEREAS, eleven entities, contractors or suppliers obtained the bidding materials; and 

WHEREAS, two bids were received, publicly opened and read at the Public Works Facility at 

10:00 a.m. on January 13, 2023, with the bid tabulation included in Exhibit “A”; and 

WHEREAS, Arrow Road Construction Company is the low bidder with a bid amount of 

$103,050.00; and 



WHEREAS, the bid amount is based upon unit pricing proposed by the contractor for the number 

of units estimated by the Village, however, the final price of the contract will be based upon the number 

of units the Village determines to be in the best interest of the Village; and    

WHEREAS, the low bid of Arrow Road Construction Company for the hot-mix asphalt and 

recycling material is $11,500.00 less than the Engineer’s Estimate of Cost; and  

WHEREAS, Arrow Road Construction Company has satisfactorily furnished asphalt to the 

Village as part of the materials purchasing program in 2019, 2020, 2021, and 2022; and 

WHEREAS, funding for the above work in the cumulative amount of $80,000.00 is 

available in the 2023 Adopted Budget General Fund Account Number 02-50-17-56-3110 and Motor Fuel 

Tax Account Number 03-50-60-56-3110. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

OF THE VILLAGE OF MORTON GROVE, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1: The Corporate Authorities do hereby incorporate the foregoing WHEREAS clauses 

into this Resolution as though fully set forth therein thereby making the findings as hereinabove set forth. 

 SECTION 2: The Corporate Authorities accept the bid of Arrow Road Construction Company, 

1445 Oakton Street, Elk Grove Village, Illinois, based upon their material proposal for the “2023 Material 

Purchasing Program MFT Section 23-00000-01-GM” in the amount of $103,050.00. 

SECTION 3: The Village Administrator is hereby authorized to execute the form titled 

“Acceptance of Proposal to Furnish Materials and Approval of Award” (Exhibit “B”) in order to deliver 

recyclable asphalt to and purchase asphalt from Arrow Road Construction Company in an amount not to 

exceed $80,000.00. 

 SECTION 4: The Village Administrator and Director of Public Works or their designees are 

authorized to take all steps necessary to implement the contract with Arrow Road Construction Company. 

 SECTION 5: This Resolution shall be in full force and effect upon its passage and approval. 

 

Passed this 24th day of January 2023 

Trustee Khan    

Trustee Minx    

Trustee Shiba    

Trustee Travis    

Trustee Thill    

Trustee Witko    

 

 



Approved by me this 24th day of January 2023 

 

____________________________________ 

Daniel P. DiMaria, Village President 

Village of Morton Grove 

Cook County, Illinois 

 

Approved and filed in my office this 

25th day of January 2023 

 

 

       

Eileen Scanlon Harford, Village Clerk 

Village of Morton Grove 

Cook County, Illinois 



T
a

b
u

la
ti

o
n

 o
f 

B
id

s

A
tt
e
n
d

e
d
 B

y:

A
s 

C
a
lc

u
la

te
d
:

1
1
4

,8
0

0
.0

0
  
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

1
0
3

,0
5

0
.0

0
  
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

 

-
$
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
 

-
$
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
  

-
$
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
  

  
  

T
o

ta
l 
B

id
:

A
s 

R
e
a
d
:

1
1
4

,8
0

0
.0

0
  
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

1
0
3

,0
5

0
.0

0
  
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

 

-
$
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
  

  
  

-
$
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
 

-
$
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
  

 -
$
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
  

 
-

$
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
 

1
,7

2
5
.0

0
  

3
4
,5

0
0

.0
0

$
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
  

4
T

h
e
o

re
tic

a
l T

ra
n

sp
o
rt

a
tio

n
 C

o
s
t 
 -

 A
rr

o
w

 R
o
a
d

P
la

n
t

M
IL

E
S

2
0

-
$
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
 -

$
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
 -

$
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
 

3
4
,5

0
0

.0
0

$
  
  

  
-

$
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
  

-
$
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
  

  
  -

$
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
  

  
  -

$
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
  

  
  

3
T

h
e
o

re
tic

a
l T

ra
n

sp
o
rt

a
tio

n
 C

o
s
t 
- 

B
u
ild

e
rs

P
la

n
t

M
IL

E
S

2
0

-
$
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
  

 
1
,7

2
5
.0

0
  

 

1
2
,0

0
0

.0
0

$
  
  

  
  

7
5
.0

0
  
  
  

  
9
,0

0
0
.0

0
$
  
  

  
  

2
5
.0

0
  
  
  

 
3
,0

0
0
.0

0
$
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
  

  
2

R
e
cy

cl
in

g
 o

f 
A

sp
h
a
lt 

M
a
te

ri
a

l
P

la
n
t

L
O

A
D

1
2
0

1
0
0

.0
0

  
  

 
-

$
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
 

7
1
,3

0
0

.0
0

$
  
  

  
5
7
.0

0
  
  
  

 
6
5
,5

5
0

.0
0

$
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
  

U
n
it 

P
ri
ce

T
o
ta

l
1

H
M

A
 S

u
rf

a
ce

 C
o
u
rs

e
, 
M

ix
 "

D
",

 N
5
0

F
.O

.B
.

T
O

N
1
1
5

0
6
0
.0

0
  
  
  

 
6
9
,0

0
0

.0
0

$
  
  

  
  

6
2
.0

0
  
  
  

  
U

n
it 

P
ri
ce

T
o
ta

l
U

n
it 

P
ri
ce

T
o
ta

l
U

n
it 

P
ri
ce

T
o
ta

l

A
p
p
ro

ve
d
 E

n
g
in

e
e

r'
s 

E
st

im
a
te

It
e
m

 N
o
.

It
e
m

D
e
liv

e
ry

U
n
it

Q
u
a

n
tit

y
U

n
it 

P
ri
ce

T
o
ta

l

C
h
ri

s 
T

o
m

ic
h
 a

n
d
 M

ik
e
 G

e
su

a
ld

o
T

e
rm

s:

E
st

im
a
te

:
8
0
,0

5
0

.0
0

5
%

5
%

P
ro

p
o

sa
l G

u
a
ra

n
te

e
:

B
id

 B
o
n
d

B
id

 B
o
n
d

S
e
ct

io
n
:

2
3
-0

0
0

0
0
-0

1
-G

M
A

p
p
ro

p
ri

a
tio

n
:

8
0
,0

0
0

.0
0

$
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
  

  
H

ill
si

d
e
, 
IL

 6
0

1
6
2

E
lk

 G
ro

ve
 V

ill
a
g
e

, 
IL

 6
0

0
0
7

A
rr

o
w

 R
o
a
d

 C
o
n
s
t.
 C

o
L
o
ca

l A
g
e
n
cy

:
V

ill
a
g
e

 o
f 

M
o
rt

o
n

 G
ro

ve
T

im
e
:

1
0
:0

0
a

m
A

d
d
re

ss
 o

f 
B

id
d
e
r:

4
4
0

1
 R

o
o

se
ve

lt
 R

o
a
d

C
o
u
n

ty
:

C
o
o
k

D
a
te

:
1
/1

3
/2

0
2
3

N
a
m

e
 o

f 
B

id
d
e
r:

B
u
ild

e
rs

 A
sp

h
a
lt
, 
L
L

C
1
4
4

5
 O

a
k
to

n
 S

tr
e
e

t

E
X

H
IB

IT
 "

A
"



Acceptance of Proposal to Furnish
Materials and Approval of Award

Page 1 of 1 BLR 12330 (Rev. 06/09/21)Printed 01/13/2301/13/23

In accordance with your proposal submitted on
Date of Submittal

01/13/2301/13/23 , a copy of which is in our files, you have been awarded the contract for

furnishing the following materials required in the
Construction or Maintenance

maintenancemaintenance of the above designated project. Materials shall be inspected in

accordance with current Departmental policies.

Local Public Agency

Morton Grove

County

CookCook

Street Name/Road Name

Various

Bidder's Name

Arrow Road Construction Company

Bidder's Address

1445 Oakton Street

City

Elk Grove Village

State

ILIL

Zip Code

60007

Section Number

23-00000-01-GM

Item Unit of Measure Quantity Unit Price Amount

HMA Surface Course Mix D, N50 Ton 1,150 $57.0000 $65,550.00

Recycling of Asphalt Materials Load 120 $25.0000 $3,000.00

Total $68,550.00
Terms

Shipping Instructions

Amount not to exceed $80,000.

For Municipal Projects

Municipal Official Signature Date

For County And Road District Project

Highway Commissioner Signature Date

County Engineer/Superintendent of Highways
Signature Date

Illinois Department of Transportation
Concurrence in Approval of Award

Regional Engineer Signature Date

EXHIBIT "B"



Submitted by - Ralph Czerwinski, Village Administrator       

Reviewed by - Teresa Hoffman Liston, Corporation Counsel                           

Prepared by - Zoe Heidorn, Community Development Administrator 

Legislative Summary  
 

Ordinance 23-02 

APPROVING A PRELIMINARY PLAT OF SUBDIVISION AND A PLANNED UNIT 

DEVELOPMENT SPECIAL USE PERMIT FOR A SIX-UNIT DETACHED SINGLE-FAMILY 

RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT ON PROPERTY COMMONLY KNOWN AS 9312 SHERMER 

ROAD IN MORTON GROVE, ILLINOIS 

Introduction: January 10, 2023 
  

Purpose: To approve a Preliminary Plat of Subdivision and Planned Unit Development (PUD) Special Use Permit 

to authorize the construction of a six-unit detached single-family residential development and a 

subdivision to allow the sale of said residences on individual lots.  

  

Background: Varda and Company, LLC (“Applicant”) submitted complete Subdivision and Planned Unit 

Development (PUD) Applications (“Application”) requesting the entitlement of a detached single-family 

development with accessory parking, accessway, detention, and landscape areas for the 1.565-acre vacant 

property commonly known as 9312 Shermer Road (“Subject Property”) under Case PC 22-13. The final 

preliminary plat of subdivision includes seven (7) new lots, and the final site plan includes six (6) 

detached single-family dwellings, with common areas to be owned and maintained by a proposed 

homeowner’s association. The Subject Property is zoned R-1 Single Family Residence. The Subdivision 

and PUD ordinance includes select waivers for public street frontage and minimum lot depth, area, and 

width, but the proposed lots are overall substantially compliant with applicable lot standards. With the 

exception of two (2) nonconforming interior side yards, the proposed residences meet all dimensional 

requirements on an individual basis. With eighteen (18) proposed off-street parking spaces, the project 

exceeds the minimum off-street parking requirement of twelve (12) spaces set forth in Section 12-7-3:I. 

Select waivers to Chapter 12-9 for accessway design are necessary to authorize the site plan as presented.  
 

On October 3, 2022, the Appearance Commission reviewed the Application under Case AC 22-11 and 

voted (4-3) to issue an Appearance Certificate and recommend approval of the project with conditions. 

On October 6, 2022, the Traffic Safety Commission reviewed Case PC 22-13 and voted unanimously to 

recommend approval of the project and forward comments. On October 17, 2022, the Applicant appeared 

before the Plan Commission to present the request for approval of the Application made under Case PC 

22-13. Based on the Application, staff report, and testimony presented at the public hearing, the Plan 

Commission voted unanimously (6-0, Commissioner Gabriel absent) to recommend denial of the 

Application. Based on comments issued at the October 17, 2022, meeting of the Plan Commission, the 

Applicant revised the Application to reduce the site density and respond to concerns raised. In 

consideration of the proposed revisions, on November 14, 2022, the Village Board voted to remand Case 

PC 22-13 to the Plan Commission for reconsideration. On December 19, 2022, the Applicant appeared 

before the Plan Commission to present the revised Application. Based on the Application, supporting 

staff report, and testimony presented at the public hearing, the Plan Commission voted unanimously (6-

0, Chairperson Blonz absent) to recommend approval of the Application with conditions.  

Programs, Dept’s, 

Groups Affected 
Department of Community and Economic Development 

  

Fiscal Impact: N/A 
  

Source of Funds: N/A 
  

Workload Impact: The Preliminary Plat of Subdivision and PUD Special Use Permit will be implemented and supervised 

by staff as part of their normal work activities. 
  

Administrative  

Recommendation: 
Approval as presented 

  

Second Reading: January 24, 2023 

  

Special 

Considerations or 

Requirements: 

None 

 



 

ORDINANCE 23-02 

APPROVING A PRELIMINARY PLAT OF SUBDIVISION AND A PLANNED UNIT 

DEVELOPMENT SPECIAL USE PERMIT FOR A SIX-UNIT DETACHED SINGLE-

FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT ON PROPERTY COMMONLY KNOWN 

AS 9312 SHERMER ROAD IN MORTON GROVE, ILLINOIS 

 

WHEREAS, the Village of Morton Grove (“Village”), located in Cook County, Illinois, is a 

home rule unit of government under the provisions of Article 7 of the 1970 Constitution of the State 

of Illinois, and can exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and 

affairs, including, but not limited to, the power to tax and incur debt; and 

WHEREAS, 9312 Shermer Road, legally described in “Exhibit A” and depicted in the Plat 

of Survey prepared by Gremley & Biedermann, a Division of PCLS Corporation, dated June 29, 2022, 

and attached hereto as “Exhibit B” and made a part of this Ordinance, is a 1.565-acre vacant property 

(“Subject Property”) and is currently zoned R-1 Single Family Residence; and  

WHEREAS, Varda and Company, LLC (“Applicant”), filed a complete application to the 

Village’s Plan Commission under case PC 22-13 requesting approval of a Preliminary Plat of 

Subdivision and Planned Unit Development (PUD) Special Use Permit to authorize the future 

subdivision of the Subject Property into seven (7) new lots and improvement of the Subject Property 

with six (6) detached single-family dwellings and accessory accessways, parking facilities, landscape 

areas, and detention facilities (“Application”); and  

WHEREAS, Section 12-6-3:D of the Village’s Unified Development Code allows planned 

unit developments in the R-1 District on zoning lots not less than one and one-half (1½) acres in land 

area; and  

WHEREAS, before subdividing or consolidating any tract of land, an applicant shall submit 

a preliminary plat of subdivision to the Plan Commission and Village Board of Trustees for review 

and approval pursuant to Chapter 12-8 of the Unified Development Code; and   

WHEREAS, pursuant to Chapter 12-8 of the Unified Development Code, the Applicant 

submitted a preliminary plat of subdivision for the Subject Property, attached hereto as “Exhibit C” 

(“Preliminary Plat of Subdivision”); and  

WHEREAS, to authorize the development as presented, the Application includes requests for 

variation to Section 12-8-4:B.2 for lot depth, Section 12-4-2:D for lot area and lot width, Section 12-

8-4:B.2 for interior side yard, and Chapter 12-9 for accessway standards; and 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 12-7-3:B, the off-street parking standards identified in the 

Unified Development Code as “Required Spaces by Use” shall be advisory only for Special Use 



 

applications and the final number of required parking spaces for Special Use Permits will be 

established by the Village Board based on the submitted traffic and parking impact study and any 

recommendations by the Traffic Safety Commission, Plan Commissions, and staff; and 

 WHEREAS, in accordance with Section 12-7-3:B of the Village Code, the Applicant 

submitted a traffic and parking impact study, “Traffic Impact Study,” prepared by Kimley-Horn, 

dated August 2022, which establishes that a parking ratio of two off-street parking spaces per dwelling 

unit and one off-street guest parking space per dwelling unit is adequate to accommodate the residents 

of the development and any guests that may visit; and  

 WHEREAS, pursuant to the applicable provisions of the Village’s Unified Development 

Code, notice of a public hearing on the Application to be held on October 17, 2022, was published in 

the Morton Grove Champion, a newspaper of general circulation in the Village of Morton Grove, on 

September 29, 2022, a public notice sign was posted on the Subject Property on September 28, 2022, 

and written notification was sent on September 29, 2022, to all property owners within 250 feet of 

the Subject Property; and   

 WHEREAS, on October 3, 2022, the Appearance Commission reviewed the Application, 

approved an Appearance Certificate for proposed improvements, and forwarded a recommendation 

of approval with conditions to the Plan Commission; and  

 WHEREAS, on October 6, 2022, the Traffic Safety Commission (TSC) reviewed the 

Application, including the plans and traffic and parking study, and forwarded a recommendation of 

approval with comments to the Plan Commission; and   

WHEREAS, at the October 17, 2022, public hearing, the Village’s Plan Commission heard 

the Applicant’s presentation and reviewed the Application, at which time all concerned parties were 

given the opportunity to be present and express their views for the consideration by the Plan 

Commission; and  

 WHEREAS, as a result of said public hearing, the Plan Commission considered all the 

evidence and testimony presented to it, discussed the merits of the Application in light of applicable 

law, including the Standards for Planned Unit Developments set forth in Section 12-6-4 and the 

Standards for Subdivisions set forth in Section 12-16-4:D.3 and voted to recommend denial of the 

Application to the Village Board of Trustees; and 

 WHEREAS, as a result of said Plan Commission recommendation, the Applicant revised the 

Application to respond to concerns raised at the October 17, 2022, public hearing; and 

 WHEREAS, upon receipt of the recommendation of the Plan Commission and in 

consideration of revisions to the Application presented by the Applicant, on November 14, 2022, 



 

the Village Board of Trustees voted to remand the Application to the Plan Commission for 

additional consideration; and  

WHEREAS, at the subsequent December 19, 2022, public hearing to reconsider the revised 

Application, the Village’s Plan Commission heard the Applicant’s presentation and reviewed the 

Application, at which time all concerned parties were given the opportunity to be present and express 

their views for the consideration by the Plan Commission; and  

 WHEREAS, as a result of said public hearing, the Plan Commission considered all the 

evidence and testimony presented to it, discussed the merits of the Application in light of applicable 

law, including the Standards for Planned Unit Developments set forth in Section 12-6-4 and the 

Standards for Subdivisions set forth in Section 12-16-4:D.3 and voted to recommend approval of 

the Application to the Village Board of Trustees and made other certain recommendations through a 

report dated January 3, 2023, a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof and marked 

as “Exhibit D”; and  

WHEREAS, pursuant to the provisions of the Village’s Unified Development Code, the 

Corporate Authorities have determined that the proposed Preliminary Plat of Subdivision and Planned 

Unit Development Special Use Permit should be approved, subject to the provisions, conditions, and 

restrictions contained in this Ordinance.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 

TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF MORTON GROVE, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, AS 

FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1.  Incorporation by Reference. The Corporate Authorities do hereby incorporate 

the foregoing WHEREAS clauses into this Ordinance by this reference, as though fully set forth 

herein, thereby making the findings as hereinabove set forth. 

SECTION 2.  Approval of Preliminary Plat of Subdivision and Planned Unit Development 

(PUD) Special Use Permit. The Corporate Authorities hereby approve the Preliminary Plat of 

Subdivision, attached hereto as “Exhibit C” in accordance with Chapter 12-8 and subject to the 

provisions, conditions, and restrictions contained in this Ordinance, grant a Planned Unit 

Development Special Use Permit to allow the construction of a six-unit (6-unit) detached single-

family residential development, and authorize select variations to requirements of the Unified 

Development Code, with the following conditions and restrictions, which shall be binding on the 

owners/lessees, occupants and users of this property, their successors, and assigns. The Preliminary 

Plat of Subdivision and Planned Unit Development Special Use Permit approval shall include the 

following waivers: 



 

A. Waivers to Section 12-8-4:B.2 for lot depth; 

B. Waivers to Section 12-4-2:D for lot area and lot width; 

C. Waivers to Section 12-8-4:B.2 for interior side yard;  

D. Waivers to Chapter 12-9 for accessway standards; and  

E. Waivers to select landscape requirements established in Chapter 12-11, as approved by the 

Appearance Commission.  

SECTION 3. Conditions. The Preliminary Plat of Subdivision and Planned Unit Development 

Special Use Permit shall be approved subject to the following conditions:   

A. The site, improvements, and buildings, including building footprints, shall be constructed 

and operated consistent with the plans and supporting documents and modifications as 

finalized and specifically approved in writing by the Village Administrator or his/her 

designee, including:  

1. Plat of Survey, prepared by Gremley & Biedermann, a division of PCLS Corporation, 

dated June 29, 2022;  

2. Plat of the Ponto Collection Subdivision, prepared by A.P. Surveying Company, P.C., 

dated October 5, 2022 (2 sheets);  

3. Site Plan (SK1.00), prepared by A + C Architects, dated November 30, 2022; and  

4. Twin Gables North & South (SK1.01), prepared by A + C Architects, dated 

November 30, 2022;  

5. Primrose Cottage North & South (SK1.02), prepared by A + C Architects, dated 

November 30, 2022;  

6. Morton House North & Fairview Point South (SK1.03), prepared by A + C 

Architects, dated November 30, 2022;  

7. Material Selection (SK2.01), prepared by A + C Architects, dated November 30, 

2022; 

8. Color Rendering (SK2.02), prepared by A + C Architects, dated November 30, 2022; 

9. Master Landscape Plan (L3.1), prepared by A + C Architects, dated November 30, 

2022; 

10. Landscape Plan (L3.2), prepared by A + C Architects, dated November 30, 2022; 

11. Landscape Plan (L3.3), prepared by A + C Architects, dated November 30, 2022; 

12. Landscape Plan (L3.4), prepared by A + C Architects, dated November 30, 2022; 

13. Landscape Plan (L3.5), prepared by A + C Architects, dated November 30, 2022; 

14. Landscape Plan (L4.01), prepared by A + C Architects, dated November 30, 2022; 



 

15. Luminaire Schedule & Calculation Summary (Photometric Plan), prepared by Force 

Partners, dated November 29, 2022; 

16. Engineering Project Manual, Ponto Collection, prepared by CiviLand, LLC, dated 

November 30, 2022; 

17. Geotechnical Investigation Report, Proposed Residential Development, 9312 

Shermer Road, prepared by Pioneer Engineering & Environmental Services, LLC, 

dated August 18, 2022;  

18. Traffic Impact Study, Morton Grove Residential Development, prepared by Kimley-

Horn, dated August 2022; and  

19. Declaration of Rights, Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions, and Easements for the 

Ponto Collection Single Family Homeowner Association, prepared by Kolpak & 

Grcic, LLC, undated.  

Any substantial change to the site or buildings, as determined by the Village Administrator 

or his/her designee, may subject the Applicant or subsequent owners, lessees, occupants, 

and users of the Subject Property to additional conditions and may serve as the basis for 

amendment to the Planned Unit Development Special Use Permit.  

B. The Subject Property shall be developed and operated consistent with all representations, 

assertions, and testimony provided by the Applicant and their representatives at the public 

hearings before the Appearance Commission, Traffic Safety Commission, and Plan 

Commission. Any inconsistencies in development or operation, as determined by the 

Village Administrator or his/her designee, may serve as the basis for amendment to or 

revocation of the Planned Unit Development Special Use Permit.  

C. The Final Plat of Subdivision and final site development plans must be approved in writing 

by the Village Administrator or his/her designee and shall be consistent with the site layout 

and building setbacks shown in the site plan entitled, “Site Plan (SK1.00), prepared by A 

+ C Architects, dated November 30, 2022, and final recommendations from staff, the 

Appearance Commission, Traffic Safety Commission, and the Plan Commission set forth 

in Exhibit D.  

D. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the Applicant shall submit all turning path 

diagrams requested by the Fire Prevention Bureau Coordinator, Community Development 

Administrator, and Village Engineer, subject to the review and approval of the Village 

Administrator or his/her designee, to demonstrate sufficient access and maneuvering for 



 

delivery trucks, emergency vehicles, and passenger vehicles with respect to the garage and 

surface parking spaces, and accessways.  

E. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the traffic and parking study prepared by 

Kimley-Horn, dated August 2022 shall be updated to reflect the final approved site plan 

and incorporate the comments issued by the Village Engineer in the comment form dated 

October 10, 2022, and by the Traffic Safety Commission Chairperson in the comment 

form dated October 10, 2022, by strict or alternative compliance, subject to the review and 

approval of the Village Engineer.  

F. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the Applicant shall submit final site and 

engineering plans for review and approval by the Community Development 

Administrator, Village Engineer, and Village Administrator or his/her designee, and shall 

comply with all comments and recommendations provided by the Village Engineer in the 

comment form dated October 10, 2022, and by the Traffic Safety Commission 

Chairperson in the comment form dated October 10, 2022, by strict or alternative 

compliance, subject to the review and approval of the Village Engineer.  

G. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the Applicant shall submit a final landscape 

plan, elevations, and materials for review and approval by the Village Administrator or 

his/her designee. The final landscape plan, elevations, and materials must be deemed 

substantially consistent with the approved landscape plan, elevations, and materials and 

revised as necessary to comply with all comments and recommendations issued by the 

Appearance Commission at the public meeting held on October 3, 2022, as determined by 

the Community Development Administrator and Appearance Commission Chairperson. 

If such designs are deemed to be substantially inconsistent with the approved plans or if 

materials are deemed to be of a lower quality than the approved materials, then the 

applicant will be required to file an application for an amendment to the Appearance 

Certificate. 

H. The final landscape and improvement plan for the abutting public rights of way shall be 

modified as necessary to meet the needs and requirements of the Village, subject to review 

and approval by the Village Administrator or his/her designee. If fewer than five (5) trees 

are planted within the public right of way abutting the subject property, any deficit shall 

be planted at an alternative location subject to review and approval by the Village 

Engineer. 



 

I. The Applicant shall bury existing aboveground utilities within the development site as 

required by the Village, subject to review and approval by the Village Administrator or 

his/her designee. 

J. The Applicant shall extend the sidewalk located along the south side of the private 

accessway to the guest parking area, subject to review and approval by the Village 

Engineer. 

K. The installation of fencing shall not be permitted on the Subject Property without prior 

amendment to the Planned Unit Development Special Use Permit.  

L. Prior to the issuance of a certificate of occupancy, the Applicant shall submit a signage 

plan that includes accessway and parking area signage for review and approval by the 

Village Administrator or his/her designee and shall install and maintain signage in 

accordance with the approved signage plan. 

M. A maintenance declaration for the stormwater detention facilities, landscape areas, and 

any other area or improvement deemed appropriate by the Village Administrator or his/her 

designee shall be enforceable by the Village. The declaration shall run with the Subject 

Property and bind the Applicant and any successive owner. The declaration shall be 

recorded with the Cook County Clerk following review and approval by the Village 

Administrator. 

N. The final homeowners’ declarations and covenants shall require the regular storage of 

garbage receptacles within an enclosed garage or not less than five feet (5’) behind the 

front building line. The regular storage of garbage receptacles within any front or street 

side yard shall be prohibited.  

O. Deciduous trees designated for preservation in the final approved Tree Protection Plan 

which are removed, destroyed, or severely damaged, other than by natural forces or events, 

shall be replaced with a new tree at a rate of three inches (3") in caliper to each one inch 

(1") in caliper of removed tree. Coniferous trees designated for preservation in the final 

approved Tree Protection Plan which are removed, destroyed, or severely damaged, other 

than by natural forces or events, shall be replaced with a new tree at a rate of three (3) 

vertical feet for each one vertical foot of removed tree. All fractions of an inch shall be 

rounded up. The Village Administrator or his/her designee may approve alternative 

planting locations on private or public property, with preference given to locations closest 

in proximity to the development. Species of replacement trees shall be submitted to the 

Department of Public Works for review and approval. 



 

P. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the Applicant shall provide the Village with a 

final photometric plan that meets the minimum requirements of Village Code for review 

and approval by the Community Development Administrator and Village Engineer. 

Q. All utility connections, including but not limited to water, sewer, and sanitary, serving the 

development shall comply with all applicable Code requirements, subject to review and 

approval of the Village Administrator or his/her designee.  

R. Operation of the site shall be consistent with the final stormwater management plan 

approved by the Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Cook County. 

S. The Applicant shall comply with the provisions of Section 12-5-12, “Affordable 

Housing.” 

T. The Applicant shall comply with all applicable provisions of Chapter 12-8 regarding the 

content and submission of the Final Plat of Subdivision and such Final Plat shall be 

substantially consistent with the approved Preliminary Plat of Subdivision. 

U. The Applicant shall obtain all necessary signatures and file the Final Plat of Subdivision 

and all required easements with the Cook County Clerk and shall file three paper copies, 

one Mylar, and one electronic copy of the recorded plat and easements with the Building 

Commissioner for the Village of Morton Grove within 90 days of such recording. 

V. The Owner shall advise the Department of Community and Economic Development of 

any proposed change in ownership or operation of the Subject Property or portion thereof 

prior to the completion of construction of the Planned Unit Development. Such changes 

may subject the Owner, lessees, occupants, and users to additional conditions and may 

serve as the basis for amendment to the Planned Unit Development Special Use Permit. 

The Planned Unit Development Special Use Permit is granted so long as the Applicant, 

Owner, occupants, and users of the Subject Property utilize the area for the purposes as 

herein designated.  

W. The Owner, Applicant, and any lessees, occupants, and users of the Subject Property, their 

successors, and assigns, shall allow employees and authorized agents of the Village access 

to the Subject Property at all reasonable times for the purpose of inspecting the Subject 

Property to verify all terms and conditions of this Ordinance have been met. 

SECTION 4. Village Records.  The Village Clerk is hereby authorized and directed to amend 

all pertinent records of the Village of Morton Grove to show and designate the Preliminary Plat of 

Subdivision and Planned Unit Development Special Use Permit as granted hereunder. 



 

SECTION 5. Failure to Comply with Conditions.  Upon failure or refusal of the Applicant 

to comply with any or all of the conditions, restrictions or provisions of this Ordinance, the Corporate 

Authorities may initiate the revocation of the Preliminary Plat of Subdivision and Planned Unit 

Development Special Use Permit granted in this Ordinance, in accordance with the process and 

procedures established for Special Use Permits in Section 12-16-4:C.7, entitled “Revocation,” of the 

Unified Development Code. 

SECTION 6. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after 

its passage, approval and publication in pamphlet form according to law. 

 

 

 

PASSED this 24th day of January 2023.   

 

Trustee Khan    

Trustee Minx    

Trustee Shiba    

Trustee Thill    

Trustee Travis    

Trustee Witko    

 

Attested by me this 24th day of January 2023.   

 

 

____________________________________ 

Daniel DiMaria, Village President 

Village of Morton Grove 

Cook County, Illinois 

 

Attested and Filed in my office this 25th day of January 2023.   

 

 

 

__________________________ 

Eileen Scanlon-Harford, Village Clerk 

Village of Morton Grove 

Cook County, Illinois 

  



 

LIST OF EXHIBITS 

EXHIBIT A   Legal Description for 9312 Shermer Road, Morton Grove, Illinois 

 

EXHIBIT B Plat of Survey, prepared by Gremley & Biedermann, a Division of PCLS 

Corporation, dated June 29, 2022 
 

EXHIBIT C Plat of Ponto Collection Subdivision, prepared by A.P. Surveying Company, 

P.C., dated October 5, 2022 

 

EXHIBIT D  Plan Commission Report for Case PC 22-13, dated January 3, 2023 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

EXHIBIT A 
 

 

9312 SHERMER ROAD, MORTON GROVE, ILLINOIS 60053 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: 

 

 
 

PROPERTY INDEX NUMBER: 

 
09-13-219-042-0000 

 

 

 

  



 

EXHIBIT B 
 

PLAT OF SURVEY 

 

Prepared by Gremley & Biedermann, a Division of PCLS Corporation 

 

Dated June 29, 2022 
 

 

 

  





 

EXHIBIT C 
 

 

PLAT OF PONTO COLLECTION SUBDIVISION 

 

Prepared by A.P. Surveying Company, P.C. 

 

Dated October 5, 2022 

 

 

  







 

EXHIBIT D 
 

 

PLAN COMMISSION REPORT FOR CASE PC 22-13 

 

Dated January 3, 2023 

 

 

 

 



 
 
 

 
 

 

 

Community & Economic Development Department 

 
  

To: Village President and Board of Trustees 
 
From: Chris Kintner, Vice Plan Commission Chairperson 
 Ralph Czerwinski, Village Administrator 
 Teresa Hoffman Liston, Corporation Counsel 
 Zoe Heidorn, Community Development Administrator 
 
Date: January 3, 2023 
 
Re: Plan Commission Case PC 22-13: Request for approval of a Preliminary Plat of Subdivision with 

associated waivers to Section 12-8-4 and a Planned Unit Development (PUD) Special Use Permit for 
six (6) detached single-family dwellings with waivers to accessway standards (12-9), lot depth (12-8-
4:B.2), lot area, lot width, and interior side yard (12-4-2:D) for the property commonly known as 9312 
Shermer Road (PIN 09-13-219-042-0000) in Morton Grove, Illinois, all within an R-1 Single Family 
Residence District. The applicant is Varda & Company, LLC. 

 
Executive Summary 
In September 2022, Varda & Company, LLC (“applicant”) submitted complete Planned Unit Development (PUD) and 
Subdivision Applications to the Department of Community and Economic Development under Case PC 22-13 requesting the 
entitlement of an eight-unit detached single-family residential development with accessory parking, accessway, and landscape 
areas for the 1.565-acre property commonly known as 9312 Shermer Road (“subject property”). The subject property is zoned 
R-1 Single Family Residence.  
 
On October 17, 2022, the Plan Commission held a public hearing to consider Case PC 22-13. After reviewing the application, 
all testimony provided by the applicant and their consultants, and public comments, the Plan Commission voted unanimously 
(6-0) to recommend denial of the application to the Village Board of Trustees. Based on the Plan Commission’s determination 
and the comments provided, the developer revised the site plan to reduce the project density to six units and address other 
concerns raised by the Commissioners and residents. On November 14, 2022, the applicant requested that the Board of 
Trustees remand Case PC 22-13 to the Plan Commission for reconsideration. The Board voted unanimously to remand the 
case, to be reheard by the Plan Commission at a public hearing on December 19, 2022.  
 
On December 19, 2022, the proposed Subdivision and PUD were considered by the Plan Commission at the regularly 
scheduled meeting. For the reasons set forth in this report, on December 19, 2022, the Plan Commission unanimously 
recommended by a vote of 6-0 (Chairperson Blonz absent) that the Village Board of Trustees should approve the Preliminary 
Plat of Subdivision and Planned Unit Development Special Use Permit, subject to various conditions contained in this report.  
 
Application 
On September 9, 2022, the applicant submitted complete applications requesting approval of a Preliminary Plat of Subdivision 
and PUD Special Use Permit to authorize a nine-lot subdivision and the construction of eight detached single-family 
residences on the subject property. Eight of the proposed lots, “Lot 1” through “Lot 8,” were proposed to be improved with 
detached single-family residences. The ninth lot, “Outlot A,” was proposed to be improved with common areas, including a 
private drive, emergency turnaround area, parking area, and underground stormwater detention facilities. The applicant 
requested the approval of plans to construct eight single-family residences and all supporting infrastructure under the control 
of a PUD. The proposed residences are be sold on individual lots, with common areas to be owned and maintained by a 
proposed homeowner’s association (HOA).  
 
Following the October 17, 2022, meeting of the Plan Commission, the applicant revised the application to propose a seven-lot 
subdivision and the construction of six detached single-family residences on the subject property. Overall, the revised 
proposed plat of subdivision generally complies with the R-1 District lot standards established in Sections 12-4-2:D and 12-8-
4:B.2 of the Unified Development Code. While limited variations to lot depth are being requested due to the shape of the 
project site, the proposed density is fitting with the intent of the R-1 District dimensional standards. 31.91% of the subject 
property land area is dedicated to common areas within Outlot A, which will be improved with a shared vehicular accessway 
and turnaround, landscape areas, sidewalks, stormwater detention facilities, and a guest parking area. 



PC 22-13 – 9312 Shermer Road Subdivision & PUD 
January 3, 2023 

 
 
 

 
2 

 
 

The six proposed detached single-family homes will range from 3,503 square feet to 3,602 square feet in floor area. Three 
home types are proposed, and two of each home type are to be distributed in accordance with the submitted site plan. The 
proposed floor area ratios (FAR) are between 0.44 and 0.48, in compliance with the 0.6 maximum FAR set forth by code. 
Each front-loading two-story home will still be constructed with an unfinished basement and will contain four bedrooms, four 
bathrooms, and a two-car attached garage. On a lot-by-lot basis, the proposed single-family residences are substantially 
compliant with dimensional requirements applicable to the R-1 District and single-family development generally. As presented, 
approval of the site plan will only require two variations to the minimum interior side yard, one for Lot 4 and one for Lot 6, due 
to the inclusion of window well zones within each side yard.   
 
Departmental Review 

• Building Department: “At this time the Building Department only has one concern as to the material being used for 
mentioned fence along existing abutting properties for maintenance concerns.” Staff has clarified that no fencing will 
be constructed on the property. This will be made a requirement of the PUD ordinance.  

• Fire Department:  “ 
• “Unable to determine on the Schematic Utility Plan if an additional required hydrant on a looped water 

main was added toward the west end of the property.” The comment will be resolved in final site design 
and engineering through the standard permitting process.  

• “Please update the Fire Truck Turning Exhibit using the following data to update:  
Morton Grove Fire Truck Data for Fire Truck Turning Analysis 
Overall Length    47.8 feet    
Overall Width (Including Mirrors)  9.5 feet    
Overall Body Height    11.666 feet   
Minimum Body Ground Clearance  0.625 feet    
Track Width    8.36 ft    
Lock to Lock Time    6 seconds    
Max Wheel Angle    45 degrees   
Overall Length - Front wheel overhang + wheel base + rear wheel overhang  
Track Width - Wheel track width is the distance between the centerline of two wheels on the same axle.  
Axle Track - The distance between the hub flanges on an axle.   
Lock to Lock Time - The time taken to turn the primary steering from full left lock to full right lock.” 

The requirement for any turning path exhibits requested by the Fire Department or Village Engineer 
will be made a requirement of the PUD ordinance.  

• Public Works Department/Engineering: In review of the proposed project, the Village Engineer issued 32 
comments dated October 10, 2022, and attached hereto as “Attachment A”. A recommended condition of PUD 
approval is compliance with all comments and recommendations provided by the Village Engineer, whether by 
strict compliance or alternative compliance, subject to the Village Engineer’s final approval. 

 
Public Hearings 
Appearance Commission: On October 3, 2022, the applicant appeared before the Appearance Commission to provide 
testimony and respond to comments issued by the Department of Community and Economic Development in the staff 
report dated October 3, 2022, attached hereto as “Attachment B”. The Commission voted 4-3 to recommend approval of 
the project with certain conditions. The Appearance Certificate issued to the applicant on October 3, 2022, is subject to the 
following conditions: 
 

1) Prior to filing any Building Permit Application, the owner/applicant shall revise the landscape plan to comply with all 
applicable requirements of Chapter 12-11 and accurately reflect the final approved tree preservation plan and shall 
submit said plan for review and approval by the Community Development Administrator and Appearance 
Commission Chairperson. The owner/applicant shall reduce the number of tree plantings within the public right of 



PC 22-13 – 9312 Shermer Road Subdivision & PUD 
January 3, 2023 

 
 
 

 
3 

 
 

way from six trees to five trees, or as otherwise authorized by the Village Engineer. If fewer than five trees are 
planted within the public right of way abutting the subject property, any deficit shall be planted at an alternative 
location subject to review and approval by the Village Engineer. If the revised landscape plan is deemed to be in 
violation of any applicable requirement or substantially inconsistent with the approved plan, the owner/applicant will 
be required to file an application for an amendment to the Appearance Certificate.  

2) Prior to filing any Building Permit Application, the owner/applicant shall provide the Village with a final photometric 
and lighting fixture plan that meets the minimum requirements of Village Code for review and approval by the 
Community Development Administrator and Village Engineer. No exterior luminaire located on the site may exceed a 
color temperature of 4000K.  

3) Prior to filing any Building Permit Application, the owner/applicant shall provide the Village with final elevations and 
material specifications for review and approval. Final elevations and materials must be deemed consistent with the 
approved elevations and materials, as determined by the Community Development Administrator and Appearance 
Commission Chairperson. If such designs are deemed to be inconsistent with the approved plans or if materials are 
deemed to be of a lower quality than the approved materials, then the owner/applicant will be required to file an 
application for an amendment to the Appearance Certificate.  

  
Based on comments issued by the Appearance Commission, the applicant revised the building elevations, materials 
palette, and landscape plan for the Plan Commission’s review to provide greater differentiation between the homes, 
comply with applicable landscape requirements, and incorporate more evergreen plant species.  
 
Traffic Safety Commission: On October 6, 2022, the applicant appeared before the Traffic Safety Commission to provide 
testimony and respond to comments issued by the Village Engineer. At the meeting, the Commission and the applicant 
discussed traffic concerns along Shermer Road, the proposed sidewalk width, on-street parking impacts, parking demand, 
snow storage, and sight lines relative to proposed landscaping. The Commission unanimously (6-0) forwarded a 
recommendation of approval of Case PC 22-13 along with the comments provided in the form prepared by Chairperson 
White, dated October 10, 2022, and attached hereto as “Attachment C”. A recommended requirement of the PUD 
ordinance is compliance with all comments issued by the Traffic Safety Commission, whether by strict or alternative 
compliance, subject to the Village Engineer’s final approval. 
 
Plan Commission: The Village provided Public Notice for the October 17, 2022, Plan Commission public hearing for Case 
PC 22-13 in accordance with the Unified Development Code. The Morton Grove Champion published a public notice on 
September 29, 2022. The Village notified surrounding property owners via mail on September 29, 2022, and placed a public 
notice sign on the subject property on September 28, 2022. After Case PC 22-13 was remanded to the Plan Commission by 
the Board of Trustees, staff mailed residents and property owners within 250 feet of the subject property notifying them of 
the December 19, 2022, hearing.  
  
Plan Commission – October 17, 2022, Proceedings: Zoe Heidorn, Community Development Administrator, provided a brief 
introduction to the application. The staff report dated October 11, 2022, was entered into the public record and is attached 
hereto as “Attachment D”. She explained that Case PC 22-13 is a request for a Preliminary Plat of Subdivision and Planned 
Unit Development Special Use Permit. 
 
Ms. Heidorn stated that Varda and Company is requesting approval of a Planned Unit Development and Preliminary Plat of 
Subdivision for an 8-unit single-family detached residential development with accessory parking, accessway, and landscape 
areas for the 1.6-acre subject property. The development will be served by one point of public access along Shermer Road, 
which will align with Ponto Drive to the east. The 8 single-family residences will feature two-car attached garages fronting on a 
24-foot-wide private accessway, which will lead to an 8-space accessory parking area for guest use only and an emergency 
vehicle turnaround at the property’s rear. On-street parking will be prohibited, but the proposed driveway dimensions can 
accommodate additional guest parking within the front yard driveway.    



PC 22-13 – 9312 Shermer Road Subdivision & PUD 
January 3, 2023 

 
 
 

 
4 

 
 

Ms. Heidorn explained that under the proposed PUD, the applicant is requesting variations for lot area, lot width, lot depth, 
front yard, floor area ratio, driveway width, and various dimensional requirements for accessory structures. On October 3, the 
Appearance Commission issued an Appearance Certificate and recommended approval of the project with conditions by a 
vote of 4-3. On October 6, the Traffic Safety Commission recommended approval of the project with comments by a vote of 6-
0. In response to comments issued by the Commissions, the applicant has revised the plans before the Plan Commission 
tonight to diversify the materials palettes, increase the sidewalk width to 5 feet, achieve compliance with screening 
requirements for paved ground surfaces, remove a problematic tree species, enhance the use of evergreen plant species, and 
eliminate discrepancies between the submitted landscape plan and tree preservation plan.  
 
Ms. Kirchner swore in the applicant and his associates.  
 
Attorney Paul Kolpak introduced the development team. He thanked Ms. Heidorn for the staff report and presentation. 
 
Chairman Blonz asked if questions should be held to after each consultant has presented. Mr. Kolpak said that would be most 
efficient. 
 
Mr. Arzoumanian, A+C Architects, described the intent of the proposed community. The idea is to bring an affordable size of 
single-family home to Morton Grove, with well sized yards and easy access to local amenities. They have incorporated many 
green features and provided stormwater detention that improves the surface water on the site and for neighboring property. 
The civil engineer and landscape architect have worked closely together to preserve existing trees, design with native species, 
and exceed the requirements of the Village. 
 
Mr. Arzoumanian explained that the homes are designed inside and out to meet the current real estate market needs of the 
potential homeowners and the developer. The development follows the Village’s Comprehensive Plan regarding green space, 
site planning, neighborhood feel, and traffic flow.  
 
Mr. Kolpak stated that the consultants will expand on their work and describe how it has changed to address the needs of the 
Village and the requests of the other Commissions. The landscape architect consultant, Gary Topalian, was asked by Mr. 
Kolpak to describe the recent changes made to the plan and some of the challenges of the site. 
 
Mr. Topalian noted he is happy to be part of the design team. Shermer Road is the “front yard” and he made sure it was 
welcoming to the surroundings. The homes have strong foundation plantings with evergreens and the soft look of deciduous 
accents. A tree was removed from the Shermer parkway, per staff suggestion, and placed in the southeast corner berm area. 
The main road is designed to be the spine that unites the north and south homes. The inclusion of crabapple trees is part of 
the modern farmhouse architectural style.  
 
Mr. Topalian explained that the landscape plan defines the lots, providing individualism. The borders of the development have 
border structure plantings that take advantage of the topography. This is where most of the original trees were able to be 
preserved. The indigenous plantings will support the original trees and character. Some changes made to the planting plan 
include: adding more evergreen foundation plantings; the addition of two shade trees to the west boarder of the parking area 
and additional evergreens to the north, west, and south borders for winter screening.  
 
Sabin Olteanu, professional engineer, introduced himself as the site engineer of the project. Mr. Kolpak asked Mr. Olteanu to 
address the retention and parking areas. Mr. Olteanu explained that he was the Village Engineer for Skokie and has been 
involved with Mr. Varda on several projects. He has also done work in Morton Grove. This project will improve the water 
retention and the “green” design aspects include pervious pavement, native plants, and underground retention areas. They 
are addressing the overflow retention areas that spill on adjacent properties and will provide protection for a 100-year flood. 
The stormwater infrastructure will route water to Shermer Road.   



PC 22-13 – 9312 Shermer Road Subdivision & PUD 
January 3, 2023 

 
 
 

 
5 

 
 

Mr. Olteanu said he has spoken with some adjacent neighbors who said there is often two to three feet of standing water on 
the west side of the property after heavy rains. Today’s standards of design will improve the stormwater conditions of the site 
and surrounding properties.  
 
Mr. Kolpak asked where snow removal storage would be located.  Mr. Olteanu said it would be in the open space area in the 
northwest corner of the property. 
 
Bill Grieve, Senior Transportation Engineer with Kimley Horn, said they performed a complete traffic study. This involved 
visiting the site, counting cars, and analyzing the added trips. The traffic engineering team found there would be almost no 
impact on the surrounding road system. He noted they also concur with all staff comments. 
 
Patrick McEneely, @Properties/Christies International, introduced himself as part of the marketing team. Mr. Kolpak asked 
what they considered saleable for home size, type, and price point. Mr. McEneely explained that they are marketing homes to 
first-time home buyers and those who want to downsize. The current trend is not for large homes on large lots. He compares 
this development to the Floral Avenue development in Skokie. This is a development with efficient square footage and lot size 
that fills a void in the housing market. The developer team is very confident in and excited by this housing product. 
 
Tony Varda, owner and applicant, thanked the commissioners. The vision for the Ponto Collection is to create a new 
community on a decades-old vacant parcel that everyone can be proud of. He said they were fortunate to purchase a property 
full of mature trees and for the team to work to preserve as many as possible. Their arborist did find many trees that were 
invasive and diseased. After their appropriate removal, they tailored the site plan around the remaining trees.  
 
Mr. Varda noted the team created homes that are neighborly and welcoming, with luxury touches in a farmhouse aesthetic. 
The development will have a private roadway and a homeowner’s association. The buyers can customize the home type, 
including interior and exterior finishes. Mr. Varda has completed many projects with A+C architects and Mr. McEneely in the 
surrounding area, including several in Skokie. Varda and Company is family-owned and has been in business since the 1980s 
developing homes, apartments, condominiums, and mixed-use developments. The team is confident the Ponto Collection will 
be a beautiful and sustainable addition to the Morton Grove community. 
 
Mr. Kolpak asked for questions from the Commissioners. 
 
Commissioner Stein asked the architect for further explanation on the uniqueness of the look and site plan. 
 
Mr. Arzoumanian said current trends are for little separation between pedestrian and vehicular paths, which allows for houses 
to be closer together. The guest parking allows for a narrow roadway and allows for added green space in the back yards. The 
minimum side yard requirements are met, but the other yards are not like a typical cul-de-sac development from ten years 
ago. This is a safer design by keeping the street open. 
 
Commissioner Stein said in denser developments there is often a shared common space. Mr. Arzoumanian responded that 
there is not room for a large common space, but the open feel is enhanced by not having fenced backyards. The parking area 
and underground retention areas leave as much open space as possible.  
 
Commissioner Stein asked about the stormwater plan and whether there only a permeable roadway, or if there an 
underground system as well. Mr. Olteanu said there is a proprietary system underground. 
 
Commissioner Stein asked about the Floral Avenue example in Skokie. He noted those homes are distinctly varied. He does 
not see the diversity in the proposed development, and the footprints are the same for each home. Mr. McEneely said this 
project does provide exterior options but offers an appealing size for the home buyers. Mr. Arzoumanian said Floral Avenue is 



PC 22-13 – 9312 Shermer Road Subdivision & PUD 
January 3, 2023 

 
 
 

 
6 

 
 

an urban setting on a public street surrounded by older development. The Ponto Collection has a level of consistency to 
maintain the subdivision as a community.  
 
Commission Kintner noted that the Floral Avenue homes have a walkability benefit with their location. He asked Mr. McEneely 
to explain the marketability of this style in a suburban setting. Mr. McEneely responded that the Skokie project is an example 
of what is similar in size and what the market is demanding. The settings are not meant to be compared. The size, style, and 
finishings are what will survive in the market. Large homes over 4,000 square feet are not desirable. 
 
Commissioner Kintner asked about the existing trees being damaged during construction of the parking area. Mr. Topalian 
said they will thrive with good maintenance after any stress they endure. Commissioner Kintner asked how the west side trees 
will be protected. Mr. Topalian responded that construction fences will be installed to the drip line. It seems that many on the 
southwest line could be impacted during construction. The parking area will be screened with additional plantings for the 
neighbors to the west.  
 
Commissioner Kintner asked if the landscape plan is set for the entire development. Mr. Kolpak responded that the plans do 
cover the entire development and will be maintained by the individual owners and homeowner’s association. 
 
Commissioner Dorgan asked if the plantings between the homes are shade plants. He asked how the tree line to the north will 
be maintained by the HOA.  Mr. Kolpak said the HOA will be responsible. Commissioner Dorgan expressed concern with  
ensuring proper watering. 
 
Commissioner Dorgan asked about the AC condenser placement between the homes. Mr. Arzoumanian noted that high 
efficiency units are quiet. Putting them in the back yard is feasible but provides less room for backyard activities. Mr. English 
and Ms. Kirchner noted that condensers may be located in side yards but not required side yards.  Mr. Arzoumanian said they 
will place the condensers where required by code. Commissioner Dorgan asked if fencing for dogs would be allowed. It was 
noted that invisible fencing is permitted for dog owners.  
 
Commissioner Mohr asked where the window wells will be located. Mr. Arzoumanian responded that they will be egress 
windows and may not be in the side yards. The architect noted that this is not on the plans and will be addressed in final 
design. Commissioner Mohr asked why the end unit entrances face Shermer and not the new community. The architect said 
the team felt there should be a front face for the entrance along Shermer Road. 
 
Chairman Blonz asked for the size and cost of the homes. At 3,200 square feet, they are larger than others in the 
neighborhood. Chairman Blonz said he is troubled by the number of waivers being sought. He asked how the project will 
benefit Morton Grove. Mr. Arzoumanian said they are providing good size houses for young families instead of more code-
compliant large homes on a large lots with limited public improvements. It is an efficient, sustainable use of the land. 
 
Chairman Blonz asked what makes it sustainable. The architect said storm detention, providing one connection to the public 
utility for eight homes in one place, guest parking, native landscaping, and high efficiency building materials all contribute to 
the project’s sustainability. Chairman Blonz asked if they are using heat pumps or solar panels. It was noted that heat pumps 
are not feasible and solar could be a choice for the resident. 
 
Chairman Blonz asked if they could have six units instead of eight on the property, and therefore meet more requirements. 
Architecturally speaking, Mr. Arzoumanian believes the eight units work well as they meet side yard requirements and the 
front yard, sidewalk, and road are not public. Meaning the front setback could be interpreted from the middle of the road, he 
feels it is driveway and not a street for setback purposes. It is a progressive development for the Village. 



PC 22-13 – 9312 Shermer Road Subdivision & PUD 
January 3, 2023 

 
 
 

 
7 

 
 

The Commissioners and applicant team discussed drainage. The plan as submitted shows the general grading of the site and 
that the west side needs to remain depressed. The drainage system will rely on gravity to feed to the storm connection on 
Shermer Road. This meets the 2010 MWRD requirements. 
 
Chairman Blonz asked about the units having trouble exiting on Shermer Road. Mr. Grieve said the traffic capacities and 
delays are the same without the development. Chairman Blonz asked about parking and how parties would be 
accommodated. Mr. Kolpak responded that these are rare events that can be supported by on-street parking on Shermer 
Road. 
 
Chairman Blonz indicated that his biggest concern is with the removal of so many trees. He asked why so many large caliper 
trees needed to be removed.  
 
Mr. Varda said as many as 50 trees were diseased and broken, per the arborist from Sunrise Care. They did not clear cut the 
property and they recognize that the trees are a huge benefit to the community. They positioned the homes to control the 
existing water pathway. The retention system collects and slowly redirects the water to Shermer Road. He took this time to 
note that the number of units developed drives the success of the development and the improvements. The landscape plan 
will flourish and the caliper of the trees will allow for steady, healthy growth. 
 
Mr. Arzoumanian added they could work with staff to provide additional trees or change locations. 
 
Chairman Blonz asked for comments from the audience. 
 
Sandra Covey of 9230 Shermer expressed her concerns about flooding and traffic. She would prefer the word “community” to 
reflect Morton Grove and not the Ponto Collection. She said that eight houses will have four cars per unit, and with the eight 
parking spaces, it adds up to 40 cars on the premises. The project will add too much traffic on Shermer. No one will be able to 
cross at Beckwith or Lyons. Additional parking pushed on side streets is not fair to the neighbors. She is also worried about 
snow removal.  
 
She asked why there was no common space for gathering. Ms. Covey said the HOA needs to be very clear on property 
maintenance and lighting. 
 
George Strack of 9323 Cameron stated that he shares the longest property line with the development. He and his neighbors 
are very concerned about the stormwater conditions. Heavy rains currently flood their property. He is also concerned with the 
accidents on Beckwith and Shermer and the traffic to be added by this development.  
 
John Kleine of 9311 Cameron explained that he is also concerned with stormwater drainage. He needs a guarantee that the 
water will not be displaced on his property.  
 
Chairman Blonz asked for comments from the Commissioners. 
 
Commissioner Kintner has overall concerns about the water retention and its effectiveness. He finds the plan too 
mathematical and without creativeness in the diversity of the homes. He likes the overall concept but would like a common 
area and more style seen across the units. 
 
Commissioner Mohr agreed with Chairman Blonz regarding the number of waivers. There is not a feeling of community, and 
the units are too similar. He would like to see more open space and a reduction of units. He does trust the engineering for the 
site but feels it is too dense.  
 



PC 22-13 – 9312 Shermer Road Subdivision & PUD 
January 3, 2023 

 
 
 

 
8 

 
 

Chairman Blonz said the presentation was excellent and the reports were thorough. He still feels there is too much on the site. 
Six units are preferred. Parking concerns, lack of common area, and the loss of trees are his principal concerns. 
 
Commissioner Kintner made a motion to recommend approval of a Preliminary Plat of Subdivision with associated waivers to 
Section 12-8-4 and a Planned Unit Development (PUD) Special Use Permit for 8 detached single-family dwellings with 
waivers to accessway standards (12-9), lot depth (12-8-4:B.2), lot area, lot width, front yard, floor area ratio (12-4-2:D), 
driveway width (12-2-5:B.5), and dimensions and siting of accessory structures (12-2-6:G) for the property commonly known 
as 9312 Shermer Road in Morton Grove, Illinois, subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall submit final site plans, engineering plans, preliminary 
plat of subdivision, and traffic and parking impact study for review and approval by the Community Development 
Administrator, Village Engineer, and Village Administrator, and shall comply with all comments and 
recommendations issued in the following, whether by strict or alternative compliance, subject to the Village 
Administrator’s final approval:  

• Appearance Certificate issued for Case AC 22-11 
• Comments issued by the Traffic Safety Commission Chairperson, dated October 10, 2022 
• Comments issued by the Village Engineer, dated October 10, 2022 
• Comments issued by the Fire Department, dated October 5, 2022 
• Comments issued by the Building Department, undated 
• Comments issued by the Department of Community and Economic Development, dated October 11, 

2022 
 

2. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall submit all turning path diagrams requested by the Fire 
Prevention Bureau Coordinator, Community Development Administrator, and Village Engineer, subject to the review 
and approval of the Village Administrator.  

3. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall submit final elevations, a materials palette, and landscape 
plan for review and approval by the Community Development Administrator and Appearance Commission 
Chairperson. If the revised plans are deemed to be in violation of any applicable requirement, substantially 
inconsistent with the approved plans, or lesser in quality than the approved designs and materials, the applicant will 
be required to file an application for an amendment to the Appearance Certificate. 

4. The final landscape and improvement plan for the abutting public rights of way shall be modified as necessary to meet 
the needs and requirements of the Village, subject to review and approval by the Village Administrator.  

5. The applicant shall bury existing aboveground utilities within the development site as required by the Village, subject 
to review and approval by the Village Administrator. 

6. Prior to the issuance of a certificate of occupancy, the Applicant shall submit a signage plan that includes accessway 
and parking area signage for review and approval by the Village Administrator and shall install and maintain signage 
in accordance with the approved signage plan. 

7. The Applicant shall advise the Department of Community and Economic Development of any proposed change 
in ownership or operation of the subject property. Such changes may subject the owners, lessees, occupants, 
and users to additional conditions and may serve as the basis for amendment to the PUD Special Use Permit.  

 
The motion was seconded by Commissioner Liston. 
 
Commissioner Dorgan voting   no 



PC 22-13 – 9312 Shermer Road Subdivision & PUD 
January 3, 2023 

 
 
 

 
9 

 
 

Commissioner Kintner voting  no 
Commissioner Liston voting   no 
Commissioner Mohr voting   no 
Commissioner Stein voting     no 
Chairman Blonz voting    no 
 
Motion does not pass 0-6.  
 
Plan Commission – December 19, 2022, Proceedings: Zoe Heidorn, Community Development Administrator, provided a brief 
introduction to the application. The staff report dated December 13, 2022, was entered into the public record and is attached 
hereto as “Attachment E”. She explained that Case PC 22-13 is a request for a Preliminary Plat of Subdivision and Planned 
Unit Development Special Use Permit. 
 
Ms. Heidorn stated that Varda & Company, LLC is returning to the Plan Commission to request approval of a Planned Unit 
Development and Preliminary Plat of Subdivision requesting the entitlement of a six-unit detached single-family residential 
development with accessory parking, accessway, and landscape areas for the 1.6-acre property commonly known as 9312 
Shermer Road. On October 17, 2022, the Plan Commission considered Case PC 22-13 and, due to concerns with project 
density, stormwater management, parking, and housing diversity, voted unanimously to recommend denial of the application 
to the Village Board. Based on the Plan Commission’s determination and the comments provided, the developer revised the 
site plan to reduce the project density to six units and address other concerns raised by the Commissioners and residents. On 
November 14, 2022, the applicant requested that the Board of Trustees remand Case PC 22-13 to the Plan Commission for 
reconsideration of the revised site plan.  
 
Ms. Heidorn explained that the developer has submitted a revised subdivision plat, site plan, elevations, floor plans, materials 
palette, rendering, landscape plan, engineering project manual, and photometric plan, and is prepared to address 
Commissioner and resident comments raised at the last meeting. Overall, the revised plat of subdivision and site plan are 
substantially compliant with the R-1 District lot and dimensional standards. Staff notes that the technical review provided in the 
staff report was based on the preliminary plat of subdivision, but that the architectural site plan provides varying lot areas that 
comply with the district minimum requirement of 7,500 square feet. The final site plan and plat of subdivision may be revised 
slightly in the final design and engineering process, but the lots are intended to and anticipated to comply with district 
standards.    
 
Ms. Kirchner swore in the applicant and his associates. 
 
Attorney Paul Kolpak introduced the development team. He thanked Ms. Heidorn for the staff report and presentation. The 
new plan has six homes on larger lots, which will be further discussed with the architect. Additional engineering and 
stormwater measures will be presented by the project engineer, who just met with the Metropolitan Water Reclamation District 
regarding the site. 
 
Mr. Arzoumanian said the six homes allow for greater green space and meet minimum lot size and all setback requirements 
except for rear yard depth. Photometrics have been redesigned to meet requirements. Landscape buffers have increased 
along the west side to allow for a nine-foot buffer. Impervious surfaces have been reduced. 
 
Mr. Kolpak asked Mr. Arzoumanian to discuss the window well placement. 
 
Mr. Arzoumanian said the window wells will now meet the required  side yard setback. 
 



PC 22-13 – 9312 Shermer Road Subdivision & PUD 
January 3, 2023 

 
 
 

 
10 

 
 

Vice Chair Kintner thanked the architect for changing the scale of the development and providing better balance for the 
neighborhood. 
 
Sabin Olteanu, civil engineer, explained that he has revised the design and has worked closely with the Village Engineer and 
MWRD, who will be supervising the site work and ultimately give final engineering approval. The topographic survey area was 
enlarged to include an additional acre of surrounding properties. This shows the runoff from the backyards and garages. A 
two-foot inlet was found on the southwest edge of the property, and its four-inch clogged pipe was serving as the only drain for 
the 2.5-acre area. New inlets will be clog-proof and larger pipes will intake the surrounding runoff. 
 
Mr. Olteanu explained that the Village requires stormwater detention. This will be underground, containing 800 linear feet of 
pipe located under the turn-around area. All current water management ordinances will be met. 
 
Mr. Kolpak asked if the stormwater design will solve current problems existing on surrounding properties. 
 
Mr. Olteanu said the design covers the development site and the surrounding acre in the topographic study, which is two-
thirds more in area than the development site. 
 
Commission Gabriel asked if the load capacity above the pipes provides enough support. 
 
Mr. Olteanu said the pipe construction is designed to be seven feet below the proposed pavement. 
 
Commission Mohr asked how the water is released from the detention area. 
 
The engineer said it will be a slow release to the Shermer Road storm drain. 
 
Vice Chair Kintner asked if the pooling on adjacent properties and the site would be stopped. 
 
The engineer said the inlets will relieve the pooling and are required to do so. 
 
No traffic comments or concerns were heard. 
 
Commissioner Gabriel said he is glad of the revisions. 
 
Vice Chair Kintner asked if the south sidewalk will now connect to the parking area.  
 
Mr. Kolpak said it will be extended to the guest parking. 
 
Commissioner Gabriel asked how refuse will be collected. 
 
Mr. Arzoumanian said it will be individual curb pick-up as is provided throughout the Village. 
 
Vice Chair Kintner asked for comments from the audience. 
 
John Kleine of 9311 Cameron commented that he is still concerned with stormwater drainage. He needs a guarantee that the 
water will not be displaced on his property. He is concerned that the engineering may fail. Otherwise, he welcomes the 
development. 
 



PC 22-13 – 9312 Shermer Road Subdivision & PUD 
January 3, 2023 

 
 
 

 
11 

 
 

Commissioner Gabriel said maintenance is important as seen with the current drain that was clogged. The new design will be 
an improvement and will need ongoing good maintenance. 
 
Mr. Kleine said there are discrepancies with his original Plat of Survey and current surveying work. He will make the original 
survey available to Village staff for review and for use in permitting.  
 
Vice Chair Kintner asked if the stormwater engineering will exceed requirements for a 100-year flood. 
 
The engineer said the State of Illinois continually evaluates the flood data and this development meets the new requirements. 
The MWRD will validate this design and modeling as part of permitting. 
 
Commissioner Dorgan would like the HOA to require garbage can storage to be in the garage or on the side of the houses. 
 
Commissioner Stein asked if the northwest and southwest corners of the property are open spaces and how they will be used. 
 
Mr. Arzoumanian responded that they are common areas for recreation, snow removal, and some stormwater retention. 
 
Commissioner Liston made a motion to recommend approval of a Preliminary Plat of Subdivision with associated waivers to 
Section 12-8-4 and a Planned Unit Development (PUD) Special Use Permit for six (6) detached single-family dwellings with 
waivers to accessway standards (12-9), lot depth (12-8-4:B.2), lot area, lot width, and interior side yard (12-4-2:D) for the 
property commonly known as 9312 Shermer Road in Morton Grove, Illinois, subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall submit final site plans, engineering plans, preliminary 
plat of subdivision, and traffic and parking impact study for review and approval by the Community Development 
Administrator, Village Engineer, and Village Administrator, and shall comply with all comments and 
recommendations issued in the following, whether by strict or alternative compliance, subject to the Village 
Administrator’s final approval:  

• Appearance Certificate issued for Case AC 22-11 
• Comments issued by the Traffic Safety Commission Chairperson, dated October 10, 2022 
• Comments issued by the Village Engineer, dated October 10, 2022 
• Comments issued by the Fire Department, dated October 5, 2022 
• Comments issued by the Building Department, undated 
• Comments issued by the Department of Community and Economic Development, dated October 11, 

2022 
• Traffic Impact Study, prepared by Kimley-Horn, dated August 2022 

 

2. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall submit all turning path diagrams requested by the Fire 
Prevention Bureau Coordinator, Community Development Administrator, and Village Engineer, subject to the review 
and approval of the Village Administrator.  

3. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall submit final elevations, a materials palette, and landscape 
plan for review and approval by the Community Development Administrator and Appearance Commission 
Chairperson. If the revised plans are deemed to be in violation of any applicable requirement, substantially 
inconsistent with the approved plans, or lesser in quality than the approved designs and materials, the applicant will 
be required to file an application for an amendment to the Appearance Certificate. 

4. The final landscape and improvement plan for the abutting public rights of way shall be modified as necessary to meet 
the needs and requirements of the Village, subject to review and approval by the Village Administrator. If fewer than 
five trees are planted within the public right of way abutting the subject property, any deficit shall be planted at an 
alternative location subject to review and approval by the Village Engineer.  



PC 22-13 – 9312 Shermer Road Subdivision & PUD 
January 3, 2023 

 
 
 

 
12 

 
 

5. The applicant shall bury existing aboveground utilities within the development site as required by the Village, subject 
to review and approval by the Village Administrator. 

6. The applicant shall extend the sidewalk located along the south side of the private accessway to the guest parking 
area, subject to review and approval by the Village Engineer.  

7. Prior to the issuance of a certificate of occupancy, the Applicant shall submit a signage plan that includes accessway 
and parking area signage for review and approval by the Village Administrator and shall install and maintain signage 
in accordance with the approved signage plan. 

8. A maintenance declaration for the stormwater detention facilities and any other area or improvement deemed 
appropriate by the Village Administrator shall be enforceable by the Village. The declaration shall run with the property 
and bind the applicant and any successive owner. The declaration shall be recorded with the Cook County Clerk 
following review and approval by the Village Administrator.  

9. Deciduous trees designated for preservation in the final approved Tree Protection Plan which are removed, destroyed, 
or severely damaged, other than by natural forces or events, shall be replaced with a new tree at a rate of three 
inches (3") in caliper to each one inch (1") of removed tree. Coniferous trees designated for preservation in the final 
approved Tree Protection Plan which are removed, destroyed, or severely damaged, other than by natural forces or 
events, shall be replaced with a new tree at a rate of three (3) vertical feet for each one foot of removed tree. All 
fractions of an inch shall be rounded up. The Village Administrator may approve alternative planting locations on 
private or public property, with preference given to locations closest in proximity to the development. Species of 
replacement trees shall be submitted to the Department of Public Works for review and approval.  

10. The applicant shall advise the Department of Community and Economic Development of any proposed change in 
ownership or operation of the subject property. Such changes may subject the owners, lessees, occupants, and 
users to additional conditions and may serve as the basis for amendment to the PUD Special Use Permit.  

 
The motion was seconded by Commissioner Dorgan. 
 
Commissioner  Dorgan voting   aye 
Commissioner  Gabriel voting   aye 
Vice Chair      Kintner voting  aye 
Commissioner  Liston voting   aye 
Commissioner  Mohr voting  aye 
Commissioner  Stein voting   aye 
 
Motion passes 6-0.  
 
Final Plans and Supporting Documents 
The application’s final plans and supporting documents recommended for approval by the Plan Commission include the 
following and are attached hereto as “Attachment F”: 
 

1. Plat of Survey, prepared by Gremley & Biedermann, a division of PCLS Corporation, dated June 29, 2022  
2. Plat of the Ponto Collection Subdivision, prepared by A.P. Surveying Company, P.C., dated October 5, 2022 (2 

sheets) 
3. Site Plan (SK1.00), prepared by A + C Architects, dated November 30, 2022 
4. Twin Gables North & South (SK1.01), prepared by A + C Architects, dated November 30, 2022 
5. Primrose Cottage North & South (SK1.02), prepared by A + C Architects, dated November 30, 2022 
6. Morton House North & Fairview Point South (SK1.03), prepared by A + C Architects, dated November 30, 2022 



PC 22-13 – 9312 Shermer Road Subdivision & PUD 
January 3, 2023 

13 

7. Material Selection (SK2.01), prepared by A + C Architects, dated November 30, 2022
8. Color Rendering (SK2.02), prepared by A + C Architects, dated November 30, 2022
9. Master Landscape Plan (L3.1), prepared by A + C Architects, dated November 30, 2022
10. Landscape Plan (L3.2), prepared by A + C Architects, dated November 30, 2022
11. Landscape Plan (L3.3), prepared by A + C Architects, dated November 30, 2022
12. Landscape Plan (L3.4), prepared by A + C Architects, dated November 30, 2022
13. Landscape Plan (L3.5), prepared by A + C Architects, dated November 30, 2022
14. Landscape Plan (L4.01), prepared by A + C Architects, dated November 30, 2022
15. Luminaire Schedule & Calculation Summary (Photometric Plan), prepared by Force Partners, dated November 

29, 2022
16. Engineering Project Manual, Ponto Collection, prepared by CiviLand, LLC, dated November 30, 2022
17. Geotechnical Investigation Report, Proposed Residential Development, 9312 Shermer Road, prepared by 

Pioneer Engineering & Environmental Services, LLC, dated August 18, 2022
18. Traffic Impact Study, Morton Grove Residential Development, prepared by Kimley-Horn, dated August 2022
19. Declaration of Rights, Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions, and Easements for the Ponto Collection Single 

Family Homeowner Association, prepared by Kolpak & Grcic, LLC, undated

Attachments 
• Attachment A – Comment Form for Case PC 22-13, prepared by Chris Tomich, Village Engineer, dated October 10,

2022
• Attachment B – Staff Report to the Appearance Commission for Case PC 22-13, prepared by Zoe Heidorn,

Community Development Administrator, dated October 3, 2022
• Attachment C – Comment Form for Case PC 22-13, prepared by Traffic Safety Commission Chairperson Keith

White, dated October 10, 2022
• Attachment D – Staff Report to the Plan Commission for PC 22-13, prepared by Zoe Heidorn, Community

Development Administrator, dated October 11, 2022
• Attachment E – Staff Report to the Plan Commission for PC 22-13, prepared by Zoe Heidorn, Community

Development Administrator, dated December 13, 2022
• Attachment F – Final Plans and Supporting Documents for PC 22-13



PC 22-13 – 9312 Shermer Road Subdivision & PUD 
January 3, 2023 

Attachment A 
Comment Form for Case PC 22-13, prepared by Chris Tomich, Village Engineer, dated October 10, 2022 



 

 

REVIEWING:                 BUILDING FIRE      POLICE PUBLIC WORKS/ENGINEERING         TSC 

 
 

VILLAGE OF MORTON GROVE, ILLINOIS 

PLAN REVIEW COMMENT FORM 
 

DATE DISTRIBUTED: 9/23/2022 

CASE NUMBER: PC 22-13  

APPLICATION: Request for approval of a Preliminary Plat of Subdivision with associated waivers to Section 12-8-4 and a Planned Unit 
Development (PUD) Special Use Permit for 8 detached single-family dwellings with waivers to accessway standards (12-9), lot area, lot 
width, yards, floor area ratio, impermeable lot coverage (12-4-2:D), driveway width (12-2-5:B.5), dimensions and siting of accessory 
structures (12-2-6:G), and landscaping and tree requirements (12-11) for the property commonly known as 9312 Shermer Road (PIN 
09-13-219-042-0000) in Morton Grove, Illinois, all within an R-1 Single Family Residence District. The applicant is Varda & Company, 
LLC. 

 

Subdivision and Planned Unit Development (PUD) Applications have been submitted for Plan Commission action. Please return your 
review to the Department of Community and Economic Development by Friday, October 7.     
 

Thank you,  
Zoe Heidorn, Community Development Administrator  
 

 

COMMENTS OR CONCERNS 

 
 
General 

1. Draft form of performance guarantee conforming to the requirements of Municipal Code Section 12-8-3C7 is required for 
preliminary plat approval and was not submitted. 

2. Draft homeowner's declarations and covenants conforming with requirements of Municipal Code Section 12-8-3C are required 
for preliminary plat approval and was not submitted. 

Engineering Project Manual dated Setpember 6, 2022 by Civiland PLLC 
3. Plat of Survey dated June 23, 2022 by Gremley & Biedermann indicates lot area to be 1.565 acres. Section 1 Project 

Information includes a different area. There may be other references in the report to a different area. The calculations may 
include an error or errors. It seems likely to have a minor effect on the various parts of the drainage system. 

4. The narrative in Section 1, Section 2, and Section 3 obliquely refers to two important points but needs to be clarified and 
addressed in the design. Public Works Department staff considers the defining characteristic of the hydrology of the site to be 
that stormwater running off the majority of the site (as well as abutting properties) ponds to a depth of over two feet before 
overtopping at an uncontrolled location between houses abutting Beckwith Road, Cameron Lane, and Lyons Street to drain 
from the site. There are two issues to be addressed relating to the hydrology.  

a. The volume of the depressional storage area would need to be maintained in the proposed development. This would 
likely have the effect of increasing the required storage volume to an amount that exceeds what is currently 
proposed. 

b. The site would need to provide an overland flow path that would safely route from the site to an off-site, downstream 
outfall.  

The Public Works Department recommends requiring the report (including plans) to be modified to refine the discussion about 
the above conditions and identifying the above issues as identified drainage concerns to be addressed to the satisfaction of 
the Village Engineer before the site plan is approved. 

5. The proposed detention volume does not exceed the required detention volume by an amount that allows for any future 
impervious area to be permitted without constructing additional detention. It is recommended that a condition of the PUD is 
required to provide detention volume up to the full impervious coverage allowed by zoning requirements. 



 

 

6. The schematic location of water, sanitary sewer and storm sewer lines, with appurtenances is not at an adequate scale to 
verify basic design requirements are met. 

7. It appears from Schematic Utility Plan that the water main is proposed to include a dead end. The Village requires a looped 
system to meet state water quality requirements and for fire suppression. A permit from Illinois Environmental Protection 
Agency will be required to extend the water main. 

8. A permit from Illinois Environmental Protection Agency and Metropolitan Water District of Greater Chicago will be required to 
extend the sanitary sewer. 

9. As stated in the narrative, a permit from Metropolitan Water District of Greater Chicago will be required for stormwater runoff 
and volume control.  

10. It is unclear from Schematic Utility Plan whether the proposed development includes enough fire hydrants, but that can be 
refined in the permit approval process. 

Site Plan dated September 6, 2022 by a+c architects 
11. The Municipal Code indicates the Village’s desire for a new street to connect to existing dedicated streets at each end. The 

proposed street does not connect to a dedicated street at both ends. The Municipal Code allows for a turnaround area when it 
is not possible to connect to a street at both ends. The development abuts only Shermer Road, so the development meets the 
threshold to allow a turnaround.  The Village has coordinated the design of the turnaround area with developer prior to 
subdivision application. The layout generally conforms with code requirements. The north leg of the turnaround will need to be 
a minimum length of 50 feet. It substantially meets the requirements, but the permitted improvements would confirm the 
requirement is met. 

12. The street design does not include right-of-way and the width does not meet code requirements. The proposed street is not to 
be dedicated to or maintained by the Village, but would be privately owned and maintained by the homeowner association. 
The Municipal Code allows variances for local cul-de-sacs. A pavement width of 25 feet between back of curb on each side of 
the street is allowable if approved by the plan commission and board of trustees.  

13. The Municipal Code specifies no parking for streets less than the 33 feet between back of curb on each side of the street. The 
PUD approval should include a condition prohibiting on-street parking. 

14. The proposed sidewalk width along the proposed street is less than the 5-foot width required by the Municipal Code. A 
narrower width is allowed if granted by the plan commission and approved by the board of trustees. The developer has been 
made aware of the width requirement. It is believed the developer will revise the width to 5 feet. 

15. The sight triangles labeled in the plan relate to zoning requirements, not sight triangles between traffic on the proposed street 
and traffic on northbound and southbound Shermer Road. 

Plat of the Ponto Collection Subdivision dated October 5, 2022 by A.P. Surveying Company P.C. & Plat of Survey dated June 
23, 2022 by Gremley & Biedermann 

16. Signature blocks on Page 2 of 2 will need refinement in the future, but are generally acceptable at the preliminary level.  
17. The address of owner or subdivider having control of the tract will need to be added.  
18. The seal of registered surveyor will need to be added. 
19. The graphic engineering scale will need to be added. 
20. The true north point will need to be added. 
21. The location and size of existing sewers and water mains to a distance of 100 feet beyond the tract also indicating such data 

as grades, invert elevations, and location of catch basins, manholes and hydrants will need to be added. 
22. The Plat of Subdivision locations of, or reference to locations of, existing monuments or survey markers used in preparation of 

survey and grade elevation of each monument and marker will need to be added. 
23. The Plat of Subdivision topographical information beyond the limits of the tract will need to be added. The existing contours do 

not illustrate the depressional stormwater storage area that exists in the vicinity of this tract that could be affected by the 
proposed improvements. 

24. The location and width of utility easements will need to be added.. A water main easement will be required. Drainage 
easements are likely to be needed on each parcel, but that will need to be determined through refinement of the drainage 
plan. 

25. The minimum front and side street building setback lines, indicating dimensions will need to be added. 
26. The preliminary plat application is required to include existing and proposed preliminary centerline profile of each street and 

alley and typical cross sections of streets. 



 

 

Landscape Plan dated September 2, 2022 by a+c architects 
27. The proposed parkway trees along Shermer Road and at the northwest corner of the proposed street and Shermer Road 

reduce sight distance between Shermer Road traffic and traffic exiting the proposed development.  
a. The proposed parkway trees north of the proposed street should be reduced to two trees. The northern tree should 

be located 15 feet south of the northern property line and the species should be revised to single-stem, Ivory Silk 
Japanese Lilac Tree. The southern tree should be located 35 feet south of the northern tree and Sugar Maple is an 
acceptable species. 

b. The proposed parkway tree just south of the proposed street should be relocated. The southern tree should be 
located 10 feet north of the southern property line. The northern tree should be located 60 feet north of the southern 
tree and Sugar Maple is an acceptable species. 

c. The two proposed southern parkway trees south of the proposed street should be l 
d. The proposed vegetated areas at the northwest corner of the proposed street and Shermer Road should be 

maintained at a height less than 3 feet and should include no trees. 
28. It seems likely the proposed hedge and plantings at the southwest corner of the site may conflict with a flow path that may be 

needed to collect runoff from abutting, upstream tributary properties. 
29. The trees to be planted in Shermer Road right-of-way are to be owned and maintained by the Village after the acceptance of 

the subdivision. It should be a condition of the PUD that the number, size, species, and location of trees will be finalized by the 
Director of Public Works as part of the site improvement permit. 

Morton Grove – Residential Development Traffic Impact Study (“Traffic Study”) by Kimley-Horne 

30. Traffic Study (Page 12) indicates the proposed 24-foot wide street should have parking on one side instead of two. As 
described in Site Plan comments above, staff interprets the Municipal Code to not allow on-street parking on a street of the 
proposed width. 

31. Village staff will likely submit an ordinance to the board of trustees to prohibit parking north and south of the intersection to 
ensure reasonable sight distance from traffic on the proposed street to northbound and southbound Shermer Road traffic. 
PUD approval should not include any parking restrictions on Shermer Road because it is village jurisdiction. Village staff will 
evaluate input at the public hearing for any feedback about desire for on-street parking or for intersection sight distance. 

32. Pedestrian access at the new proposed intersection should be considered. The Public Works Department recommends a 
north-south crosswalk at the proposed street and recommends no east-west crosswalk. The Public Works Department 
supports pedestrian crossings of Shermer Road at Beckwith Road and Lyons Street. 

 
These comments accurately represent existing Village regulations or policies.  
 
Name (please print): Chris Tomich, Village Engineer 
 
Signed: 
 
Date: 10/10/2022 



PC 22-13 – 9312 Shermer Road Subdivision & PUD 
January 3, 2023 

Attachment B 
Staff Report to the Appearance Commission for Case PC 22-13, prepared by Zoe Heidorn, Community Development 

Administrator, dated October 3, 2022 



   

 
1 

 

 

 
To: Chairperson Pietron and Members of the Appearance Commission 
 
From: Zoe Heidorn, Community Development Administrator; Anne Ryder Kirchner, Assistant Land Use 

Planner 
 
Date: September 27, 2022, revised October 3, 2022 
 
Re: Appearance Commission Case AC 22-11 
 Request by Varda & Company, LLC, for an Appearance Certificate for site, building, landscape, and 

signage plans for an eight-unit detached single-family residential development proposed under an 
Application for a Planned Unit Development and Subdivision (PC 22-13) for the property commonly 
known as 9312 Shermer Road (09-13-219-042-0000) in Morton Grove, Illinois 

  
Project Overview 
Varda & Company, LLC (“applicant”) submitted complete Planned Unit Development (PUD) and Subdivision Applications 
to the Department of Community and Economic Development under Case PC 22-13 requesting the entitlement of an 
eight-unit detached single-family residential development with accessory parking, accessway, and landscape areas for 
the 1.565-acre property commonly known as 9312 Shermer Road (“subject property”). The subject property is zoned in 
an R-1 Single Family Residence District. The applicant is requesting approval of plans to construct eight single-family 
residences and all supporting infrastructure under the control of a PUD and a subdivision to allow for the future sale of the 
residences on individual lots, with common areas to be owned and maintained by a proposed homeowner’s association.  
 

 
Subject Property Location Map 

Subject Property 
The subject property at 9312 Shermer Road is an interior lot located on the west side of Shermer Road between 
Beckwith Road and Lyons Street. Properties to the north, west, and south are improved with single-family residences. 

 

 

Community & Economic Development Department 

 
  



   

 
2 

The site measures 1.565 acres in land area and is currently vacant. The applicant purchased the subject property in May 
2022 and demolished the single-family residence on the property to make way for redevelopment.  
 
Project Summary 
The applicant is proposing the construction of eight detached single-family residences supported by an internal 
accessway with sidewalks, a parking area, landscape areas, and underground stormwater detention facilities. The 
development will be served by one point of public access along Shermer Road, which will align with Ponto Drive, an east-
west public roadway located to the east of the property. The internal accessway serving the development will be privately 
owned and maintained by a proposed homeowner’s association (HOA). The eight “front-loading” single-family residences 
will front on the private drive, which will lead to an eight-space accessory parking area for guest use only and an 
emergency vehicle turnaround that complies with the requirements of Section 12-9-1:B. Approximately 0.61 acres of land 
area, or 38.98% of the total site area, will be owned and operated as common area 
 
The R-1 Single-Family Residence District was designed for detached single-family residential development. However, the 
proposed development does not comply with many dimensional requirements of the R-1 District, meaning the project 
must be approved under a PUD. Certain objectives set forth by Section 12-6-2 and relating to creative and efficient land 
development may serve as the basis for the project’s approval.  
 
The minimum lot area for subdivisions after August 4, 1959, is 6,785 square feet and the minimum lot width is 60 feet. 
The lot areas for Lots 1 through 8 of the proposed Ponto Collection Subdivision range from 4,890 square feet to 8,507 
square feet, with an average of 5,868 square feet. The proposed lot widths range from 47.11 feet to 65.63 feet, with an 
average of 50.80 feet. The development is denser than permitted by Code, but generally complies with the setback 
requirements that buffer the building footprints from surrounding uses, including rear and street side yards. The most 
apparent nonconformity in building siting is a front setback of approximately 18 feet, where 25 feet are required by Code. 
Staff notes that setbacks along both sides of the blocks immediately east of the subject property, facing Ponto Drive, are 
developed with single-family homes with setbacks measuring between 15 and 18 feet. The floor area ratio for each lot 
ranges from 0.40 to 0.66, where Code establishes a maximum of 0.60 for the R-1 District. However, when the sum of all 
floor area (25,966 square feet) is divided by the total land area of Lots 1 through 8 (46,943 square feet), the floor area 
ratio complies at 0.55.  
 
Site Design 
The proposed site plan is designed to mimic the existing single-family residential development pattern in the surrounding 
neighborhood while providing infrastructure that is required by Code and amenities that are desirable to residents. The 
two-way drive serving the development acts as an extension of Ponto Drive to the east. New sidewalks along both sides 
of the private drive will connect to the existing pedestrian network along Shermer Road. The sidewalk along Shermer 
Road will be reconstructed at the lot line to provide an appropriate parkway width between the curb and edge of sidewalk 
and match existing sidewalk setbacks to the north and south. The existing sidewalk abutting the site aligns with the curb, 
which is hazardous to pedestrians and does not provide a dedicated parkway for public street trees.  
 
The eight proposed single-family residences are separated by conforming interior side yards measuring seven feet in 
width. Each residence features an attached two-car garage that fronts on the development’s accessway and is set back 
18 feet from the lot line, in effect creating two additional parking spaces within the front yard for informal use only. The 
proposed eight-space parking area to the west provides guest parking in lieu of on-street parking. Widening the private 
drive to allow “on-street” parking would exacerbate the nonconforming lot depths, which range between 105.63 feet and 
110.95 feet, where between 90 and 115 feet, depending on lot type, are required by Section 12-8-4:B.2.  
 
Building Design 
The eight proposed single-family residences are made up of four different building types: Type A (3,229 square feet), 
Type B (3,235 square feet), Type C (3,225 square feet), and Type D (3,294 square feet). Two of each building will be 
distributed across the site in a manner depicted on the submitted site plan (Sheet SK1.00). The two-story homes will be 
constructed with an unfinished basement slab-on-grade and will each contain four bedrooms, four bathrooms, and a two-
car attached garage. Each unit’s main entrance will be located along the front elevation. A patio is proposed within the 
rear yard.  
 



   

 
3 

Each building type’s mass is broken into smaller elements through varied rooflines, attached garage and second-story 
projections, and an entrance overhang. Architectural details such as exposed brackets and changes in siding orientation 
help break up the building facades and create visual interest. Two options in materials palettes are being proposed by the 
developer: 
 
 Option 1 

• General Aniline & Film (GAF) shingles in Pewter Gray 
• Berridge metal detail in Matte Black 
• Hardie board (horizontal and vertical) in Arctic White 
• Window frames in Black 

 
 Option 2 

• General Aniline & Film (GAF) shingles in Fox Hollow Gray  
• Berridge metal detail in Matte Black 
• Hardie board (horizontal and vertical) in Light Mist 
• Window frames in Black 

 
The applicant should discuss how the materials palettes will be distributed throughout the development to 
ensure balance. The applicant is also expected to address the durability and long-term maintenance of the 
materials proposed.  
 
Landscape Design 
The applicant’s submitted landscape design proposes new tree plantings within the Shermer Road public right of way, 
new tree plantings along the private drive serving the development, the preservation of select trees around the site’s 
perimeter, foundation plantings, areas of native perennials and ornamental grasses, and areas of sodded turf.  
  
The Village’s applicable landscape requirements and compliance with said requirements are outlined in the following 
table.  
 

Development 
Control Requirement Proposed Compliance 

Landscape Area  
(12-11-1:B.1.e) 

Foundation plantings in front yards and 
side yards abutting a street 

Foundation plantings in front 
yards and all side yards  Compliant 

Public Parkway 
Trees  
(12-11-1:B.4) 

Parkway trees required with max. 40-ft. 
separation, min. 2.5-in. caliper 
 

Shermer Road: 200.54 ft. = 5 trees 
minimum 

Shermer Road.: 6 trees 
proposed Compliant 

Paved Ground 
Surfaces Adjacent to 
Residential Property 
(12-11-3:B.2) 

Landscaping or structure required, min. 
5-ft. buffer yard with berm, hedge, 
maintenance free barrier 5-6 ft. in height 
 
“Where hedge of living plant material is 
used for a barrier, it shall be thirty inches 
(30") in height at time of planting and 
shall attain opacity within twelve (12) 
months under normal growing 
conditions.” 
 
“A minimum of one tree shall be planted 
for each forty (40) linear feet of common 
lot line or fraction thereof.” 

South of paved area: 10-ft. 
buffer, native perennials and 
ornamental grass mix (no 
height provided), golden glory 
cornelian cherry dogwood 
(54” height), no trees 
proposed 
 

West of paved area: 6-ft. 
buffer, ameln dwarf fountain 
grass (no height provided), 
arrowwood viburnum hedge 
(48” height), 2 (preserved) 
trees proposed  

Height of plantings needed 
to determine compliance 
(min. 30” at planting, 5-6 ft. 
at maturity) 
 
South of paved area:  
42 linear ft. – 1 tree 
required, 0 trees proposed 
 
West of paved area: 170 
linear ft. – 4 trees required, 
2 (preserved) trees 
proposed 

 
The applicant provides an adequate buffer area between the paved ground surfaces adjacent to residential property, 
including the guest parking area, emergency vehicle turnaround, and connecting driveway area. Strict compliance with 



   

 
4 

the landscape requirements of Chapter 12-11 seems achievable. Staff recommends as a condition of Appearance 
Certificate approval that the landscape plan is revised to comply with all Code requirements for the screening of 
paved ground surfaces adjacent to residential property. The applicant should discuss the height of the proposed 
landscape plantings within the buffer yards and the feasibility of strict compliance with Code requirements.   
 
Staff notes that the preserved tree canopy depicted on the submitted landscape plan does not match the preliminary 
erosion control and tree protection plan prepared by CiviLand LLC. The landscape plan and tree protection plan for the 
area along the south lot line are provided below for comparison. The applicant should explain the inconsistency 
between the landscape plan and tree protection plan. As a condition of Appearance Certificate Approval, staff 
recommends that the landscape plan is updated to accurately reflect the final approved tree preservation plan.   
 

 
Landscape Plan – South Lot Line 

 

 
Tree Protection Plan – South Lot Line 

Based on landscape and site plan review by the Village Engineer, staff recommends that the tree plantings along 
Shermer Road are reduced from six trees to five trees, and that the Village Engineer is authorized to modify the public 
right of way tree planting plan as needed to ensure visibility and public safety along Shermer Road. If fewer than five 
trees are planted in the public right of way abutting the site, staff recommends that any deficit in trees is planted at an 
alternative location subject to review and approval by the Village Engineer.  
     

Lighting 
The applicant submitted a photometric plan prepared by Force Partners showing levels of illumination along lot lines and 
throughout the site. Per Section 12-10-5, “all street, parking lot, and exterior lighting shall meet the lighting standards and 
regulations set forth in the Village of Morton Grove lighting standards available at the Public Works Department.” The 
plan shows no more than 0.1 footcandle of illuminance along the site’s south, west, and north lot lines. The final 
photometric plan will be subject to approval by the Village Engineer.  
 
Section 12-12-3 of the Unified Development Code establishes lighting fixture standards. For off-street parking areas, 
lighting must be directed away from adjacent property, streets, and other public rights-of-way. All lighting units must be of 
the full cutoff type, meaning luminaires may not emit any light above the source’s horizontal plane. Staff recommends as 
a condition of approval that before any Building Permit Application is issued, the lighting plan must be revised 



   

 
5 

as needed to meet all lighting requirements of the Village of Morton Grove. Staff also recommends establishing a 
maximum luminaire color temperature of 4000K as a condition of Appearance Certificate approval.  
 
Signage  
The applicant is proposing a monument sign for the development along Shermer Road, just south of the private drive. 
Sign details, including dimensions, setback, and design, were not provided as part of the application. Per Section 10-10-
7:G, one ground monument sign is permitted for each 150 feet of street frontage. With 266.85 feet of street frontage, the 
development is permitted to install one ground monument sign. The following restrictions will apply: 
 

• Maximum sign height: 8 feet 
• Maximum sign face area: 36 square feet (per face) 
• Minimum base width: 75% of sign width 
• Landscaped bed requirement: 2 feet from the base on all sides with shrubs at least 3 feet in height 
• Minimum setback: ½ sign height or 4 feet from public right of way, whichever is greater 

 
The applicant should confirm that the proposed signage will comply with all applicable requirements of Chapter 
10-10, “Sign Regulations.”  
 
Appearance Commission Review  
In accordance with Unified Development Code Section 12-12-1:C, all site, landscape and building plans are to be 
reviewed by the Appearance Commission, and an Appearance Certificate by the Commission granted, prior to the 
issuance of a building permit. Further, per Section 12-16-2:C.2, the Appearance Commission is charged with reviewing 
the exterior elevations, sketches, and materials and other exhibits as to whether they are appropriate to or compatible 
with the character of the immediate neighborhood and whether the submitted plans comply with the provisions of the 
regulations and standards set forth in chapter, 12 "Design Standards," of this title. 
 
The Design Standards (Sec. 12-12-1:D) are as follows: 
D. Criteria and Evaluation Elements: The following factors and characteristics relating to a unit or development and which 

affect appearance, will govern the appearance review commission's evaluation of a design submission: 
1.   Evaluation Standards: 

a.  Property Values: Where a substantial likelihood exists that a building will depreciate property values of 
adjacent properties or throughout the community, construction of that building should be barred. 

b.  Inappropriateness: A building that is obviously incongruous with its surroundings or unsightly and grotesque 
can be inappropriate in light of the comprehensive plan goal of preserving the character of the municipality. 

c.  Similarity/Dissimilarity: A builder should avoid excessively similar or excessively dissimilar adjacent 
buildings. 

d.  Safety: A building whose design or color might, because of the building's location, be distracting to vehicular 
traffic may be deemed a safety hazard. 

2. Design Criteria: 
a.  Standards: Appearance standards as set forth in this chapter. 
b. Logic Of Design: Generally accepted principles, parameters and criteria of validity in the solution of design 

problems. 
c.   Architectural Character: The composite or aggregate of the components of structure, form, materials and 

functions of a building or group of buildings and other architectural and site composing elements. 
d. Attractiveness: The relationship of compositional qualities of commonly accepted design parameters such 

as scale, mass, volume, texture, color and line, which are pleasing and interesting to the reasonable 
observer. 

e. Compatibility: The characteristics of different uses of activities that permit them to be located near each 
other in harmony and without conflict. Some elements affecting compatibility include intensity of occupancy 
as measured by dwelling units per acre; floor area ratio; pedestrian or vehicular traffic generated; parking 
required; volume of goods handled; and such environmental effects as noise, vibration, glare, air pollution, 
erosion, or radiation. 



   

 
6 

f.  Harmony: A quality which produces an aesthetically pleasing whole as in an arrangement of varied 
architectural and landscape elements. 

g. Material Selection: Material selection as it relates to the evaluation standards and ease and feasibility of 
future maintenance. 

h.   Landscaping: All requirements set forth in chapter 11, "Landscaping and Trees", of this title. (Ord. 07-07, 3-
26-2007) 

 
Recommendation  
If the Appearance Commission approves the request for an Appearance Certificate for site, building, landscape, and 
signage plans for an eight-unit detached single-family residential development proposed under an Application for a 
Planned Unit Development and Subdivision (PC 22-13) for the property commonly known as 9312 Shermer Road in 
Morton Grove, Illinois, staff recommends the following conditions of approval:  
 

1) Prior to filing any Building Permit Application, the owner/applicant shall revise the landscape plan to comply with 
all applicable requirements of Chapter 12-11 and accurately reflect the final approved tree preservation plan and 
shall submit said plan for review and approval by the Community Development Administrator and Appearance 
Commission Chairperson. The owner/applicant shall reduce the number of tree plantings within the public right 
of way from six trees to five trees, or as otherwise authorized by the Village Engineer. If fewer than five trees are 
planted within the public right of way abutting the subject property, any deficit shall be planted at an alternative 
location subject to review and approval by the Village Engineer.  If the revised landscape plan is deemed to be 
in violation of any applicable requirement or substantially inconsistent with the approved plan, the 
owner/applicant will be required to file an application for an amendment to the Appearance Certificate.  

2) Prior to filing any Building Permit Application, the owner/applicant shall provide the Village with a final 
photometric and lighting fixture plan that meets the minimum requirements of Village Code for review and 
approval by the Community Development Administrator and Village Engineer. No exterior luminaire located on 
the site may exceed a color temperature of 4000K.  

3) Prior to filing any Building Permit Application, the owner/applicant shall provide the Village with final elevations 
and material specifications for review and approval. Final elevations and materials must be deemed consistent 
with the approved elevations and materials, as determined by the Community Development Administrator and 
Appearance Commission Chairperson. If such designs are deemed to be inconsistent with the approved plans 
or if materials are deemed to be of a lower quality than the approved materials, then the owner/applicant will be 
required to file an application for an amendment to the Appearance Certificate.  

 
 



PC 22-13 – 9312 Shermer Road Subdivision & PUD 
January 3, 2023 

Attachment C 
Comment Form for Case PC 22-13, prepared by Traffic Safety Commission Chairperson Keith White, dated October 10, 2022 





PC 22-13 – 9312 Shermer Road Subdivision & PUD 
January 3, 2023 

Attachment D 
Staff Report to the Plan Commission for PC 22-13, prepared by Zoe Heidorn, Community Development Administrator, dated 

October 11, 2022 



1 

 

 

 

 

 

To: Chairperson Blonz and Members of the Plan Commission 
 
From: Zoe Heidorn, Community Development Administrator; Anne Ryder Kirchner, Assistant Land Use 

Planner 
 
Date: October 11, 2022 
 
Re: Plan Commission Case PC 22-13 
 Request for approval of a Preliminary Plat of Subdivision with associated waivers to Section 12-8-4 

and a Planned Unit Development (PUD) Special Use Permit for 8 detached single-family dwellings 
with waivers to accessway standards (12-9), lot depth (12-8-4:B.2), lot area, lot width, front yard, 
floor area ratio (12-4-2:D), driveway width (12-2-5:B.5), and dimensions and siting of accessory 
structures (12-2-6:G) for the property commonly known as 9312 Shermer Road (PIN 09-13-219-042-
0000) in Morton Grove, Illinois, all within an R-1 Single Family Residence District. The applicant is 
Varda & Company, LLC. 

 

STAFF REPORT 
 
Public Notice 
The Village provided Public Notice for the October 17, 2022, Plan Commission public hearing for PC 22-13 in accordance 
with the Unified Development Code. The Morton Grove Champion published a public notice on September 29, 2022. The 
Village notified surrounding property owners via mail on September 29, 2022, and placed a public notice sign on the 
subject property on September 28, 2022. 
 
Application 
Varda & Company, LLC (“applicant”) submitted complete Planned Unit Development (PUD) and Subdivision Applications 
to the Department of Community and Economic Development under Case PC 22-13 requesting the entitlement of an 
eight-unit detached single-family residential development with accessory parking, accessway, and landscape areas for 
the 1.565-acre property commonly known as 9312 Shermer Road (“subject property”). The subject property is zoned in 
an R-1 Single Family Residence District.  
 
The applicant is requesting approval of a Preliminary Plat of Subdivision that subdivides the property into nine new lots in 
accordance with Chapter 12-8 of the Unified Development Code. Eight of the proposed lots, “Lot 1” through “Lot 8,” are 
proposed to be improved with detached single-family residences. The ninth lot, “Outlot A,” is proposed to be improved 
with common areas, including a private drive, emergency turnaround area, parking area, and underground stormwater 
detention facilities. The applicant is also requesting the approval of plans to construct eight single-family residences and 
all supporting infrastructure under the control of a PUD. The proposed residences will be sold on individual lots, with 
common areas to be owned and maintained by a proposed homeowner’s association (HOA). The applicant has named 
the proposed development “The Ponto Collection.”  
 
The applicant submitted all required items in accordance with the Subdivision and PUD Application requirements. In 
response to comments issued by the Appearance Commission on October 3 and the Traffic Safety Commission on 
October 6, the following items were revised by the applicant for the Plan Commission’s review and may cause 
discrepancy with some original submitted documents. Where discrepancy occurs between original submitted items and 
revised items, the following revised items will control:  
 

• Site Plan, Rendering, Materials Palette, Elevations – Revised 10/7/2022 – 10/9/2022 
• Landscape Plan – Revised 10/10/2022  
• Civil Plans (Preliminary Removal Plan, Preliminary Erosion Control & Tree Protection Plan, Schematic 

Mass Grading Plan, Cover Surfaces Plan, Schematic Utility Plan) – Revised 10/10/2022  
 
 

 

 

Community & Economic Development Department 

 
  



2 

 

 

 
Subject Property Location Map 

Subject Property 
The subject property at 9312 Shermer Road is an interior lot located on the west side of Shermer Road between 
Beckwith Road and Lyons Street. Properties to the north, west, and south are improved with single-family residences. 
The site measures 1.565 acres (67,543 square feet) in land area and is currently vacant. The applicant purchased the 
subject property in May 2022 and demolished the single-family residence on the property to make way for its 
redevelopment.  
 
Preliminary & Final Plat of Subdivision  
The applicant submitted a Preliminary Plat of Subdivision entitled “Plat of the Ponto Collection Subdivision,” which 
proposes the creation of nine new lots, eight of which will permit the future sale of the single-family detached 
residences on individual lots. The ninth lot (“Outlot A”) will be improved with a shared vehicular accessway, sidewalks, 
parkways, emergency turn-around area, common landscape area, and eight-space guest parking area. A draft 
declaration of rights, covenants, conditions, restrictions, and easements for the HOA is included in the hearing packet.  
 
Due to comments issued by the Appearance and Traffic Safety Commissions, the site plan was revised since the 
original submittal, causing the proposed lot dimensions to change slightly. The revised site plan provides the most 
current proposed lot dimensions. Final lot dimensions may be adjusted even further based on final design and 
engineering but may not not change significantly without Plan Commission review, pursuant to Section 12-8-3:A.2. A 
comparison of the proposed lot dimensions with the applicable dimensional controls is provided in the table below.  
  

R-1 District Lot 
Dimensional 

Requirements 
Requirement Proposed Compliance 

Lot Area  
(12-4-2:D) 

Min. 7,500 sq. ft. 
(after August 4, 1959) 

Lot 1: 8,167 sq. ft.    
Lot 2: 5,129, sq. ft. 
Lot 3: 5,215 sq. ft.  
Lot 4: 5,411 sq. ft.  
Lot 5: 4,837 sq. ft.  
Lot 6: 4,919 sq. ft.  
Lot 7: 5,001 sq. ft. 
Lot 8: 7,436 sq. ft. 
Outlot A: 21,428 sq. ft. 
Total: 67,543 sq. ft. 

Lot 1: Compliant 
Lot 2: Noncompliant (2,371 sq. ft.) 
Lot 3: Noncompliant (2,285 sq. ft.) 
Lot 4: Noncompliant (2,089 sq. ft.) 
Lot 5: Noncompliant (2,663 sq. ft.) 
Lot 6: Noncompliant (2,581 sq. ft.) 
Lot 7: Noncompliant (2,499 sq. ft.) 
Lot 8: Noncompliant (64 sq. ft.) 
Outlot A: Compliant 



3 

 

 

Lot Width  
(12-4-2:D) 

Min. 60 ft. 
(after August 4, 1959) 

Lot 1: 40.43 ft.  
Lot 2: 49.11 ft. 
Lot 3: 49.11 ft.  
Lot 4: 50.12 ft.  
Lot 5: 42.54 ft.   
Lot 6: 47.11 ft.   
Lot 7: 47.11 ft.  
Lot 8: 69.67 ft. 
Outlot A: 71.20 ft.  

Lot 1: Noncompliant (19.57 ft.) 
Lot 2: Noncompliant (10.89 ft.) 
Lot 3: Noncompliant (10.89 ft.) 
Lot 4: Noncompliant (9.88 ft.) 
Lot 5: Noncompliant (17.46 ft.) 
Lot 6: Noncompliant (12.89 ft.) 
Lot 7: Noncompliant (12.89 ft.) 
Lot 8: Compliant 
Outlot A: 71.20 ft. 

Lot Depth 
(12-8-4:B.2) 

Lot depth = mean 
horizontal distance 

between front lot line and 
rear lot line 

Min. 115 ft. for interior lots 
Min. 90 ft. for corner lots 

Lot 1: 102.83 ft. (corner) 
Lot 2: 104.43 ft.  
Lot 3: 106.19 ft.  
Lot 4: 107.97 ft.  
Lot 5: 102.76 ft.  
Lot 6: 104.41 ft.  
Lot 7: 106.18 ft.  
Lot 8: 108.29 ft. (corner) 
Outlot A: 265.56 ft.  

Lot 1: Compliant 
Lot 2: Noncompliant (10.57 ft.) 
Lot 3: Noncompliant (8.81 ft.) 
Lot 4: Noncompliant (7.03 ft.) 
Lot 5: Noncompliant (12.24 ft.) 
Lot 6: Noncompliant (10.59 ft.) 
Lot 7: Noncompliant (8.82 ft.) 
Lot 8: Compliant 
Outlot A: Compliant 

 
The R-1 Single-Family Residence District was designed to support detached single-family residential development at 
the lowest level of density deemed appropriate for the Village. Overall, the proposed subdivision does not comply with 
dimensional requirements for lots in the R-1 District, meaning the project must be approved under a PUD. Certain 
objectives set forth by Section 12-6-2 and relating to creative and efficient land development may serve as the basis 
for the proposed PUD’s approval and are included below.  
 
12-6-2: OBJECTIVES 
The following objectives shall be considered and may serve as a basis for approving a planned unit development: 
 

1. Allow flexibility in the development of land and in the design of structures thereon; 
2. Facilitate more efficient arrangement of buildings, traffic and circulation systems, land use, and utilities; 
3. Provide for more usable and suitably located common open space and/or recreation areas and to encourage the 

construction of appropriate aesthetic amenities which will enhance the character of the site; 
4. Preserve and enhance desirable site characteristics and natural features such as natural topography, 

vegetation, and geological features, and the prevention of soil erosion; 
5. Promote a higher standard of site and building design which will ensure a quality of construction commensurate 

with other developments within the Village and is compatible with the character of the surrounding area and 
adjoining properties; 

6. Provide for a variety of housing types within the Village; 
7. Provide for the development and redevelopment of unique land areas and sites that may not otherwise be 

possible under the strict application of Village regulations and standards governing said development; 
8. Facilitate the implementation of the goals and objectives of the comprehensive plan, particularly in respect to 

areas designated for potential redevelopment; 
9. Encourage the development of quality affordable residential housing units; and 
10. Encourage energy efficiency and use of green building and site design techniques.  

 
According to the applicant, the proposed project is intentionally designed to be a more compact housing product that is 
more attainable and marketable to typical families. The higher density is intended to create a more walkable environment 
that is inherently more sustainable than larger homes on larger lots.  
 
The minimum lot area for subdivisions created after August 4, 1959, is 7,500 square feet and the minimum lot width is 60 
feet. The lot areas for Lots 1 through 8 range from 4,837 square feet to 8,167 square feet, with an average of 5,764 
square feet. The proposed lot widths range from 40.43 feet to 69.67 feet, with an average of 49.40 feet. With substandard 
lot dimensions, the proposed development is denser than permitted by Code. The Traffic Safety Commission 
recommended on October 6, 2022, that the sidewalk width should be increased to five feet, which further decreased the 
dimensions for Lots 1 through 8. 31.72% of the subject property land area is dedicated to common areas within Outlot A.  
 



4 

 

 

Staff surveyed the lot sizes of parcels within 250 feet of the subject property and found lot sizes ranging from 6,042 
square feet to 15,791 square feet, with an average of 8,413 square feet and a median of 7,893 square feet. Lots 1 
through 8 are dimensionally noncompliant and smaller than what is typical of on-the-ground development in the 
surrounding area.  
 
If the applicant were to subdivide the subject property into four Code-compliant residential lots fronting on Shermer Road, 
and reasonably estimating that detention facilities would account for 8,000 square feet of the property, the resulting lots 
would measure 14,886 square feet in area and support the construction of 8,900-square-foot homes based on a 
maximum floor area ratio of 0.6. If the applicant were to subdivide the property into six Code-compliant residential lots 
fronting on the proposed accessway, with all other common areas remaining as presented, the applicant could achieve 
an average lot area of 7,686 square feet, which would support the construction of 4,611-square-foot homes. The 
applicant is expected to speak to why a more Code-compliant detached single-family subdivision is not feasible 
or desirable considering existing development patterns, market constraints, or other considerations. The 
applicant should speak to the projected home prices versus land development costs and how the requested 
variations from dimensional controls that allow for higher density in the R-1 District may allow the applicant to 
meet certain objectives set forth in Section 12-6-2.  
 
Single-Family Residential Design 
The applicant is proposing the construction of eight detached single-family homes ranging from 3,212 square feet to 
3,281 square feet. The single-family residences are made up of four different building types, Types A through D. Two 
of each building type will be distributed across the site in a manner depicted on the submitted site plan (Sheet SK1.00). 
The two-story homes will be constructed with an unfinished basement and will each contain four bedrooms, four 
bathrooms, and a two-car attached garage. Each unit’s main entrance will be located along the front elevation. A patio 
is proposed within the rear yard. 
 
On a lot-by-lot basis, the proposed single-family residences require some variations to dimensional requirements 
applicable to the R-1 District and single-family development generally, including front setback, floor area ratio, 
driveway width, location of aboveground mechanical equipment, sidewalk width, and window well siting. Applicable 
requirements and the project’s compliance with said requirements are outlined in the following table: 
 

Dimensional 
Requirements Requirement Proposed Compliance 

Front Yard 
(12-4-2:D) Min. 25 ft.  Lots 1-8: 18.00 ft.      Lots 1-8: Noncompliant (7.00 ft.) 

Corner Side Yard 
(12-4-2:D) Min. 25 ft.  Lot 1: 27.50 ft.    

Lot 8: 25.25 ft. 
Lot 1: Compliant 
Lot 8: Compliant 

Interior Side Yard 
(12-8-4:B.2) 

Min. 6 ft.  
Min. 14 ft. combined 

 

Lot 1: 8.00 ft.  
Lot 2: 8.00 ft.   
Lot 3: 8.00 ft.   
Lot 4: 8.00 ft., 9.00 ft. 
Lot 5: 7.00 ft.  
Lot 6: 7.00 ft.   
Lot 7: 7.00 ft. .  
Lot 8: 7.00 ft.  

Lots 1-8: Compliant 

Rear Yard 
(12-4-2:D) Min. 30 ft.  

Lot 1: 30.75 ft.   
Lot 2: 32.50 ft.  
Lot 3: 34.25 ft.   
Lot 4: 36.00 ft.   
Lot 5: 30.75 ft.    
Lot 6: 32.42 ft.    
Lot 7: 34.17 ft.   
Lot 8: 34.42 ft.  

Lots 1-8: Compliant 

Building Height 
(12-4-2:D) Max. 28 ft.  Lots 1-8: Compliant       Lots 1-8: Compliant 

Floor Area Ratio 
(12-4-2:D) Max. 0.6 

Lot 1: 0.40   
Lot 2: 0.63  
Lot 3: 0.62   

Lot 1: Compliant 
Lot 2: Noncompliant (0.03)  
Lot 3: Noncompliant (0.02) 



5 

 

 

Lot 4: 0.59   
Lot 5: 0.66    
Lot 6: 0.65    
Lot 7: 0.64   
Lot 8: 0.44 

Lot 4: Compliant 
Lot 5: Noncompliant (0.06) 
Lot 6: Noncompliant (0.05) 
Lot 7: Noncompliant (0.04) 
Lot 8: Compliant 

Impermeable Lot 
Coverage  
(12-4-2:D) 

Max. 55% 

Lot 1: 32%  
Lot 2: 46% 
Lot 3: 45%   
Lot 4: 43%   
Lot 5: 48%    
Lot 6: 48%    
Lot 7: 47%   
Lot 8: 35% 

Lots 1-8: Compliant       

Driveway 
(12-2-5:B.5) Max. 16 ft. at front lot line Lots 1-8: 18.00 ft. at front lot line       Lots 1-8: Noncompliant (2.00 ft.) 

Bay Window 
(12-2-6:G) Max. 20% yard depth Lots 1-8: 1.75 ft. projection into 

18.00-ft. front yard       Lots 1-8: Compliant       

Mechanical Equipment, 
Aboveground 

(12-2-6:G) 

Not a permitted 
encroachment of a 
required side yard 

Lots 1-8: Encroaches into 
required interior side yard by 
≤3.17 ft.       

Lots 1-8: Noncompliant (≤3.17 ft.)       

Open Accessory Parking 
Spaces 

(12-2-6:G) 
Min. 3 ft. from lot lines Outlot A: ≥6.00 ft. from lot lines Outlot A: Compliant       

Patio, Attached 
(12-2-6:G) 

Max. 30% rear yard 
coverage, side setback 

requirements apply 

Lots 1-8: 262.83 sq. ft. (typ.), 
<30% coverage, complies with 
side setback requirements 

Lots 1-8: Compliant       

Sidewalk 
(12-2-6:G) 

Max. 4 ft. width in front 
yard Lots 1-8: 5 ft. (typ.)        Lots 1-8: Noncompliant (1.00 ft.)       

Stairs/Steps 
(12-2-6:G) 

Max. 5ft. encroachment in 
front yard Lots 1-8: Not specified Lots 1-8: Compliance expected       

Window Well 
(12-2-6:G) 

Not a permitted 
encroachment of a 
required side yard 

Lots 1-8: Encroaches into 
required interior side yard by 
≤3.17 ft.       

Lots 1-8: Noncompliant (≤3.17 ft.)       

 
Staff notes that aboveground mechanical equipment is also controlled by Section 10-1-2:G.3, which reads as follows:  
 
10-1-2:G.3. Central Air Conditioning Compressor And Heat Pump Installation, Replacement, Or Relocation:  

a. On one- and two-family residential properties, the compressor and/or fan unit shall be located on a concrete 
pad in the rear yard adjacent to the principal structure; locations in required side yards are prohibited.  

 
The Plan Commission may recommend, and the Board may approve a variation to the locational requirements of 
mechanical equipment set forth in Section 12-2-6:G. However, the Building Department will be responsible for the 
enforcement of Section 10-1-2:G.3.  
 
The most apparent nonconformity in building siting is a proposed front yard of approximately 18 feet, where 25 feet are 
required by Code. Staff notes that setbacks along both sides of the blocks immediately east of the subject property, 
facing Ponto Drive, are developed with single-family homes with setbacks measuring between 15 and 18 feet.  
 
The floor area ratio for each lot ranges from 0.40 to 0.66, where Code establishes a maximum of 0.60 for the R-1 District. 
However, when the sum of all floor area (25,860 square feet) is divided by the total land area of Lots 1 through 8 (46,115 
square feet), the average floor area ratio complies at 0.56. 
 
From the project’s onset, staff emphasized to the applicant that the site plan should not include any request for variations 
to setback requirements along the subject property’s perimeter, including street side and rear setbacks, so that 
surrounding property owners will be adequately buffered from the proposed residences. Accordingly, the site plan’s street 
side and rear setbacks are compliant. Spacing between the homes is also compliant to ensure that future residents 
receive light and airflow typical of an R-1 District development.   
  



6 

 

 

Site Access 
The proposed site plan and its access are generally designed as a continuation of the single-family residential 
development pattern in the surrounding neighborhood. The two-way 24-foot-wide private accessway serving the 
development will act as an extension of Ponto Drive to the east. The private drive will likely be assigned a name that 
references “Ponto” for the purpose of navigability, but is unique, such as Ponto Court or Ponto Place.  
 
Section 12-9-2 establishes right of way and pavement widths and establishes a minimum pavement width of 33 feet for 
cul de sacs, which allows for parking on one side of the street. The applicant is proposing a pavement width of 24 feet 
and is accepting of no on-street parking. Because the accessway serves as more of a shared driveway than a typical 
street and will not be dedicated to the Village, staff is accepting of the non-standard pavement width. The project 
engineer noted that because the cross-section of the driveway will be inverted, there will be no need for gutters and only 
a six-inch curb will be included on either side of the street with 24 feet provided between the curb faces, rather than a 
typical curb and gutter.  
 
New five-foot-wide sidewalks along both sides of the private drive will connect to the existing pedestrian network along 
Shermer Road. The Shermer Road sidewalk will be reconstructed at the subject property’s lot line to provide an 
appropriate parkway width between the curb and edge of sidewalk and match existing sidewalk setbacks to the north and 
south of the subject property. The existing sidewalk adjacent to the site aligns with the curb, which is hazardous to 
pedestrians and does not provide a dedicated parkway for public street trees.  
 
The proposed emergency turnaround at the western end of the accessway was designed to comply with the hundred-
foot hammerhead design set forth in Section 12-9-1:B.2.f. The eight-space parking lot at the southwest corner of the 
site complies with the dimensional requirements of Section 12-7-3:J. The applicant submitted turning path diagrams 
based on the dimensions of the Village’s largest fire apparatus, which demonstrates that the site plan can 
accommodate the necessary emergency vehicle turns.  
 
Traffic & Parking Impact 
Per Section 12-7-3:B, all Special Use Applications, including PUD Applications, must provide a traffic and parking 
impact study which details the traffic impact    and the amount of parking necessary and its usage. For PUDs, the off-
street parking requirements set forth in Section 12-7-3:I are advisory only and the final parking required for each use is 
decided by the Village Board based on the submitted study, any traffic and parking recommendation prepared by the 
Village staff, and the final recommendation of the Plan Commission. The applicant retained Kimley-Horn to prepare the 
required traffic and parking impact  study.  
 
The submitted study suggests that parking may be allowed on one side of the 24-foot-wide private drive. However, 
staff opposes this suggestion and recommends a prohibition on parking within the shared vehicular accessway, which 
the applicant is accepting of. Signage prohibiting parking should be posted accordingly. Staff also recommends that 
signage is installed within the guest parking area to limit use to guests only and to certain periods of time. These 
limitations should be incorporated into the HOA bylaws.  
 
The submitted site plan includes two garage spaces per unit, for a total of 16 enclosed parking spaces, and eight 
guest parking spaces to be used by guests only. Collectively, 24 conforming parking spaces are available for resident 
and guest parking. Per Village Code Section 12-7-3:I, the off-street parking requirement for detached single-family 
residential development is two spaces per unit. The development proposes a ratio of three conforming off-street 
spaces per unit, which compensates for the lack of “on-street” parking along the shared access drive. Additionally, the 
driveway leading to each two-car garage measures 18 feet in depth and width. While the Unified Development Code 
does not recognize tandem parking spaces, it can be reasonably expected that guests will use this driveway area to 
park from time-to-time. The Plan Commission may want to consider the control of parking within this driveway area to 
limit its daily use.  
 
With respect to whether the existing roadway network can accommodate the proposed development, the traffic and 
parking impact study prepared by Kimley-Horn states: “Based on the results of the capacity analyses, no road or 
access intersection improvements are needed to accommodate site traffic. Thus, the recommendations will focus on 
the site plan elements.” Recommendations include sidewalks, a stop control with a sign and bar existing the site, and 
a crosswalk striped across the access drive at Shermer Road.  



7 

 

 

Building & Landscape Design 
At the October 3, 2022, meeting of the Appearance Commission, the applicant presented site, building, and 
landscape plans. The project was conditionally approved in accordance with the staff report to the Appearance 
Commission, dated October 3, 2022, which is included in the hearing packet. Additionally, the Appearance 
Commission recommended the following: 
 

• That the elevations should be revised to provide greater differentiation between the homes and greater 
variety in color palette.  

• That the landscape plan should be revised to comply with all applicable screening requirements and 
incorporate greater use of evergreen plant species.  
 

In response to the Appearance Commission’s recommendations, the applicant submitted revised color palettes and 
a revised rendering depicting greater variety in the home designs. The original and revised renderings are provided 
below for comparison.  
 

 
Original Rendering Submitted 

 

 
Revised Rendering Submitted 



8 

 

 

 
The applicant also submitted a revised landscape plan that verifies compliance with ground paved surface screening 
requirements and increases the use of evergreen plan species. Based on staff comments identifying discrepancies 
between the landscape plan and tree preservation plan, the applicant also provided revised civil drawings to 
accurately depict which trees are planned to be preserved. The landscape plan was revised to match and eliminate 
any discrepancy with respect to tree preservation.  
 
Stormwater 
CiviLand LLC submitted an Engineering Project Manual that describes how the detention volume, volume control, 
and release rates for the stormwater improvements will be designed in accordance with Metropolitan Water 
Reclamation District (MWRD) and Village requirements. The on-site detention is proposed to be provided in an 
underground storage system below the guest parking and emergency turnaround areas. The design of the sanitary 
sewer and water main will be coordinated with the Village.  
 
Snow Storage, Trash Removal, and Deliveries 
At the Traffic Safety Commission meeting on October 6, 2022, the Commission asked the applicant how snow 
storage will be accommodated on the site. The developer’s civil engineer responded that snow removal will be the 
responsibility of the future HOA and that storage will occur within the grassed area just north of the emergency 
vehicle turnaround area at the northwest corner of the subject property.  
 
Trash removal is expected to be provided by Groot under the Village-wide contract, consistent with other single-
family residential developments in Morton Grove. Because turning path diagrams for the Village’s largest vehicle 
apparatus have been provided, it is expected that the site plan can accommodate garbage truck maneuvering and 
delivery vehicles.  
 
Commission Review 
• Appearance Commission: On October 3, 2022, the applicant appeared before the Appearance Commission to 

provide testimony and respond to comments issued by the Department of Community and Economic 
Development in the staff report dated October 3, 2022, which is included in the hearing packet. The Commission 
voted 4-3 to recommend approval of the project with certain conditions. The draft meeting minutes are included in 
the hearing packet. The Appearance Certificate issued to the applicant on October 3, 2022, is subject to 
conditions included in the staff report and in the final approved motion.  

• Traffic Safety Commission: On October 6, 2022, the applicant appeared before the Traffic Safety Commission 
to provide testimony and respond to comments issued by the Village Engineer. At the meeting, the Commission 
and the applicant discussed traffic concerns along Shermer Road, the proposed sidewalk width, on-street 
parking impacts, parking demand, snow storage, and sight lines relative to proposed landscaping. The 
Commission unanimously (6-0) forwarded a recommendation of approval of Case PC 22-13 along with the 
comments provided in the form prepared by Chairperson White, dated October 10, 2022, and included in the 
hearing packet. A recommended condition of PUD Special Use Permit approval is compliance with all comments 
and recommendations provided by the Traffic Safety Commission, whether by strict compliance or alternative 
compliance, subject to the Village Engineer’s final approval. 
 

Departmental Review 
• Building Department: “At this time the Building Department only has one concern as to the material being used for 

mentioned fence along existing abutting properties for maintenance concerns.” Community and Economic 
Development staff does not anticipate fencing being installed on the subject property by the applicant, but the 
applicant should address this comment. The maintenance of any fencing on abutting private property is the 
responsibility of the respective property owner.   

• Fire Department:  “Unable to determine on the Schematic Utility Plan if an additional required hydrant on a 
looped water main was added toward the west end of the property.” The applicant should address this comment, 
but staff will ensure it is resolved in final site design and engineering through the standard permitting process.  

• Public Works Department/Engineering: In review of the proposed project, the Village Engineer issued 32 
comments dated October 10, 2022, and included in the hearing packet for PC 22-13. A recommended condition 
of PUD approval is compliance with all comments and recommendations provided by the Village Engineer, 
whether by strict compliance or alternative compliance, subject to the Village Engineer’s final approval. 



9 

 

 

Standards for Review 
The Standards for Subdivision are established in Section 12-16-4:D.3 of the Unified Development Code: 
 

12-16-4:D.3. Standards for Subdivisions: The following standards for evaluating subdivisions shall be applied in a 
reasonable manner, taking into consideration the restrictions and/or limitations which exist for the site being 
considered for development: 
1. Orderly Development: The proposed subdivision will encourage orderly and harmonious development within the 

Village. 
2. Coordination of Streets: The streets within the proposed subdivision will coordinate with other existing 

and planned streets within the Village. 
3. Coordination of Utilities: The utilities within the proposed subdivision will coordinate with existing and 

planned utilities, and create a uniform system of utilities within the Village. 
4. Consistency with Comprehensive Plan: The proposed subdivision will be evaluated based on its 

consistency with the overall land use policies of the Village as may be expressed in the Village's 
comprehensive plan. 

 
Section 12-6-4 establishes the following standards for evaluating PUD Applications:  

a. Comprehensive Plan: The planned unit development shall be consistent with the general policies of the Village 
as may be expressed in the comprehensive plan. 

b. Public Welfare: The planned unit development should be so located, designed, operated and maintained in a 
manner that will not only protect, but promote the public health, safety, and welfare of the Village. 

c. Impact On Adjoining Properties: The proposed planned unit development will not be injurious to the use and 
enjoyment of adjoining property and that the exceptions to the underlying district regulations are for the purpose 
of promoting development which is beneficial to the residents or occupants of the surrounding properties with 
and adjoining the proposed development. 

d. Drives, Parking And Circulation: Principal vehicular access to the planned unit development shall be designed 
to encourage smooth traffic flow with controlled turning movements and minimum hazards to vehicular and 
pedestrian traffic. Adequate provision should be made to provide ingress and egress in a manner that 
minimizes traffic congestion in the public streets. 

e. Impact On Public Facilities: The planned unit development shall be so designed that adequate utilities, road 
access, drainage, and other necessary facilities will be provided to serve it, and not negatively impact the 
existing public infrastructure. Surface water in all paved access areas shall be collected in a manner that will 
not obstruct the flow of vehicular and pedestrian traffic. 

f. Adequate Buffering And Landscaping: Adequate fencing, screening, and landscaping shall be provided to 
protect the enjoyment of surrounding properties, or provide for public safety, or to screen parking areas or other 
visually incompatible uses. The existing landscape should be preserved in its natural state, to the extent as 
practicable, minimizing tree and soil removal, and any grade changes shall be in keeping with the general 
appearance of the neighboring developed area. 

g. Integrated Design: The planned unit development shall be laid out and developed as a unit in accordance with 
an integrated overall design. This design shall provide for safe, efficient, convenient and harmonious groupings 
of structures, uses, and facilities, including common open space and storm water detention areas, and for 
appropriate relationship of space between buildings and site. Any common open space shall be integrated into 
the design in a manner which has a direct or visual relationship to the main building(s) and not be of an isolated 
or leftover character. 

h. Appearance: The design of all buildings, structures, and facilities on the site of the planned unit development 
shall be subject to the approval of the appearance review commission, and shall be of quality as good, if not 
better, than the surrounding neighborhood. Higher or denser buildings shall be located in such a way as to 
dissipate any adverse impact on adjoining lower buildings within the development or on surrounding properties. 

i. Relationship To Adjoining Land and Neighborhood: All planned unit developments shall encourage designs that 
emphasize accessibility, open views and connections to the larger community as a whole, discouraging new 



10 

 

 

development which may divide neighborhoods and restrict access to adjacent property. In order to achieve this 
objective, the design of lots, streets, sidewalks, and accessways within the planned unit development, the 
continuation of such existing or proposed features to adjoining areas shall be encouraged. When a proposed 
planned unit development adjoins land susceptible of being subdivided, resubdivided, or redeveloped, new 
streets, sidewalks, and accessways may be carried to the boundaries of the proposed planned unit 
development.  

 

Recommendation 
Should the Plan Commission recommend approval of this application, staff suggests the following motion and conditions: 
 
Motion to recommend approval of a Preliminary Plat of Subdivision with associated waivers to Section 12-8-4 
and a Planned Unit Development (PUD) Special Use Permit for 8 detached single-family dwellings with waivers to 
accessway standards (12-9), lot depth (12-8-4:B.2), lot area, lot width, front yard, floor area ratio (12-4-2:D), 
driveway width (12-2-5:B.5), and dimensions and siting of accessory structures (12-2-6:G) for the property 
commonly known as 9312 Shermer Road in Morton Grove, Illinois, subject to the following conditions: 

1. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall submit final site plans, engineering plans, 
preliminary plat of subdivision, and traffic and parking impact study for review and approval by the 
Community Development Administrator, Village Engineer, and Village Administrator, and shall comply with all 
comments and recommendations issued in the following, whether by strict or alternative compliance, subject 
to the Village Administrator’s final approval:  

• Appearance Certificate issued for Case AC 22-11 
• Comments issued by the Traffic Safety Commission Chairperson, dated October 10, 2022 
• Comments issued by the Village Engineer, dated October 10, 2022 
• Comments issued by the Fire Department, dated October 5, 2022 
• Comments issued by the Building Department, undated 
• Comments issued by the Department of Community and Economic Development, dated October 

11, 2022 
 

2. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall submit all turning path diagrams requested by the 
Fire Prevention Bureau Coordinator, Community Development Administrator, and Village Engineer, subject to the 
review and approval of the Village Administrator.  

3. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall submit final elevations, a materials palette, and 
landscape plan for review and approval by the Community Development Administrator and Appearance 
Commission Chairperson. If the revised plans are deemed to be in violation of any applicable requirement, 
substantially inconsistent with the approved plans, or lesser in quality than the approved designs and materials, 
the applicant will be required to file an application for an amendment to the Appearance Certificate. 

4. The final landscape and improvement plan for the abutting public rights of way shall be modified as necessary to 
meet the needs and requirements of the Village, subject to review and approval by the Village Administrator.  

5. The applicant shall bury existing aboveground utilities within the development site as required by the Village, 
subject to review and approval by the Village Administrator. 

6. Prior to the issuance of a certificate of occupancy, the Applicant shall submit a signage plan that includes 
accessway and parking area signage for review and approval by the Village Administrator and shall install and 
maintain signage in accordance with the approved signage plan. 

7. The Applicant shall advise the Department of Community and Economic Development of any proposed 
change in ownership or operation of the subject property. Such changes may subject the owners, lessees, 
occupants, and users to additional conditions and may serve as the basis for amendment to the PUD 
Special Use Permit.  

8. (Any other conditions recommended by the Plan Commission)



PC 22-13 – 9312 Shermer Road Subdivision & PUD 
January 3, 2023 

Attachment E 
Staff Report to the Plan Commission for PC 22-13, prepared by Zoe Heidorn, Community Development Administrator, dated 

December 13, 2022 



1 

 

 

 

 

 

To: Chairperson Blonz and Members of the Plan Commission 
 
From: Zoe Heidorn, Community Development Administrator; Anne Ryder Kirchner, Assistant Land Use 

Planner 
 
Date: December 13, 2022 
 
Re: Plan Commission Case PC 22-13 
 Request for approval of a Preliminary Plat of Subdivision with associated waivers to Section 12-8-4 

and a Planned Unit Development (PUD) Special Use Permit for six (6) detached single-family 
dwellings with waivers to accessway standards (12-9), lot depth (12-8-4:B.2), lot area, lot width, and 
interior side yard (12-4-2:D) for the property commonly known as 9312 Shermer Road (PIN 09-13-219-
042-0000) in Morton Grove, Illinois, all within an R-1 Single Family Residence District. The applicant is 
Varda & Company, LLC. 

 

STAFF REPORT 
 

Application Background 
In September 2022, Varda & Company, LLC (“applicant”) submitted complete Planned Unit Development (PUD) and 
Subdivision Applications to the Department of Community and Economic Development under Case PC 22-13 requesting 
the entitlement of an eight-unit detached single-family residential development with accessory parking, accessway, and 
landscape areas for the 1.565-acre property commonly known as 9312 Shermer Road (“subject property”). The subject 
property is zoned R-1 Single Family Residence.  
 
On October 17, 2022, the Plan Commission held a public hearing to consider Case PC 22-13. After reviewing the 
application, all testimony provided by the applicant and their consultants, and public comments, the Plan Commission 
voted unanimously (6-0) to recommend denial of the application to the Village Board of Trustees. Based on the Plan 
Commission’s determination and the comments provided, the developer revised the site plan to reduce the project 
density to six units and address other concerns raised by the Commissioners and residents. In light of the proposed 
project revisions, on November 14, 2022, the applicant requested that the Board of Trustees remand Case PC 22-13 to 
the Plan Commission for reconsideration. The Board voted unanimously to remand the case, to be reheard by the Plan 
Commission at a public hearing on December 19, 2022. Staff mailed residents and property owners within 250 feet of the 
subject property notifying them of the hearing date, time, and location.  
 
The following items have been revised and resubmitted by the applicant for review and consideration by the Plan 
Commission and Board of Trustees:  
 

• Plat of the Ponto Collection Subdivision  
• Site Plan, Elevations & Floorplans, Material Selection, Color Rendering – Dated November 30, 2022 
• Landscape Plan – Dated November 30, 2022 
• Engineering Project Manual – Dated November 30, 2022 
• Photometric Plan – Dated November 29, 2022 

 
Other original submitted items, including the traffic and parking impact study, geotechnical investigation report, and draft 
declaration, will be required to be updated to reflect the final approved site plan by ordinance, if approved by the Board of 
Trustees. Staff did not consider the immediate revision of these items to be necessary to the Plan Commission’s review 
of the revised site plan. Where discrepancy occurs between original submitted items and revised items, the revised items 
will control.  
 
Application Revisions 
Preliminary Plat of Subdivision 
In response to concerns with project density, the applicant revised the proposed site plan to reduce the residential 
dwelling unit count from eight single-family detached units to six units. The revised Preliminary Plat of Subdivision, 
entitled “Plat of the Ponto Collection Subdivision,” subdivides the property into seven new lots in accordance with Chapter 

 

 

Community & Economic Development Department 

 



2 

 

 

12-8 of the Unified Development Code. Six of the proposed lots, “Lot 1” through “Lot 6,” are proposed to be improved with 
detached single-family residences. The seventh lot, “Outlot A,” is proposed to be improved with common areas, including 
a private drive, emergency turnaround area, parking area, and underground stormwater detention facilities.  
 
A comparison of the original proposed lot dimensions as presented to the Plan Commission on October 17, 2022, and 
revised proposed lot dimensions with applicable dimensional controls is provided in the table below.   
  

R-1 District 
Requirement 

Minimum 
Requirement Original Proposed Original Compliance Revised Proposed Revised Compliance 

Lot Area 
(12-4-2:D) 

7,500 sq. ft. 
(after August 

4, 1959) 

Lot 1: 8,167 sq. ft.    
Lot 2: 5,129 sq. ft. 
Lot 3: 5,215 sq. ft.  
Lot 4: 5,411 sq. ft.  
Lot 5: 4,837 sq. ft.  
Lot 6: 4,919 sq. ft.  
Lot 7: 5,001 sq. ft. 
Lot 8: 7,436 sq. ft. 
Outlot A: 21,428 sq. ft. 

Lot 1: Compliant 
Lot 2: Noncompliant (2,371 sq. ft.) 
Lot 3: Noncompliant (2,285 sq. ft.) 
Lot 4: Noncompliant (2,089 sq. ft.) 
Lot 5: Noncompliant (2,663 sq. ft.) 
Lot 6: Noncompliant (2,581 sq. ft.) 
Lot 7: Noncompliant (2,499 sq. ft.) 
Lot 8: Noncompliant (64 sq. ft.) 
Outlot A: Compliant 

Lot 1: 7,929 sq. ft. 
Lot 2: 7,476 sq. ft. 
Lot 3: 7,475 sq. ft.  
Lot 4: 7,406 sq. ft.  
Lot 5: 7,467 sq. ft. 
Lot 6: 8,232 sq. ft.  
Outlot A: 21,557 sq. ft. 

Lot 1: Compliant 
Lot 2: Noncompliant (24 sq. ft.) 
Lot 3: Noncompliant (25 sq. ft.) 
Lot 4: Noncompliant (94 sq. ft.) 
Lot 5: Noncompliant (33 sq. ft.) 
Lot 6: Compliant 
Outlot A: Compliant 

Lot Width 
(12-4-2:D) 

60 ft. 
(after August 

4, 1959) 

Lot 1: 72.65 ft.  
Lot 2: 49.11 ft. 
Lot 3: 49.11 ft.  
Lot 4: 50.12 ft.  
Lot 5: 47.15 ft.   
Lot 6: 47.11 ft.   
Lot 7: 47.11 ft.  
Lot 8: 69.06 ft. 
Outlot A: 47.60 ft.  

Lot 1: Compliant 
Lot 2: Noncompliant (10.89 ft.) 
Lot 3: Noncompliant (10.89 ft.) 
Lot 4: Noncompliant (9.88 ft.) 
Lot 5: Noncompliant (12.85 ft.) 
Lot 6: Noncompliant (12.89 ft.) 
Lot 7: Noncompliant (12.89 ft.) 
Lot 8: Compliant 
Outlot A: Noncompliant (12.40 ft.) 

Lot 1: 70.28 ft.  
Lot 2: 71.48 ft. 
Lot 3: 69.74 ft.  
Lot 4: 59.90 ft. 
Lot 5: 71.01 ft. 
Lot 6: 76.45 ft.  
Outlot A: 47.31 ft. 

Lot 1: Compliant 
Lot 2: Compliant 
Lot 3: Compliant 
Lot 4: Noncompliant (0.10 ft.) 
Lot 5: Compliant 
Lot 6: Compliant 
Outlot A: Noncompliant (12.69 ft.) 

Lot Depth 
(12-8-4:B.2) 

 

115 ft. for 
interior lots 

 
* 90 ft. for 
corner lots 

Lot 1: 102.83 ft. * 
Lot 2: 104.43 ft.  
Lot 3: 106.19 ft.  
Lot 4: 107.97 ft.  
Lot 5: 102.76 ft.  
Lot 6: 104.41 ft.  
Lot 7: 106.18 ft.  
Lot 8: 108.29 ft. * 
Outlot A: 265.56 ft.  

Lot 1: Compliant 
Lot 2: Noncompliant (10.57 ft.) 
Lot 3: Noncompliant (8.81 ft.) 
Lot 4: Noncompliant (7.03 ft.) 
Lot 5: Noncompliant (12.24 ft.) 
Lot 6: Noncompliant (10.59 ft.) 
Lot 7: Noncompliant (8.82 ft.) 
Lot 8: Compliant 
Outlot A: Compliant 

Lot 1: 102.47 ft. * 
Lot 2: 104.59 ft.  
Lot 3: 107.14 ft.  
Lot 4: 103.07 ft.  
Lot 5: 105.16 ft.  
Lot 6: 107.44 ft. * 
Outlot A: 265.56 ft.  

Lot 1: Compliant 
Lot 2: Noncompliant (10.41 ft.) 
Lot 3: Noncompliant (7.86 ft.) 
Lot 4: Noncompliant (11.93 ft.) 
Lot 5: Noncompliant (9.84 ft.) 
Lot 6: Compliant 
Outlot A: Compliant 

 
Overall, the revised proposed plat of subdivision is significantly more compliant with the R-1 District lot standards 
established in Sections 12-4-2:D and 12-8-4:B.2. The minimum lot area for subdivisions created after August 4, 1959, 
is 7,500 square feet and the minimum lot width is 60 feet. The proposed lot areas for Lots 1 through 6 range from 
7,406 square feet to 8,232 square feet, with an average of 7,664 square feet (formerly 5,764 square feet under the 
original plan). While limited variations are requested due to the shape of the property and need for common areas, the 
proposed density is fitting with the intent of the R-1 District dimensional standards. 31.91% of the subject property 
land area is dedicated to common areas within Outlot A, which will be improved with a shared vehicular accessway 
and turnaround, landscape areas, sidewalks, stormwater detention facilities, and a guest parking area.  
 
Site Plan: Residential Lots  
The applicant is now proposing the construction of six detached single-family homes ranging from 3,503 square feet to 
3,602 square feet in floor area, as defined by Section 12-17-1. Three home types are proposed, Types A through C, 
and the site plan features two of each home type to be distributed in accordance with the submitted site plan (Sheet 
SK1.00). The home types are as follows:  
 

• Type A: Twin Gables – 3,503 square feet floor area 
• Type B: Primrose Cottage – 3,602 square feet floor area 
• Type C: Morton House/Fairview Point – 3,541 square feet floor area 

 
Since the Plan Commission’s review on October 17, 2022, the average floor area of the homes has increased from 
3,246 square feet to 3,549 square feet, a factor of 1.09. By comparison, the average lot area has increased from 5,764 
square feet to 7,664 square feet, a factor of 1.33. The proposed floor areas have not increased proportionate to the 
increase in lot sizes, meaning the developer is proposing a more modest home relative to lot size. The proposed floor 



3 

 

 

area ratios (FAR) are between 0.44 and 0.48, in compliance with the 0.6 maximum FAR set forth by code. The 
previous site plan included ratios between 0.44 and 0.66, necessitating variations for five of the eight residential lots. 
Each two-story homes will still be constructed with an unfinished basement and will contain four bedrooms, four 
bathrooms, and a two-car attached garage. Each unit’s main entrance will be located along the front elevation. An 
attached patio is proposed within each rear yard. 
 
On a lot-by-lot basis, the proposed single-family residences are substantially compliant with dimensional requirements 
applicable to the R-1 District and single-family development generally. As presented, approval of the site plan will only 
require two variations to the minimum interior side yard, one for Lot 4 and one for Lot 6. Lot 4 includes a 
nonconforming combined side yard of 12 feet for a portion of the west interior side yard abutting the emergency 
turnaround to the west. Lot 6 includes a nonconforming west interior side yard of two feet, where a minimum of six feet 
are required by code. A window well zone measuring four feet in depth is included within each side yard and has not 
been included in the proposed setback. As such, the foundation wall for Lot 6 will not be located less than six feet from 
the west lot line, although the technical setback proposed is two feet because window wells are not a permitted 
encroachment of a required interior side yard. The developer should speak to the quantity of window wells 
proposed within the window well zones along each side elevation, their construction type, and elevation 
above grade.  
 
By comparison, the original eight-unit site plan necessitated variations for front setback, floor area ratio, driveway 
width, location of aboveground mechanical equipment, sidewalk width, and window well siting. Applicable 
requirements and the revised project’s compliance with said requirements are outlined in the following table: 
 

Dimensional 
Requirements Requirement Proposed (As Revised) Compliance (As Revised) 

Front Yard 
(12-4-2:D) Min. 25 ft.  Lots 1-6: 25.00 ft.      Lots 1-8: Compliant 

Corner Side Yard 
(12-4-2:D) Min. 25 ft.  Lot 1: 25.00 ft.      

Lot 6: 25.00 ft.      
Lot 1: Compliant 
Lot 8: Compliant 

Interior Side Yard 
(12-8-4:B.2) 

Min. 6 ft.  
Min. 14 ft. combined 

 

Lot 1: 6.00 ft. (corner) 
Lot 2: 11.83 ft., 11.83 ft.  
Lot 3: 11.42 ft, 10.50 ft. 
Lot 4: 6.00 ft., 6.00 ft. – 32.96 ft. 
Lot 5: 11.58 ft, 11.58 ft.  
Lot 6: 2.00 ft. (corner) 

Lot 1: Compliant 
Lot 2: Compliant 
Lot 3: Compliant 
Lot 4: Noncompliant (west) 
Lot 5: Compliant  
Lot 6: Noncompliant (west) 

Rear Yard 
(12-4-2:D) Min. 30 ft.  

Lot 1: 30.42 ft.    
Lot 2: 32.17 ft.   
Lot 3: 34.50 ft.    
Lot 4: 30.83 ft.    
Lot 5: 33.25 ft.     
Lot 6: 35.00 ft.      

Lots 1-8: Compliant 

Building Height 
(12-4-2:D) Max. 28 ft.  Lots 1-8: Compliant       Lots 1-8: Compliant 

Floor Area Ratio 
(12-4-2:D) Max. 0.6 

Lot 1: 0.45 
Lot 2: 0.48  
Lot 3: 0.47  
Lot 4: 0.47   
Lot 5: 0.48    
Lot 6: 0.44    

Lots 1-8: Compliant 

Impermeable Lot 
Coverage  
(12-4-2:D) 

Max. 55% 

Lot 1: 35%  
Lot 2: 38% 
Lot 3: 38%   
Lot 4: 38%   
Lot 5: 38%    
Lot 6: 34%    

Lots 1-8: Compliant       

Driveway 
(12-2-5:B.5) Max. 16 ft. at front lot line Lots 1-8: 16.00 ft. at front lot line       Lots 1-8: Compliant 

Bay Window 
(12-2-6:G) Max. 20% yard depth Lots 1-8: 2.5 ft. projection into 

25.00-ft. front yard       Lots 1-8: Compliant       



4 

 

 

Mechanical Equipment, 
Aboveground 

(12-2-6:G) 

Not a permitted 
encroachment of a 
required side yard 

Lots 1-8: To rear of principal 
structure        Lots 1-8: Compliant       

Open Accessory Parking 
Spaces 

(12-2-6:G) 
Min. 3 ft. from lot lines Outlot A: ≥8.17 ft. from lot lines Outlot A: Compliant       

Patio, Attached 
(12-2-6:G) 

Max. 30% rear yard 
coverage, side setback 

requirements apply 

Lots 1-8: 442 sq. ft. (typ.), <30% 
coverage, complies with side 
setback requirements 

Lots 1-8: Compliant       

Sidewalk 
(12-2-6:G) 

Max. 4 ft. width in front 
yard Lots 1-8: 4 ft. (typ.)        Lots 1-8: Compliant       

Window Well 
(12-2-6:G) 

Not a permitted 
encroachment of a 
required side yard 

Lots 1-8: 4-foot window well zone 
incorporated (affects conformity of 
interior side yards for Lots 4 and 
6, see above) 

Lots 1-8: Compliant 

 
Site Plan: Accessways 
The revised site plan’s accessway, emergency turnaround, and guest parking area are generally consistent with the 
original site plan, the design of which is supported by staff. The applicant is proposing a pavement width of 24 feet with 
no on-street parking along the main east-west accessway, which will be privately owned and maintained by the proposed 
HOA. Sidewalk widths will be maintained at five feet and parkway widths will be maintained at four feet. The eight-space 
parking lot originally proposed at the southwest corner of the site to support eight units has been reduced to six spaces in 
accordance with the reduction in units. The Village Engineer issued one comment in response to the revised site plan: 
“The sidewalk on the south side of the street should extend to the guest parking area.” Compliance with the Village 
Engineer’s comment will be included as a recommended condition of PUD approval.  
 
The applicant submitted revised turning path diagrams as part of the revised Engineering Project Manual. The diagrams 
demonstrate that the accessway geometry can accommodate emergency vehicle turns. In response to the revised turning 
path diagrams, the Fire Bureau Prevention Coordinator issued the following comment on December 12, 2022:  
 

Please update the Fire Truck Turning Exhibit using the following data to update:   
 

Morton Grove Fire Truck Data for Fire Truck Turning Analysis 
Overall Length     47.8 feet    
Overall Width (Including Mirrors)   9.5 feet    
Overall Body Height    11.666 feet   
Minimum Body Ground Clearance   0.625 feet    
Track Width     8.36 ft    
Lock to Lock Time     6 seconds    
Max Wheel Angle     45 degrees   
Overall Length - Front wheel overhang + wheel base + rear wheel overhang  
Track Width - Wheel track width is the distance between the centerline of two wheels on the same axle.  
Axle Track - The distance between the hub flanges on an axle.   
Lock to Lock Time - The time taken to turn the primary steering from full left lock to full right lock. 

 
A recommended condition of Preliminary Plat of Subdivision and PUD approval is compliance with the above request and 
any other request for turning path diagrams. While staff anticipates that the updated apparatus dimensions can be 
accommodated by the current site geometry, minor changes may be required in final design engineering if any issues are 
identified, subject to review and approval by the Fire Department and Village Engineer.  
 
The revised site plan includes two garage spaces per unit, for a total of 12 enclosed parking spaces, and six guest 
parking spaces to be used by guests only. Collectively, 18 conforming parking spaces are available for resident and 
guest parking. Per Village Code Section 12-7-3:I, the off-street parking requirement for detached single-family 
residential development is two spaces per unit, for a total minimum requirement of 12 off-street parking spaces. The 
development proposes a ratio of three conforming off-street spaces per unit, which compensates for the lack of “on-
street” parking along the shared access drive. Additional informal parking capacity is anticipated to be provided by 
use of the residential driveways, which have increased in length to approximately 25 feet and will provide a safer 
setback from the abutting sidewalk.   



5 

 

 

The traffic and parking impact study prepared by Kimley-Horn based on the original eight-unit site plan states: “Based 
on the results of the capacity analyses, no road or access intersection improvements are needed to accommodate 
site traffic.” Because the intensity in land use is decreasing by comparison with the original site plan and no changes 
in accessway design are proposed, it can be reasonably expected that the traffic generated by the project will 
decrease accordingly and the existing roadway network will still be able to accommodate the proposed development. 
Recommendations set forth in the study, which include sidewalks, a stop control with a sign and bar exiting the site, 
and a crosswalk striped across the access drive at Shermer Road, remain warranted for the revised site plan and 
compliance will be included as a recommended condition of ordinance approval.   
 
In response to comments issued at the October 17, 2022, hearing regarding the intersection of Beckwith and Shermer 
Roads to the southeast of the subject property, staff is keenly aware of concerns with the intersection’s safety and is 
in the formal process of evaluating the intersection, the broader Shermer and Beckwith corridors, and appropriate 
crash countermeasures. The decision to implement any crash countermeasure, which will be based on a thorough 
analysis of the intersection and surrounding area, will be made by the Village’s Right of Way Committee, the Village 
Engineer, and Village Administrator.  
 
Elevations & Materials 
In response to comments issued by the Appearance Commission at their October 3, 2022, meeting and comments 
issued by the Plan Commission at their October 17, 2022, meeting, the applicant further revised the color and 
material palettes to provide greater variety and contrast between the homes and include brick as an exterior 
material. The original and revised renderings are provided below for comparison.  
 

 
Original Rendering (October 3, 2022, Appearance Commission Meeting) 

 

 
Revised Rendering, Revision 1 (October 17, 2022, Plan Commission Meeting) 

 



6 

 

 

 
Current Revised Rendering, Revision 2 (December 19, 2022, Plan Commission Meeting) 

 
Landscape Plan 
The applicant submitted a revised landscape plan for the proposed six-unit subdivision. The landscape plan is 
generally consistent with the landscape plan presented at the October 17, 2022, meeting of the Plan Commission. 
Based on landscape and site plan review by the Village Engineer, five trees are planted in the public right of way 
along Shermer Road, and the Village Engineer is authorized by the Appearance Commission to modify the public 
right of way tree planting plan as needed to ensure visibility and public safety. If fewer than five trees are planted in 
the public right of way abutting the site, any deficit in trees must be planted at an alternative location subject to 
review and approval by the Village Engineer. 
 
Staff notes that a Planned Unit Development is a binding legal instrument that is recorded with the Cook County 
Clerk. Perpetual compliance with the approved plans, including the landscape plan, is required until the subject 
property is redeveloped. The Village is authorized to issue citations for failure to maintain landscaping in accordance 
with the approved landscape plan. If a planting fails to thrive or dies years in the future, the Village will require a 
replacement of the same size and species as provided in the approved landscape plan. Additionally, the draft 
declaration submitted by the applicant provides that landscaped areas on individual lots must be maintained by their 
respective owner. As required by Section 12-8-2:B.3.1, the Village, as well as the owners of the units located on the 
property, shall have the right to enforce the declaration. The final draft declaration will be reviewed and approved by 
Village staff, including the Village Engineer, Community Development Administrator, and Corporation Counsel, for 
compliance with Village regulations and any requirements set forth in the Subdivision and PUD ordinances.  
 
Engineering Project Manual  
The applicant submitted a revised Engineering Project Manual, which provides an overview of existing stormwater 
conditions, stormwater detention calculations, and proposed stormwater improvements. The applicant met with the 
Metropolitan Water Reclamation District (MWRD) and the Village Engineer in December 2022 to discuss the proposed 
design of the stormwater management system. MWRD and the Village agree and have indicated to the applicant that the 
stormwater detention facilities must be designed to handle a 100-year flood and direct runoff to Shermer Road, not to 
abutting properties to the north, west, or south in order to obtain a permit. The applicant is expected to clearly 
describe the proposed design solution, the existing drainage pattern, the proposed drainage pattern, and how 
surrounding properties will be impacted by the proposed development.  
 
MWRD regulates the maintenance of stormwater facilities, which will become the responsibility of the future HOA, and 
can take aggressive action in the event of a failure to maintain. Because the enforcement of maintenance requirements 
by MWRD is unpredictable, staff recommends as a condition of PUD approval that a maintenance declaration for the 
detention facilities, including any permeable pavement, is included as part of the final recorded declaration and provides 
the Village with maintenance oversight and recourse in the event of failure to maintain the infrastructure in accordance 
with the final approved plans, and Village and MWRD requirements. A similar maintenance declaration was required in 
the Trafalgar Square development for the maintenance of the development’s detention facility and may serve as a model.  
 
 



7 

 

 

The Preliminary Removal Plan and Preliminary Erosion Control & Tree Protection Plan submitted under the revised 
Engineering Project Manual are consistent with the plans presented to the Plan Commission on October 17, 2022. To 
ensure the trees designated for preservation are protected, and to provide the Village with recourse in the event of 
removal, destruction, or damage other than by natural forces or events, staff recommends that specific replacement 
requirements are included as a condition of PUD approval, as set forth in the recommended conditions listed at the end of 
the report.  
 
Photometric Plan 
The applicant submitted a revised photometric plan prepared by Force Partners showing levels of illumination along lot 
lines and throughout the site. Per Section 12-10-5, “all street, parking lot, and exterior lighting shall meet the lighting 
standards and regulations set forth in the Village of Morton Grove lighting standards available at the Public Works 
Department.” The plan shows no more than 0.1 footcandle of illuminance along the site’s south, west, and north lot lines. 
The final photometric plan will be subject to approval by the Village Engineer. As a condition of Appearance Commission 
approval, before any Building Permit is issued, the lighting plan must be revised as needed to meet all lighting 
requirements of the Village of Morton Grove. Additionally, the project is subject to a maximum exterior luminaire color 
temperature of 4000K.  
 
Standards for Review 
The Standards for Subdivision are established in Section 12-16-4:D.3 of the Unified Development Code: 
 

12-16-4:D.3. Standards for Subdivisions: The following standards for evaluating subdivisions shall be applied in a 
reasonable manner, taking into consideration the restrictions and/or limitations which exist for the site being 
considered for development: 
1. Orderly Development: The proposed subdivision will encourage orderly and harmonious development within the 

Village. 
2. Coordination of Streets: The streets within the proposed subdivision will coordinate with other existing 

and planned streets within the Village. 
3. Coordination of Utilities: The utilities within the proposed subdivision will coordinate with existing and 

planned utilities, and create a uniform system of utilities within the Village. 
4. Consistency with Comprehensive Plan: The proposed subdivision will be evaluated based on its 

consistency with the overall land use policies of the Village as may be expressed in the Village's 
comprehensive plan. 

 
Section 12-6-4 establishes the following standards for evaluating PUD Applications:  

a. Comprehensive Plan: The planned unit development shall be consistent with the general policies of the Village 
as may be expressed in the comprehensive plan. 

b. Public Welfare: The planned unit development should be so located, designed, operated and maintained in a 
manner that will not only protect, but promote the public health, safety, and welfare of the Village. 

c. Impact On Adjoining Properties: The proposed planned unit development will not be injurious to the use and 
enjoyment of adjoining property and that the exceptions to the underlying district regulations are for the purpose 
of promoting development which is beneficial to the residents or occupants of the surrounding properties with 
and adjoining the proposed development. 

d. Drives, Parking And Circulation: Principal vehicular access to the planned unit development shall be designed 
to encourage smooth traffic flow with controlled turning movements and minimum hazards to vehicular and 
pedestrian traffic. Adequate provision should be made to provide ingress and egress in a manner that 
minimizes traffic congestion in the public streets. 

e. Impact On Public Facilities: The planned unit development shall be so designed that adequate utilities, road 
access, drainage, and other necessary facilities will be provided to serve it, and not negatively impact the 
existing public infrastructure. Surface water in all paved access areas shall be collected in a manner that will 
not obstruct the flow of vehicular and pedestrian traffic. 



8 

 

 

f. Adequate Buffering And Landscaping: Adequate fencing, screening, and landscaping shall be provided to 
protect the enjoyment of surrounding properties, or provide for public safety, or to screen parking areas or other 
visually incompatible uses. The existing landscape should be preserved in its natural state, to the extent as 
practicable, minimizing tree and soil removal, and any grade changes shall be in keeping with the general 
appearance of the neighboring developed area. 

g. Integrated Design: The planned unit development shall be laid out and developed as a unit in accordance with 
an integrated overall design. This design shall provide for safe, efficient, convenient and harmonious groupings 
of structures, uses, and facilities, including common open space and storm water detention areas, and for 
appropriate relationship of space between buildings and site. Any common open space shall be integrated into 
the design in a manner which has a direct or visual relationship to the main building(s) and not be of an isolated 
or leftover character. 

h. Appearance: The design of all buildings, structures, and facilities on the site of the planned unit development 
shall be subject to the approval of the appearance review commission, and shall be of quality as good, if not 
better, than the surrounding neighborhood. Higher or denser buildings shall be located in such a way as to 
dissipate any adverse impact on adjoining lower buildings within the development or on surrounding properties. 

i. Relationship To Adjoining Land and Neighborhood: All planned unit developments shall encourage designs that 
emphasize accessibility, open views and connections to the larger community as a whole, discouraging new 
development which may divide neighborhoods and restrict access to adjacent property. In order to achieve this 
objective, the design of lots, streets, sidewalks, and accessways within the planned unit development, the 
continuation of such existing or proposed features to adjoining areas shall be encouraged. When a proposed 
planned unit development adjoins land susceptible of being subdivided, resubdivided, or redeveloped, new 
streets, sidewalks, and accessways may be carried to the boundaries of the proposed planned unit 
development.  

 

Recommendation 
Should the Plan Commission recommend approval of this application, staff suggests the following motion and conditions: 
 
Motion to recommend approval of a Preliminary Plat of Subdivision with associated waivers to Section 12-8-4 
and a Planned Unit Development (PUD) Special Use Permit for six (6) detached single-family dwellings with 
waivers to accessway standards (12-9), lot depth (12-8-4:B.2), lot area, lot width, and interior side yard (12-4-2:D) 
for the property commonly known as 9312 Shermer Road in Morton Grove, Illinois, subject to the following 
conditions: 

1. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall submit final site plans, engineering plans, 
preliminary plat of subdivision, and traffic and parking impact study for review and approval by the 
Community Development Administrator, Village Engineer, and Village Administrator, and shall comply with all 
comments and recommendations issued in the following, whether by strict or alternative compliance, subject 
to the Village Administrator’s final approval:  

• Appearance Certificate issued for Case AC 22-11 
• Comments issued by the Traffic Safety Commission Chairperson, dated October 10, 2022 
• Comments issued by the Village Engineer, dated October 10, 2022 
• Comments issued by the Fire Department, dated October 5, 2022 
• Comments issued by the Building Department, undated 
• Comments issued by the Department of Community and Economic Development, dated October 

11, 2022 
• Traffic Impact Study, prepared by Kimley-Horn, dated August 2022 

 

2. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall submit all turning path diagrams requested by the 
Fire Prevention Bureau Coordinator, Community Development Administrator, and Village Engineer, subject to the 
review and approval of the Village Administrator.  

3. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall submit final elevations, a materials palette, and 
landscape plan for review and approval by the Community Development Administrator and Appearance 
Commission Chairperson. If the revised plans are deemed to be in violation of any applicable requirement, 



9 

 

 

substantially inconsistent with the approved plans, or lesser in quality than the approved designs and materials, 
the applicant will be required to file an application for an amendment to the Appearance Certificate. 

4. The final landscape and improvement plan for the abutting public rights of way shall be modified as necessary to 
meet the needs and requirements of the Village, subject to review and approval by the Village Administrator. If 
fewer than five trees are planted within the public right of way abutting the subject property, any deficit shall be 
planted at an alternative location subject to review and approval by the Village Engineer.  

5. The applicant shall bury existing aboveground utilities within the development site as required by the Village, 
subject to review and approval by the Village Administrator. 

6. The applicant shall extend the sidewalk located along the south side of the private accessway to the guest 
parking area, subject to review and approval by the Village Engineer.  

7. Prior to the issuance of a certificate of occupancy, the Applicant shall submit a signage plan that includes 
accessway and parking area signage for review and approval by the Village Administrator and shall install and 
maintain signage in accordance with the approved signage plan. 

8. A maintenance declaration for the stormwater detention facilities and any other area or improvement deemed 
appropriate by the Village Administrator shall be enforceable by the Village. The declaration shall run with the 
property and bind the applicant and any successive owner. The declaration shall be recorded with the Cook 
County Clerk following review and approval by the Village Administrator.  

9. Deciduous trees designated for preservation in the final approved Tree Protection Plan which are removed, 
destroyed, or severely damaged, other than by natural forces or events, shall be replaced with a new tree at a 
rate of three inches (3") in caliper to each one inch (1") of removed tree. Coniferous trees designated for 
preservation in the final approved Tree Protection Plan which are removed, destroyed, or severely damaged, 
other than by natural forces or events, shall be replaced with a new tree at a rate of three (3) vertical feet for each 
one foot of removed tree. All fractions of an inch shall be rounded up. The Village Administrator may approve 
alternative planting locations on private or public property, with preference given to locations closest in proximity 
to the development. Species of replacement trees shall be submitted to the Department of Public Works for 
review and approval.  

10. The applicant shall advise the Department of Community and Economic Development of any proposed 
change in ownership or operation of the subject property. Such changes may subject the owners, lessees, 
occupants, and users to additional conditions and may serve as the basis for amendment to the PUD 
Special Use Permit.  

11. (Any other conditions recommended by the Plan Commission)



PC 22-13 – 9312 Shermer Road Subdivision & PUD 
January 3, 2023 

Attachment F 
Final Plans and Supporting Documents for PC 22-13 

1. Plat of Survey, prepared by Gremley & Biedermann, a division of PCLS Corporation, dated June 29, 2022
2. Plat of the Ponto Collection Subdivision, prepared by A.P. Surveying Company, P.C., dated October 5, 2022 (2 sheets)
3. Site Plan (SK1.00), prepared by A + C Architects, dated November 30, 2022
4. Twin Gables North & South (SK1.01), prepared by A + C Architects, dated November 30, 2022
5. Primrose Cottage North & South (SK1.02), prepared by A + C Architects, dated November 30, 2022
6. Morton House North & Fairview Point South (SK1.03), prepared by A + C Architects, dated November 30, 2022
7. Material Selection (SK2.01), prepared by A + C Architects, dated November 30, 2022
8. Color Rendering (SK2.02), prepared by A + C Architects, dated November 30, 2022
9. Master Landscape Plan (L3.1), prepared by A + C Architects, dated November 30, 2022
10. Landscape Plan (L3.2), prepared by A + C Architects, dated November 30, 2022
11. Landscape Plan (L3.3), prepared by A + C Architects, dated November 30, 2022
12. Landscape Plan (L3.4), prepared by A + C Architects, dated November 30, 2022
13. Landscape Plan (L3.5), prepared by A + C Architects, dated November 30, 2022
14. Landscape Plan (L4.01), prepared by A + C Architects, dated November 30, 2022
15. Luminaire Schedule & Calculation Summary (Photometric Plan), prepared by Force Partners, dated November 29, 2022
16. Engineering Project Manual, Ponto Collection, prepared by CiviLand, LLC, dated November 30, 2022
17. Geotechnical Investigation Report, Proposed Residential Development, 9312 Shermer Road, prepared by Pioneer 

Engineering & Environmental Services, LLC, dated August 18, 2022
18. Traffic Impact Study, Morton Grove Residential Development, prepared by Kimley-Horn, dated August 2022
19. Declaration of Rights, Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions, and Easements for the Ponto Collection Single Family 

Homeowner Association, prepared by Kolpak & Grcic, LLC, undated

Attachment F on file with the Department of Community and Economic Development 


	1 Agenda January 24, 2023
	2 Minutes_1_Jan 10-2023
	MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE PRESIDENT
	Daniel P. DiMaria, Village President

	11a2a Ord 23-01 Napleton Dev Note LS
	11a2b 0rd 23-01 Napleton Developer Note
	12a1a Res 23-08 Actuarial Serv Foster & Foster LS
	12a1b Res 23-08 - Actuarial Services
	12a1c Foster & Foster Proposal 2023
	12a1d 2023_MortonGrove_Contract_DRAFT
	12d1a Res 23-06 LS 2023MHP CONTRACT APPROVAL
	12d1b Res 23-06 2023MHP CONTRACT APPROVAL
	12d1c  EXHIBIT 23-06 2023MHP CONTRACT APPROVAL
	12d2a RES 23-07 LS 2023MPP CONTRACT APPROVAL
	12d2b RES 23-07 2023MPP CONTRACT APPROVAL
	12d2c EXHIBITA 23-XX 2023MPP CONTRACT APPROVAL
	12d2d EXHIBITB 23-XX 2023MPP CONTRACT APPROVAL
	12f1a ORD 23-02 LS
	12f1b ORD 23-02 + EXHIBIT A
	12f1c Ord 23- 02 EXHIBIT B
	12f1d Ord 23- 02 EXHIBIT C
	22-9521-S-P1
	22-9521-S-P2

	12f1e Ord 23- 02 EXHIBIT D
	PC 22-13 STAFF REPORT 1.pdf
	Preliminary & Final Plat of Subdivision
	Site Access
	Traffic & Parking Impact
	Building & Landscape Design
	Stormwater
	Snow Storage, Trash Removal, and Deliveries
	Departmental Review
	Standards for Review
	Recommendation

	PC 22-13 STAFF REPORT 2.pdf
	Standards for Review
	Recommendation


	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	12f1d Ord 23- 02 EXHIBIT C.pdf
	22-9521-S-P1
	22-9521-S-P2

	12f1e Ord 23- 02 EXHIBIT D.pdf
	PC 22-13 STAFF REPORT 1.pdf
	Preliminary & Final Plat of Subdivision
	Site Access
	Traffic & Parking Impact
	Building & Landscape Design
	Stormwater
	Snow Storage, Trash Removal, and Deliveries
	Departmental Review
	Standards for Review
	Recommendation

	PC 22-13 STAFF REPORT 2.pdf
	Standards for Review
	Recommendation





